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2 CHINA COAL ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED

Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

The year of 2016 was a remarkable year for Chinese coal enterprises. With the effects of the policies such as 

thoroughly promoting the supply-side structural reform and expediting to dissolve overcapacity of coal, the domestic 

coal market initially declined and gradually picked up, while the coal price stabilised and rebounded. By closely 

following market changes, the Company scientifically arranged production with focusing on quality enhancement and 

efficiency improvement, and promoted reform and adjustment, thus the production and operation proceeded steadily, 

and the Company successfully realised the turnaround from loss to profit. The Company achieved operating revenue of 

RMB60.632 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.3%. The profit before income tax amounted to RMB3.001 

billion, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB6.577 billion. The profit attributable to the equity holders of 

the Company was RMB1.715 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB4.982 billion. Basic earnings per 

share amounted to RMB0.13, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB0.38. Against the complicated and difficult 

backdrop, the Company achieved hard-won operating results, and harvested gratifying working performance, which were 

dependent on various measures adopted and comprehensive strategies implemented by the senior management, solidarity 

of heart and strength, and commitment of the staff, as well as strong support from all Shareholders. I would like to 

extend my sincere gratitude to all Shareholders and stakeholders for their interest in and support for the Company over 

2016. On behalf of the Board, I hereby present the 2016 annual report to all Shareholders.

A smooth coordination between coal production and sales was maintained by organising 
production scientifically.

In 2016, facing the new challenges arising from cutting coal overcapacity and reduced production, the Company adjusted 

its operation strategies, adhered to maximisation of profit and organised coal production in a scientific and orderly 

manner. Since the second half of 2016, by capturing market opportunities brought by policies and overcoming difficulties 

proactively, the Company optimised production continuity, vigorously stabilised and increased production through fully 

capitalising on advanced capacities with production volume of commercial coal reaching 80.99 million tonnes for the 

whole year of 2016. The Company continued to intensify coal quality management, optimised product mix and enhanced 

product quality. The coordination between production and sales was refined with optimised marketing strategies to keep 

up with the pace of market. Market expansion was vigorously conducted, and the markets along the Yangtze River and in 

southwestern China as well as local sales and direct arrival markets were proactively expanded while traditional markets 

were consolidated. Coal sales volume reached 132 million tonnes for the whole year of 2016, including sales volume of 

self-produced commercial coal amounting to 80.67 million tonnes. The annual plan for coal production and sales volume 

was fulfilled while the situation of safety production remained stable.

Coal chemical operation hit another new high level with stable production load.

During 2016, the Company made great efforts to explore the potential of the equipment and devices, focused on 

safety production and long-cycle operation of coal chemical enterprises. Polyolefin devices in Yulin, Shaanxi recorded 

a historically high level in respect of its monthly production. Urea devices in Tuke achieved normalised full-load 

production. The methanol consumption level of polyolefin devices in China Coal Mengda achieved advanced levels at 

home and abroad. The Company capitalised on centralised sales advantages of coal chemical products, implemented the 

combination of proprietary and consignment transaction of urea and established the olefin brand to vigorously expand 

markets. Major coal chemical products achieved full-scale production and sales with an annual output of 710,000 

tonnes of polyolefin, 1.975 million tonnes of urea and 651,000 tonnes of methanol. By focusing on benchmarking and 

standard attainment, deepening informatisation management, and promoting technology innovation and new product 
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research and development, the Shaanxi Company was awarded the Innovation Prize of Informatisation Management 

of Chinese Energy Enterprises. The Company devoted itself to boosting energy conservation technology advancement, 

lowering product unit consumption and strengthening environmental protection risk control, therefore, positive effects 

were achieved in energy conservation and emission reduction. Ordos Energy Chemical Company obtained the “Green 

Environmental Protection Award” of Chinese corporate social responsibility for 2016.

Lean management was brought to a new height by focusing on cost reduction and efficiency 
improvement.

The Company adhered to performance orientation, intensified lean management and strengthened budget execution. 

The Company implemented assessment by categories, promoted differentiating management and innovated incentive 

mechanism to stimulate enthusiasm and creativity of the enterprise. The Company continued to promote and strengthen 

cost reduction through technology and system enhancement, enabling the unit cost of sales of self-produced commercial 

coal to decrease by 8.8% year-on-year. Although raw material costs substantially increased, the production costs of major 

coal chemical products were effectively controlled. The Company enhanced fund raising and financing management 

to control capital chain risks. The debt scale was strictly controlled and the debt structure was optimised to reduce the 

financing cost. The Company substantially reduced “trade receivables and inventories” so that operating cash net inflow 

amounted to RMB12.068 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 65.7%. The debt asset ratio decreased by 3.2 

percentage points and gross interest expenses declined by 10.3% year-on-year.

Major projects were steadily pushed forward by sticking to strategic guidance.

In recent years, the Company has constantly accelerated adjustment of the industrial structure, and focused on promoting 

transformation and upgrade of the Company. In 2016, the replacement of production capacities of the Muduchaideng 

coal mine, the Nalin River No. 2 coal mine and the Dahaize coal mine of the Company was approved by the National 

Development and Reform Commission and the preliminary work proceeded in an orderly way. The polyolefin project 

of China Coal Mengda was put into trial production and maintained stable operation with high load. The olefin yield 

and start-up of the plant hit new records of similar facilities. A single commissioning test run of Pingshuo Inferior 

Coal Comprehensive Utilisation Project was successful. The initial working faces of the Menkeqing coal mine and the 

Hulusu coal mine of Zhongtian Synergetic Company were put into trial operation. The 2×660MW Low Calorific Value 

Coal Power Generation Project in Pingshuo, the Project of the Second Power Plant 2×660MW located in the north of 

Wucai Bay, Zhundong, Xinjiang and the 2×350MW Coal Gangue Thermal Power Project of Shanghai Energy progressed 

steadily.

Increased efforts were put on reform and innovation and initial results were achieved via 
leaner and healthier development.

The Company adhered to the capable and efficacious philosophy, deepened three institutional reforms on labour, 

human resource and income distribution, and promoted staffs downsizing and efficiency improvement to increase 

corporate vitality. The Company pushed forward the integration of business, accomplished the equity transfer of partial 

non-core assets and optimised the assets structure, thereby improving the operational quality. The coal sales and railway 

operation in the Ordos region were integrated, and the synergies were reinforced, so that the working efficiency was 

enhanced. Proactively capitalising on national policies, the Company promoted cutting overcapacity, disposal of “zombie 

enterprises”, clearance of particularly poor enterprises and governance on loss-making enterprises, and simplified the 

hierarchy of management to reduce management costs. The Company streamlined construction projects by categories, 

optimised the investment structure, controlled the pace of investments, and enhanced the standard of corporate operations 

and risk resistance capability.
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Looking back into the year of 2016, the world economic situation remained complicated and domestic economic 

growth sustained slowdown. Affected by the overlapping influences of various factors such as cutting overcapacity, 

downsizing production, reduction in hydropower output and coal inventory replenishment, coal price rose more than 

expected in the second half of 2016, which was also a reasonable adjustment to the earlier excessively low coal price. 

Overall, no radical changes were experienced in the fundamentals of the domestic coal industry; no increase was 

recorded in respect of the coal demand; no change was seen in the national policy of cutting overcapacity. Looking 

forward to the future, the year of 2017 is an important year for implementation of the “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan” as 

well as a significant year for intensification of the supply-side structural reform. Under the new normal, the Chinese 

economy will keep the fundamentals of constantly robust development unchanged, and will be expected to maintain a 

medium-to-high-rate growth. With the supply-side structural reform thoroughly promoted, the motivation for innovation 

and the vitality for economy will be further stimulated, which will lay a solid foundation for the stable development 

of the Chinese economy. In respect of the coal industry, the measures taken by the Chinese government such as 

capacity reserve, reduction replacement and quota transaction, medium-and-long-term contracts, lowest and highest 

inventories, and a long-lasting mechanism for curbing exceptionally volatile coal price will effectively facilitate the 

coal industry to gradually achieve long-term healthy development and coal prices will be expected to maintain in a 

reasonable range. By capitalising on the opportunity of the supply-side structural reform of the Chinese government, 

the Company will integrate cutting overcapacity with the structural adjustment, transformation and upgrade, vigorously 

promote the development of clean and efficient utilisation of coal, devote to creating a new model of circular economy 

comprising coal-electricity-chemical and strive to become a clean energy supplier with relatively strong international 

competitiveness. Meanwhile, China Coal Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company, will proactively participate 

in the consolidation of coal resources of the state-owned enterprise and gradually take over partial coal assets and related 

businesses from the state-owned enterprise, which will push forward the synergetic development of the coal, electricity 

and chemical industries of the Company.

In 2017, the Company will closely focus on the annual targets for production and operations on a market-oriented basis 

and efficiency-focused approach. By sticking to the general requirement of “quality improvement amid stability with 

reform and innovation”, the Company will continue to promote the structural adjustment and deepen the corporate 

reform with a view to increasing the earning level. Firstly, the Company will organise production in a scientific and 

reasonable manner, reinforce connection among production, transportation and marketing, and enhance the profitability 

of sales to ensure that the full-year tasks for production and sales are achieved. Secondly, the Company will continue 

to enhance the safety assurance ability and vigorously maintain production safety. Thirdly, the Company will focus on 

comprehensive budgeting management, vigorously improve quality and efficiency, and fully increase the operational 

quality. Fourthly, capturing the advantageous conditions of the current reform, the Company will continue to intensify 

enterprise reform, achieve various key tasks and make itself more leaner and healthier for further stimulating its vitality. 

Fifthly, the Company will speed up the construction of key projects, carry out transformation and upgrade, and build a 

new industrial system. Sixthly, the Company will strengthen entrepreneurship and innovation, and constantly reinforce 

the support of innovation on development. Seventhly, the Company will focus on significant risk prevention and control 

to ensure the healthy development.
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With favourable timing and conditions, a flagship is bound to break the waves and navigate forward; as taking heavy 

burden and embarking on a long journey, an explorer shall strive to march on with solidarity and diligence. The 

management and all employees of the Company will make progress amid stability with firm confidence and inspired 

spirit, and solidly promote reform, development and various tasks with pioneering and innovative spirits, striving to 

create a brighter future for the Company with new results of production and operation, and new effects of reform and 

innovation.

Li Yanjiang

Chairman

Beijing, the PRC

22 March 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditions and Operating Results

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Group’s audited financial statements and 
the notes thereto. The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS.

I. OvervIew

In 2016, the Chinese government further pushed forward the supply-side structural reform and the coal market 
significantly improved with coal prices stabilised and rebounded. Through closely following market changes, 
organising production and operation in a scientific and orderly manner, vigorously promoting efficiency 
improvement by quality enhancement and cost reduction, actively optimising market layout and product mix, 
together with its major action of aggressively seizing market opportunities, the Group achieved the turnaround 
from loss to profit with a substantial growth in operating results. The profit before income tax amounted to 
RMB3.001 billion, representing an increase of RMB6.577 billion as compared to 2015. The profit attributable to 
the equity holders of the Company amounted to RMB1.715 billion, representing an increase of RMB4.982 billion 
as compared to 2015. Net cash generated from operating activities amounted to RMB12.068 billion, representing 
an increase of 65.7% as compared to 2015. Meanwhile, the Group actively disposed non-core business assets, 
optimised asset mix, improved the profitability and operational efficiency of assets, actively expanded financing 
channels and optimised debt structure. Under the precondition of ensuring the fund flow safety, the Company 
greatly curtailed the liabilities scale. As a result, the debt asset ratio decreased by 3.2 percentage points to 57.9% 
as compared to the beginning of 2016, thereby further improving financial soundness.

Unit: RMB100 million
For the 

year ended 
31 December 

2016

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2015

Increase/decrease 
Increase/ 
decrease 

in amount

Increase/
decrease 

(%)

Revenue 606.32 592.71 13.61 2.3
Profit/(Loss) before income tax 30.01 -35.76 65.77 -183.9
EBITDA 126.91 70.79 56.12 79.3
Profit/(Loss) attributable to the equity holders 
 of the Company 17.15 -32.67 49.82 -152.5
Net cash generated from operating activities 120.68 72.85 47.83 65.7

As at 31 December 2016, the gearing ratio (total interest-bearing debts/(total interest-bearing debts + equity)) of 
the Group was 48.2%, representing a decrease of 4.8 percentage points from the beginning of 2016.

Unit: RMB100 million

As at 
31 December 

2016

As at 
31 December 

2015

Increase/decrease
Increase/

decrease in 
amount 

Increase/
decrease

(%)

Assets 2,426.58 2,580.26 -153.68 -6.0
Liabilities 1,405.44 1,577.44 -172.00 -10.9
 Interest-bearing debts 951.32 1,130.26 -178.94 -15.8
Equity 1,021.14 1,002.82 18.32 1.8
 Equity attributable to the equity holders 
  of the Company 860.47 837.08 23.39 2.8
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Financial Conditions and Operating Results

II. OperAtIng resuLts

(1) Combined Operating results

1. Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s total revenue (net of inter-segmental sales) 

increased from RMB59.271 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB60.632 billion, 

representing an increase of 2.3%. This is mainly because influenced by the improvement on 

the market situation, selling price of the Group’s commercial coal increased year-on-year, and 

against the year-on-year decrease of self-produced commercial coal sales volume due to decreased 

production and the adoption of production stoppage measures for some mines with weaker market 

competitiveness, the Group broadened its resource channels and expanded the proprietary trading 

scales, with a view to increasing its market shares, the combined effects of which resulted in a 

year-on-year increase of RMB4.210 billion in revenue from external sales of coal operations. The 

selling price of coal chemical products decreased year-on-year and external sales revenue of coal 

chemical operations recorded a year-on-year decrease of RMB1.397 billion. The sales of coal mining 

equipment products decreased year-on-year and the external sales revenue of coal mining equipment 

operations recorded a year-on-year decrease of RMB825 million.

Changes in revenue net of inter-segmental sales from the Group’s four operating segments of coal, 

coal chemical, coal mining equipment, finance operations and other operations for the year ended 31 

December 2016 in comparison with the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out as follows:

Unit: RMB100 million

revenue net of 
inter-segmental sales Increase/decrease

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/

decrease in 

amount

Increase/

decrease

(%)

Coal operations 446.76 404.66 42.10 10.4

Coal chemical operations 105.18 119.15 -13.97 -11.7

Coal mining equipment operations 36.74 44.99 -8.25 -18.3

Finance operations and other operations 17.64 23.91 -6.27 -26.2

Total 606.32 592.71 13.61 2.3
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Financial Conditions and Operating Results

The proportion of revenue net of inter-segmental sales generated by each operating segment of the 

Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the year ended 31 December 2015 in the Group’s 

total revenue are set out as follows:

proportion of revenue net of 
inter-segmental sales (%)

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/

decrease in 

(percentage 

point(s))

Coal operations 73.7 68.3 5.4

Coal chemical operations 17.3 20.1 -2.8

Coal mining equipment operations 6.1 7.6 -1.5

Finance operations and other operations 2.9 4.0 -1.1

2. Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s cost of sales decreased from RMB55.167 billion 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB50.739 billion, representing a decrease of 8.0%.

Materials used and goods traded costs increased by 4.9% from RMB24.200 billion for the year 

ended 31 December 2015 to RMB25.376 billion, representing 50.0% of cost of sales, of which 

the goods traded cost recorded a year-on-year increase of RMB5.142 billion due to the increase 

in sales volume of proprietary coal trading; the Group further enhanced expense-saving and 

consumption-reducing measures such as centralised procurement, unit consumption reduction, quota 

management and repair of the obsolete and utilisation of the waste, optimised the design of mining 

areas and production techniques, and the volume of external purchases of raw coal for washing 

purpose and the self-produced commercial coal sales volume recorded a year-on-year decrease, the 

combining effects of which led to a year-on-year decrease of RMB1.811 billion in materials used 

cost of self-produced commercial coal. The materials used cost of coal chemical operations recorded 

a year-on-year decrease of RMB876 million, mainly due to the combined effects of the strict control 

of unit consumption and procurement price of raw materials by coal chemical enterprises, increase 

in internal sales and usage of products such as methanol and the transfer of some subsidiaries. The 

reduction in orders for coal mining equipment operations affected by market conditions led to a 

year-on-year decrease of RMB587 million in materials used cost.

Staff costs decreased by 4.2% from RMB4.230 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 

RMB4.054 billion, representing 8.0% of cost of sales. The year-on-year decrease in staff costs was 

mainly due to, among others, the Group’s deepening corporate reform, further enhancing controls 

over gross salaries, strengthening reduction on labour dispatch workforce and diminution on gross 

manpower required.
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Depreciation and amortisation costs decreased by 7.8% from RMB6.393 billion for the year ended 

31 December 2015 to RMB5.895 billion, representing 11.6% of the cost of sales. The decrease was 

mainly attributable to the year-on-year decrease in production volume of self-produced commercial 

coal of the Group, which led to the decrease in the depreciation and amortisation costs of the coal 

business based on the production reserve method. Combining with the facts, among others, that part 

of the equipment was utilised in projects under construction and transfer of some subsidiaries, the 

costs of depreciation and amortisation decreased year-on-year.

Repairs and maintenance costs increased by 22.0% from RMB824 million for the year ended 31 

December 2015 to RMB1.005 billion, representing 2.0% of the cost of sales. The year-on-year 

increase in repairs and maintenance costs was mainly attributable to the control over purchase 

expenses of equipment and the strengthening of routine equipment repair and maintenance by the 

subordinate enterprises of the Group, and the increase in overhaul expenses of chemical companies.

Transportation costs and port expenses decreased by 30.0% from RMB11.735 billion for the 

year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB8.212 billion, representing 16.2% of the cost of sales. The 

decrease was mainly due to, among others, the year-on-year decrease in sales volume of the Group’s 

seaborne coal, and the decrease in rates of railway freight and port expenses, the combined effects 

of which resulted in a year-on-year decrease of RMB3.323 billion in transportation costs and port 

expenses for coal operations.

Sales taxes and surcharges increased by 27.3% from RMB1.493 billion for the year ended 31 

December 2015 to RMB1.900 billion, representing 3.7% of the cost of sales. The year-on-year 

increase in sales taxes and surcharges such as resource tax was mainly due to the rise in coal price.

Outsourcing mining engineering fees decreased by 12.9% from RMB1.127 billion for the year ended 

31 December 2015 to RMB982 million, representing 1.9% of the cost of sales. The year-on-year 

decrease in outsourcing mining engineering fees was mainly due to the fact, among others, that 

all coal producing enterprises of the Group recorded decrease in volumes of outsourcing mining 

engineering and strengthened their management on outsourcing business.

Other costs decreased by 35.8% from RMB5.165 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 

RMB3.315 billion, representing 6.6% of the cost of the sales. The decrease was mainly attributable 

to the year-on-year decrease in other costs such as medium-and-small mining engineering expenses 

of the coal producing enterprises of the Group, ancillary production costs and land requisition 

compensation expenses.

3. Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2016, gross profit of the Group increased from RMB4.104 billion 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB9.893 billion, representing an increase of RMB5.789 

billion; and gross profit margin increased from 6.9% for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 16.3%, 

representing an increase of 9.4 percentage points.
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Management Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditions and Operating Results

The gross profit and gross profit margin of each of the Group’s operating segments for the year 

ended 31 December 2016 and the changes as compared to the same period of 2015 are as follows:

Unit: RMB100 million

gross profit gross profit margin (%)
For the 

year ended 
31 December 

2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/

decrease

(%)

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/

decrease 

(percentage 

point(s))

Coal operations 67.21 1.19 5,547.9 14.4 0.3 14.1

 Self-produced commercial coal 65.52 0.13 50,300.0 23.0 0.04 22.96

 Proprietary coal trading 2.40 1.13 112.4 1.3 0.9 0.4

Coal chemical operations 23.35 28.74 -18.8 22.1 24.1 -2.0

Coal mining equipment operations 6.74 8.86 -23.9 16.7 17.8 -1.1

Finance operations and other operations 1.27 2.43 -47.7 5.1 7.7 -2.6

Group 98.93 41.04 141.1 16.3 6.9 9.4

Note: The above gross profit and gross profit margin of each operating segment are figures before netting of inter-segmental sales.

(2) Operating results of segments

1. Coal segment

• Revenue

Revenue from the coal operations of the Group was mainly generated from sales of 

coal produced from our own coal mines and coal washing plants (sales of self-produced 

commercial coal) to domestic and overseas customers. In addition, the Group also purchased 

coal from external coal enterprises for resale to customers (sales of proprietary coal trading) 

and was engaged in coal import and export and domestic agency services.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the total revenue from coal operations of the Group 

increased from RMB42.106 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB46.708 

billion, representing an increase of 10.9%; revenue net of inter-segmental sales increased from 

RMB40.466 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB44.676 billion, representing 

an increase of 10.4%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, revenue from sales of self-produced commercial coal 

of the Group decreased from RMB29.092 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 

RMB28.491 billion, representing a decrease of 2.1%. Revenue net of inter-segmental sales 

decreased from RMB28.705 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB28.259 

billion, representing a decrease of 1.6%; of which, revenue from thermal coal was 

RMB23.381 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB1.567 billion; revenue 

from coking coal was RMB4.878 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB1.121 

billion. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s sales of self-produced commercial 

coal decreased by 16.87 million tonnes year-on-year to 80.67 million tonnes, leading to 

a decrease of RMB4.962 billion in sales revenue; and the weighted average sales price of 

self-produced commercial coal increased by RMB56/tonne year-on-year to RMB350/tonne, 

leading to an increase of RMB4.516 billion in respect of sales revenue.

Revenues from sales of proprietary coal trading increased by 41.6% from RMB12.578 

billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB17.815 billion. Revenue net of other 

inter-segment sales increased from RMB11.369 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 

to RMB16.044 billion, representing an increase of 41.1%.

Revenue from agency services experienced a year-on-year increase of RMB5 million, 

reaching RMB16 million.
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Changes in the Group’s coal sales volume and selling price for the year ended 31 December 

2016 in comparison with the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out as follows:

Increase/decrease
For the year ended 
31 December 2016

For the year ended 

31 December 2015

Increase/decrease 

in amount Increase/decrease

sales 
volume 
(10,000 
tonnes)

selling 
price 

(rMB/
tonne)

Sales 

volume 

(10,000 

tonnes)

Selling 

price 

(RMB/

tonne)

Sales 

volume 

(10,000 

tonnes)

Selling 

price 

(RMB/

tonne)

Sales 

volume 

(%)

Selling 

price 

(%)

I. Self-produced  

 commercial coal

Total 8,067 350 9,754 294 -1,687 56 -17.3 19.0

(I) Thermal coal 7,095 330 8,862 282 -1,767 48 -19.9 17.0

1. Domestic sale 7,054 329 8,831 281 -1,777 48 -20.1 17.1

2. Export 41 419 31 435 10 -16 32.3 -3.7

(II) Coking coal 972 502 892 421 80 81 9.0 19.2

1. Domestic sale 972 502 892 421 80 81 9.0 19.2

2. Export ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆ – – – –

II. Proprietary coal  

 trading

Total 4,820 333 3,609 315 1,211 18 33.6 5.7

(I) Domestic resale 4,579 333 3,417 309 1,162 24 34.0 7.8

(II) Self-operated exports﹡ 10.5 688 15.2 706 -4.7 -18 -30.9 -2.5

(III) Import trading 230 317 177 396 53 -79 29.9 -19.9

III. Import and export  

 and domestic  

 agency★

Total 348 5 409 3 -61 2 -14.9 66.7

(I) Import agency 13 6 10 5 3 1 30.0 20.0

(II) Export agency 263 4 206 4 57 0 27.7 0.0

(III) Domestic agency 72 5 193 1 -121 4 -62.7 400.0

☆: N/A for the period.

★: Selling price is agency service fee.

 ﹡: Briquette export.
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• Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2016, cost of sales for the Group’s coal operations decreased 

from RMB41.987 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB39.987 billion, 

representing a decrease of 4.8%. Changes in major cost items are set out as follows:

Unit: RMB100 million

Item

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/decrease 
Increase/

decrease 

in amount

Increase/

decrease 

(%)

Material costs 37.97 56.08 -18.11 -32.3

Proprietary coal trading cost ★ 173.53 122.11 51.42 42.1

Staff costs 26.20 29.00 -2.80 -9.7

Depreciation and amortisation 36.99 41.82 -4.83 -11.5

Repairs and maintenance 7.41 6.79 0.62 9.2

Transportation costs and port 

 expenses 72.91 106.14 -33.23 -31.3

Outsourcing mining 

 engineering fee 9.82 11.27 -1.45 -12.9

Sales taxes and surcharges 15.99 12.88 3.11 24.1

Other costs 19.05 33.78 -14.73 -43.6

total cost of sales for coal 
 operations 399.87 419.87 -20.00 -4.8

★: This cost does not include transportation costs and provision for impairment of inventories that are related to proprietary 

coal trading.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s cost of sales of self-produced commercial 

coal was RMB21.939 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB7.140 billion 

or 24.6%; the unit cost of sales of self-produced commercial coal was RMB271.96/tonne, 

representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB26.20/tonne or 8.8%; the cost of proprietary coal 

trading was RMB17.575 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB5.110 billion or 

41.0%; and the unit cost of external sales of proprietary coal trading was RMB328.63/tonne, 

representing a year-on-year increase of RMB16.18/tonne or 5.2%.
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Changes of major items of the Group’s unit cost of sales of self-produced commercial coal 

are as follows:

Unit: RMB/tonne

Item

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/decrease 
Increase/

decrease 

in amount

Increase/

decrease

(%)

Material costs 47.07 57.51 -10.44 -18.2

Staff costs 32.48 29.74 2.74 9.2

Depreciation and amortisation 45.85 42.88 2.97 6.9

Repair and maintenance 9.19 6.96 2.23 32.0

Transportation costs and 

 port expenses 87.63 106.23 -18.60 -17.5

Sales taxes and surcharges 19.82 13.21 6.61 50.0

Outsourcing mining engineering fee 12.17 11.56 0.61 5.3

Other costs 17.75 30.07 -12.32 -41.0

unit cost of sales of self-produced 
 commercial coal 271.96 298.16 -26.20 -8.8

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the main reasons for year-on-year change in unit cost 

of sales of the self-produced commercial coal of the Group were:

In respect of the decrease of RMB10.44/tonne in unit material costs, the main reason was 

that the Group strengthened the centralised procurement, enhanced expense-saving and 

consumption-reducing measures such as unit consumption reduction, consumption quota 

management as well as repair of the obsolete and the utilisation of the waste, optimised 

the design of mining areas and production techniques, and reduced the volume of external 

purchases of raw coal for washing purpose, the combined effects of which led to a 

year-on-year decrease of RMB1.811 billion in material costs.

In respect of the increase of RMB2.74/tonne in unit staff costs, the main reason was that the 

Group deepened corporate reform and imposed strict controls on gross salaries and gross 

manpower, which led to a year-on-year decrease of RMB280 million in staff costs. However, 

as production and sales volume of self-produced commercial coal reduced year-on-year, the 

unit staff costs recorded a year-on-year increase.

In respect of the increase of RMB2.97/tonne in unit depreciation and amortisation, the 

main reason was that coal producing enterprises of the Group utilised certain equipment 

in the construction projects and the depreciation and amortisation expenses which were 

provisioned based on the production reserve method decreased. As a result, the depreciation 

and amortisation costs recorded a year-on-year decrease of RMB483 million. However, as 

production and sales volume of self-produced commercial coal recorded a year-on-year 

decrease, the unit depreciation and amortisation costs recorded a year-on-year increase.
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In respect of the increase of RMB2.23/tonne in unit repair and maintenance expenditure, the 

main reason was that each coal producing enterprise of the Group strengthened the repair 

and maintenance of equipment while controlling the procurement expenses of equipment, 

which led to a year-on-year increase of RMB62 million in the repair and maintenance costs. 

Combining with the effect of a year-on-year decrease in production volume and sales volume 

of self-produced commercial coal, the unit repair and maintenance expenditure increased.

In respect of the decrease of RMB18.60/tonne in unit transportation costs and port expenses, 

the main reason was that the sales volume proportion of seaborne coal of the Group decreased 

year-on-year and the rates of railway freight and port expenses reduced, the combined effects 

of which led to a year-on-year decrease of RMB3.323 billion in transportation costs and port 

expenses.

In respect of the increase of RMB6.61/tonne in unit sales taxes and surcharges, the main 

reason was that sales taxes and surcharges including resource tax, urban maintenance and 

construction tax as well as education surcharge recorded a year-on-year increase of RMB311 

million arising from the significant year-on-year increase in the coal price of the Group.

In respect of the increase of RMB0.61/tonne in unit outsourcing mining engineering fee, 

the main reason was that the volume of outsourcing mining engineering of the Group 

decreased and the Group strengthened the management of outsourced business, which led to 

a year-on-year decrease of RMB145 million in outsourcing mining engineering fee. However, 

as production and sales volume of self-produced commercial coal reduced year-on-year, the 

unit outsourcing mining engineering fee recorded a year-on-year increase.

In respect of the decrease of RMB12.32/tonne in unit other costs, the main reason was that 

the small and medium mining project expenditure, auxiliary production expenses and land 

requisition compensation expenses of each coal producing enterprise of the Group decreased 

year-on-year, which led to a year-on-year decrease of RMB1.473 billion in other costs.

• Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s gross profit from coal operations 

increased by RMB6.602 billion from RMB119 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 

to RMB6.721 billion; and gross profit margin increased by 14.1 percentage points from 0.3% 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 14.4%.

2. Coal chemical operations

• Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s revenue from coal chemical operations 

decreased from RMB11.932 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB10.549 

billion, representing a decrease of 11.6%, and revenue net of other inter-segmental sales 

decreased by 11.7% from RMB11.915 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 

RMB10.518 billion.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s external sales revenue of polyethylene 

decreased by RMB5 million or 0.2% from RMB2.743 billion for 2015 to RMB2.738 billion; 

the external sales revenue of polypropylene increased by RMB49 million or 2.2% from 

RMB2.183 billion for 2015 to RMB2.232 billion; the external sales revenue of urea decreased 

by RMB629 million or 21.9% from RMB2.870 billion for 2015 to RMB2.241 billion mainly 

due to the combined effects of the year-on-year decrease in the price of urea and the transfer 

of subsidiaries; the external sales revenue of methanol decreased by RMB541 million or 

47.5% from RMB1.139 billion for 2015 to RMB598 million mainly due to the increase of 

internal consumption volumes sold to other chemical enterprises within the Group.

Changes in the sales volume and selling price of major chemical products of the Group are set 

out in the table below:

Increase/decrease
For the year ended 
31 December 2016

For the year ended 

31 December 2015

Increase/decrease 

in amount Increase/decrease

sales 
volume 
(10,000 
tonnes)

selling 
price 

(rMB/
tonne)

Sales 

Volume 

(10,000 

tonnes)

Selling 

price 

(RMB/

tonne)

Sales 

Volume 

(10,000 

tonnes)

Selling 

price 

(RMB/

tonne)

Sales 

Volume 

(%)

Selling 

price 

(%)

I. Olefin 71.1 6,989 67.6 7,284 3.5 -295 5.2 -4.0

1. Polyethylene 35.8 7,641 35.3 7,771 0.5 -130 1.4 -1.7

2. Polypropylene 35.3 6,327 32.3 6,751 3.0 -424 9.3 -6.3

II. Methanol◆ 40.0 1,496 79.6 1,432 -39.6 64 -49.7 4.5

III. Urea 198.0 1,132 175.4 1,637 22.6 -505 12.9 -30.8

◆: including sales of methanol produced by Heilongjiang Coal Chemical Group, a subsidiary of China Coal Group with 46,400 

tonnes in 2016 and 22,800 tonnes in 2015.

In addition, the external sales revenue of coke of the Group amounted to RMB1.168 billion 

(being revenue from self-produced coke before the transfer of China Coal Jiuxin Company 

and the business mode changed into proprietary trading and agency sales after the transfer), 

representing a decrease of RMB332 million or 22.1% as compared to RMB1.500 billion for 

2015.
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• Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s cost of sales of coal chemical operations 

decreased from RMB9.058 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB8.214 

billion, representing a decrease of 9.3%. The details are set out below:

Unit: RMB100 million

Item

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/decrease
Increase/

decrease 

in amount

Increase/

decrease 

(%)

Material costs 40.25 49.01 -8.76 -17.9

Staff costs 5.38 4.76 0.62 13.0

Depreciation and amortisation 16.46 16.22 0.24 1.5

Repairs and maintenance 2.21 1.42 0.79 55.6

Transportation costs and 

 port expenses 8.33 10.30 -1.97 -19.1

Sales taxes and surcharges 2.25 1.58 0.67 42.4

Other costs 7.26 7.29 -0.03 -0.4

total cost of sales for coal 
 chemical operations 82.14 90.58 -8.44 -9.3

The cost of sales of the major chemical products of the Group for the year ended 31 December 

2016 and the changes as compared to the same period of 2015 are set out as follows:

Cost of sales (rMB100 million) unit cost of sales (rMB/tonne)

Item

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/

decrease 

in amount

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/

decrease 

in amount

Olefin 34.22 28.94 5.28 4,812 4,279 533

1. polyethylene 17.67 15.86 1.81 4,922 4,492 430

2. polypropylene 16.55 13.08 3.47 4,690 4,047 643

Methanol 5.81 9.90 -4.09 1,452 1,245 207

Urea 17.68 21.38 -3.70 893 1,219 -326
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the cost of sales of olefin of the Group increased 

by RMB528 million year-on-year to RMB3.422 billion and unit cost of sales increased 

by RMB533/tonne year-on-year to RMB4,812/tonne. The increase was mainly due to the 

combined effects of the rise in price of raw coal and the increase in external procurement 

of methanol resulting from maintenance of equipment for producing methanol from coal. 

The cost of sales of methanol decreased by RMB409 million year-on-year to RMB581 

million mainly due to the increase in sales costs offset by internal sales. The unit cost of 

sales increased by RMB207/tonne year-on-year to RMB1,452/tonne, which was mainly 

affected by the rise in price of raw coal. The cost of sales of urea decreased by RMB370 

million year-on-year to RMB1.768 billion and unit cost of sales decreased by RMB326/

tonne year-on-year to RMB893/tonne. The decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to the 

Company’s efforts in strengthening cost management and control, the decrease in unit cost 

of production as a result of a year-on-year increase in production volume, the year-on-year 

decrease in freights resulting from the adjustment in sales flow and terms of delivery as well 

as the combined effects of the transfer of Lingshi Chemical Company during the reporting 

period.

• Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the gross profit of the Group’s coal chemical 

operations decreased by RMB539 million from RMB2.874 billion for year ended 31 

December 2015 to RMB2.335 billion, and the gross profit margin decreased from 24.1% for 

the year ended 31 December 2015 to 22.1%, representing a decrease of 2.0 percentage points. 

This was mainly due to a year-on-year decrease in price of polyethylene, polypropylene and 

urea, the rise in price of raw materials such as coal as well as the combined effects of transfer 

of certain subsidiaries.

3. Coal mining equipment segment

• Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s revenue from the coal mining 

equipment operations decreased from RMB4.980 billion for the year ended 31 December 

2015 to RMB4.029 billion, representing a decrease of 19.1%, of which the revenue net of 

inter-segmental sales decreased from RMB4.499 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 

to RMB3.674 billion, representing a decrease of 18.3%. This was mainly due to the reason 

that affected by the lagging recovery and insufficient order of the coal mining equipment 

market, the sales volume of coal mining equipment decreased year-on-year.
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• Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s cost of sales for the coal mining 

equipment operations decreased from RMB4.094 billion for the year ended 31 December 

2015 to RMB3.355 billion, representing a decrease of 18.1%. The details are set out as 

follows:

Unit: RMB100 million

Item

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/decrease 
Increase/

decrease in 

amount

Increase/

decrease 

(%)

Materials used and goods 

 traded costs 18.99 24.86 -5.87 -23.6

Staff costs 5.58 5.02 0.56 11.2

Depreciation and amortisation 2.92 2.96 -0.04 -1.4

Repairs and maintenance 0.53 0.45 0.08 17.8

Transportation costs 0.83 0.85 -0.02 -2.4

Sales taxes and surcharges 0.49 0.21 0.28 133.3

Other costs 4.21 6.59 -2.38 -36.1

total costs of sales of coal 
 mining equipment 
 operations 33.55 40.94 -7.39 -18.1

• Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the gross profit of the Group’s coal mining equipment 

operations segment decreased by RMB212 million from RMB886 million for the year ended 

31 December 2015 to RMB674 million; and the gross profit margin decreased from 17.8% for 

the year ended 31 December 2015 to 16.7%, representing a decrease of 1.1 percentage points.

4. Finance operations and other operations

The Group’s financial and other operating segments mainly include Finance Company, thermal 

power generation and other operations. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s total 

revenue from finance operations and other operations decreased from RMB3.167 billion for the year 

ended 31 December 2015 to RMB2.490 billion, representing a decrease of 21.4%. The revenue net 

of inter-segmental sales decreased from RMB2.391 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 

to RMB1.764 billion, representing a decrease of 26.2%, which was mainly due to year-on-year 

decrease in revenue from other operations as a result of the transfer of certain subsidiaries. Cost of 

sales decreased from RMB2.924 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB2.363 billion, 

representing a decrease of 19.2%. Gross profit decreased by RMB116 million from RMB243 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB127 million, and gross profit margin decreased from 

7.7% for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 5.1%, representing a decrease of 2.6 percentage 

points.
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(3) selling, general and Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s selling, general and administrative expenses increased 

from RMB4.400 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB4.750 billion, representing an 

increase of 8.0%, which was mainly due to the increase in the provision for impairment of trade receivables 

based on aging analysis method during the reporting period, and the transfer of relevant investment 

expenditure to this item as a result of the termination of development of certain projects under construction 

in the previous reporting periods.

(4) Other net gains

For the year ended 31 December 2016, other net gains of the Group increased from RMB283 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB980 million, representing an increase of 246.3%. This was 

mainly attributable to the recognition of other gains of RMB1.018 billion as a result of the Group’s active 

disposal of certain assets less relevant to the principal businesses.

(5) profit from Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s profit from operations increased by RMB6.093 billion 

from RMB43 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB6.136 billion. The increase was 

primarily attributable to the year-on-year increase of RMB6.255 billion in profit from coal operations of 

the Group as a result of the combined effects of, among others, the year-on-year increase in coal sales price 

due to the improvement of coal market conditions and effective control on costs. Under the influences of 

the decrease in market prices of polyethylene, polypropylene and urea as well as the disposal of certain 

subsidiaries, the profit from coal chemical operations recorded a year-on-year decrease of RMB331 

million.

Profits from operations for major operating segments and the year-on-year changes as compared to the 

same period of 2015 are as follows:

Unit: RMB100 million

Item

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2016

For the 

year ended 

31 December 

2015

Increase/decrease 
Increase/

decrease in 

amount

Increase/

decrease 

(%)

The Group 61.36 0.43 60.93 14,169.8

Of which: Coal operations 40.70 -21.85 62.55 -286.3

Coal chemical operations 21.26 24.57 -3.31 -13.5

Coal mining equipment 

 operations 1.17 1.21 -0.04 -3.3

Finance operations and other 

 operations 1.71 -0.35 2.06 -588.6

Note: The above profits from operations for each operating segment are figures before netting of inter-segmental sales.



21ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Management Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditions and Operating Results

(6) Finance Income and Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s net finance costs decreased by 6.0% from RMB3.981 

billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB3.743 billion. Finance income decreased by 36.4% 

from RMB966 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB614 million, mainly due to the 

decrease in finance income as a result of the year-on-year decrease in cash and cash equivalents. Finance 

costs decreased by 11.9% from RMB4.947 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB4.357 

billion. This was mainly because the Group refined its capital management and greatly reduced the size of 

interest-bearing debts by making use of the opportunities brought by the significant increase in net cash 

generated from operating activities and further optimised its debt structure, as a result of which the finance 

costs fell correspondingly.

(7) share of profits of Associates and Jointly Controlled entities

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s share of profits of associates and jointly controlled 

entities increased from RMB362 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB608 million, 

representing an increase of 68.0%. This was mainly attributable to the year-on-year increase in the Group’s 

share of profits of associates and jointly controlled entities which was calculated by equity method and 

recognised in proportion to its shareholding resulting from the increase in profits generated from the 

investees of the Group, including coal chemical, power plants and terminals during the reporting period.

(8) profit before Income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the profit of the Group before income tax increased from 

RMB-3.576 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB3.001 billion, representing an increase of 

RMB6.577 billion.

(9) Income tax expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s income tax expenses increased from RMB-748 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB299 million, representing an increase of RMB1.047 billion.

(10) profit Attributable to the equity Holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company 

increased from RMB-3.267 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB1.715 billion, representing 

an increase of RMB4.982 billion.
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III. CAsH FLOw

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB9.894 billion, 

representing a net decrease of RMB1.302 billion as compared to RMB11.196 billion as at 31 December 2015.

Net cash generated from operating activities increased by RMB4.783 billion from RMB7.285 billion for the 

year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB12.068 billion. This was mainly attributable to significant improvement 

in operating results of the Group. Meanwhile, the Group vigorously enhanced collection of trade receivables, 

downsized working capital used, which led to the dramatic year-on-year increase in net cash generated from 

operating activities.

Net cash generated from investing activities increased by RMB36.897 billion from RMB-26.322 billion for the 

year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB10.575 billion. This was mainly attributable to a year-on-year increase 

of RMB27.562 billion in cash inflow generated from the movement of fixed term deposits with initial terms 

exceeding three months of the Group (net inflow for the reporting period amounted to RMB14.961 billion, 

while net outflow for the same period amounted to RMB12.601 billion), as well as the year-on-year decrease 

of RMB3.853 billion in cash paid for capex such as project construction, long-term assets purchase and equity 

investment, etc. In addition, the receipt of equity and asset transfer proceeds and due entrusted loan recovery led 

to a year-on-year increase in cash inflow.

Net cash generated from financing activities decreased by RMB36.050 billion from RMB12.099 billion for the 

year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB-23.951 billion. This was mainly attributable to the year-on-year decrease 

of RMB10.086 billion in cash received from borrowings, the year-on-year decrease of RMB8.978 billion in cash 

received from issuance of bonds, and the year-on-year increase of RMB16.054 billion in cash repayment of debts 

as a result of repayment of due bonds such as RMB15.0 billion medium-term notes during the reporting period as 

the Group vigorously curtailed liabilities scale.

Iv. LIquIDIty AnD sOurCes OF CApItAL

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s funds were mainly derived from the proceeds generated from 

business operations, bank borrowings and net proceeds raised in capital markets. The Group’s funds were mainly 

used for investments in production facilities and equipment for coal, coal chemical, coal mining equipment and 

power generation operations, repayment of debts payable by the Group, and the Group’s working capital and 

general recurring expenditures.

The cash generated from the Group’s operation, net proceeds from share offering in the global and domestic 

capital markets, relevant banking facilities obtained and the issue amount of bonds approved but not utilised will 

provide sufficient capital funds for future production and operating activities as well as project construction.
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v. Assets AnD LIABILItIes

(1) property, plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2016, the net value of property, plant and equipment of the Group amounted to 

RMB128.240 billion, representing a net decrease of RMB565 million or 0.4% as compared to RMB128.805 

billion as at 31 December 2015, among which, net value of buildings amounted to RMB29.386 billion, 

representing a proportion of 22.9%; net value of mining structures amounted to RMB15.148 billion, 

representing a proportion of 11.8%; net value of plant, machinery and equipment amounted to RMB36.514 

billion, representing a proportion of 28.5%; and net value of construction in progress amounted to 

RMB43.178 billion, representing a proportion of 33.7%.

(2) Mining and exploration rights

As at 31 December 2016, the net value of the Group’s mining and exploration rights amounted to 

RMB33.674 billion, representing a net increase of RMB830 million or 2.5% as compared to RMB32.844 

billion as at 31 December 2015, mainly attributable to the adjustment of prepayments for mining rights of 

RMB1.000 billion from other non-current assets to this item due to the obtainment of the exploration rights 

permit for the Dahaize coal mine project of Shaanxi Company during the reporting period.

(3) Investments in Associates

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s net investment into associates amounted to RMB12.009 billion as 

compared to RMB11.222 billion as at 31 December 2015, representing a net increase of RMB787 million 

or 7.0%, mainly due to a capital increase of RMB613 million in Zhongtian Synergetic Company by the 

Group based on its shareholding proportions during the reporting period.

(4) prepayments and Other receivables

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s net value of prepayments and other receivables amounted to 

RMB7.424 billion, representing a decrease of RMB2.303 billion or 23.7% as compared to RMB9.727 

billion as at 31 December 2015, mainly due to the fact that the Group recovered entrusted loans of 

RMB1.750 billion, the equity and asset transfer proceeds for the reporting period.

(5) Borrowings

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of borrowings of the Group amounted to RMB66.232 billion, 

representing a net decrease of RMB3.925 billion or 5.6% as compared to RMB70.157 billion as at 31 

December 2015. This was mainly attributable to a substantial increase in operating results and net cash 

generated from operating activities and a corresponding decrease in loans during the reporting period, of 

which the balance of long-term borrowings (including the portion due within one year) was RMB59.659 

billion, representing a net decrease of RMB4.840 billion as compared to RMB64.499 billion as at 31 

December 2015, and the balance of short-term borrowings amounted to RMB6.573 billion, representing a 

net increase of RMB915 million as compared to RMB5.658 billion as at 31 December 2015.
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(6) Long-term Bonds

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of long-term bonds of the Group amounted to RMB25.900 billion, 

representing a net increase of RMB4 million from RMB25.896 billion as at 31 December 2015. The 

increase was mainly attributable to the amortisation of medium-term notes based on the real interest 

method.

vI. sIgnIFICAnt CHArge OF Assets

As for the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group did not have significant charge of assets. As at 31 December 

2016, the carrying value of the charge of assets of the Group amounted to RMB9.530 billion, of which the 

carrying value of the pledged assets and mortgaged assets amounted to RMB716 million and RMB8.814 billion, 

respectively.

vII. sIgnIFICAnt InvestMent

During the reporting period, the Group had no significant investment.

vIII. MAterIAL ACquIsItIOns AnD DIspOsALs

The Group did not have material acquisitions and disposals in relation to subsidiaries, associates and joint 

ventures during the reporting period.

IX. regIstrAtIOn AnD IssuAnCe OF MeDIuM-terM nOtes AnD 
sHOrt-terM FInAnCIng BOnDs

The goal of registration and issuance of short-term financial bonds by the Company is to replenish the working 

capital of the Group, adjust the debt structure and finance the relevant project of the Group according to actual 

needs. During the reporting period, the Company successfully registered short-term financing bonds of RMB10 

billion and completed issuance of first tranche of short-term financing bonds on 3 August 2016 in an amount of 

RMB3 billion for a term of 365 days and at a coupon rate of 3.1%. During the reporting period, the Company did 

not register to issue medium-term notes.

X. OperAtIOnAL rIsks

For details of the operational risks, please refer to the section “Directors’ Report” in this report.
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XI. COntIngent LIABILItIes

(1) Bank guarantees

As at 31 December 2016, the Group provided guarantees for a total amount of RMB24.215 billion, of 
which RMB15.555 billion were guarantees provided in proportion to the Group’s shareholdings to its joint 
ventures and associates. The details are set out below:

Unit: RMB10 thousand
the Company’s external guarantees (excluding guarantees for controlling subsidiaries)

guarantor

relationship 
between guarantor 
and listed 
company guarantee

guaranteed 
amount

Date of 
execution of 
guarantee (the 
date of signing 
agreement)

Commencement 
date of 
guarantee

expiry date of 
guarantee

type of the 
guarantee

Completed 
or not

Overdue 
or not

Overdue 
amount

Counter 
guarantee 
available 

or not

provided to 
the related 

party or not

Connected 
party 

relationship

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Shanxi Pingshuo 
 Gangue-fired 
 Power Generation 
 Company Limited

2,700 19 December 
 2008

19 December 
 2008

18 December 
 2020

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – Yes No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Shanxi Pingshuo 
 Gangue-fired 
 Power Generation 
 Company Limited

2,580 24 December 
 2008

24 December 
 2008

23 December 
 2020

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – Yes No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Huajin Coking Coal 
 Company Limited

5,150 28 March 
 2008

28 March 
 2008

20 December
  2022

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – No No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Huajin Coking Coal 
 Company Limited

25,825.5 28 March 
 2008

28 March 
 2008

20 December 
 2023

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – No No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Huajin Coking Coal 
 Company Limited

9,981.1 28 March 
 2008

28 March 
 2008

20 December 
 2023

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – No No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Huajin Coking Coal 
 Company Limited

5,250 21 November 
 2012

21 November 
 2012

20 November 
 2027

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – No No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Taiyuan Coal 
 Gasification 
 Longquan Energy 
 Development 
 Company Limited

36,040 29 October 
 2012

29 October
  2012

31 January 
 2021

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – No No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Shaanxi Yanchang 
 China Coal Yulin 
 Energy Chemical 
 Company Limited

380,710.34 28 April 
 2013

28 April 
 2013

28 April 
 2025

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – Yes No –

China Coal Energy 
 Company Limited

Company 
 headquarters

Zhongtian Synergetic 
 Energy Company 
 Limited

1,154,525.47 25 May 
 2016

25 May
  2016

As per 
 agreement

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – No Yes –

Shanghai Datun Energy 
 Resources Company 
 Limited

Subsidiary Fengpei Railway 
 Company Limited

1,231.7 21 November 
 2013

21 November 
 2013

20 April 
 2024

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – Yes No –

China Coal Shaanxi Yulin 
 Energy & Chemical 
 Company Limited

Subsidiary Yan’an Hecaogou 
 Coal Mine 
 Company Limited

12,500 28 November 
 2015

29 November 
 2015

1 September 
 2025

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – Yes No –

China Coal Shaanxi Yulin 
 Energy & Chemical 
 Company Limited

Subsidiary Yan’an Hecaogou 
 Coal Mine 
 Company Limited

2,500 21 January
  2016

27 January 
 2016

26 January 
 2019

Joint and several 
 liability

No No – Yes No –

Total guarantee incurred during the reporting period (excluding those provided to subsidiaries) 1,054,539.21
Total balance of guarantee as at the end of the reporting period (A) (excluding those provided to subsidiaries) 1,638,994.11

guarantee provided by the Company to its subsidiaries
Total guarantee to subsidiaries incurred during the reporting period -74,297.21
Total balance of guarantee to subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period (B) 782,548.09

total guarantee of the Company (including those to subsidiaries)
Total guarantee (A+B) 2,421,542.20
Percentage of total guarantee to net assets of the Company (%) 28.1
Of which:
Amount of guarantee provided to shareholders, de facto controllers and related parties (C) –
Balance of debts guarantee directly or indirectly provided to guaranteed parties with gearing ratio of over 70% (D) 82,246.60
Excess amount of total guarantee over 50% of net assets (E)
Total amount of the above three categories (C+D+E) 82,246.60
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(2) environmental protection responsibilities

Environmental protection laws and regulations have been fully implemented in China. However, the 

management of the Group is of the opinion that other than those that have been accounted for in the 

financial statements, there are currently no other environmental protection responsibilities that may have a 

material adverse impact on the financial position of the Group.

(3) Contingent Legal Liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration, 

and to the knowledge of the Group, there is no material litigation or arbitration pending or threatened 

against or involving the Group.

XII. OtHer events

(1) entrusted wealth Management

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had neither entrusted wealth management nor investments in 

derivatives.

(2) entrusted Loans

1. Overview

Unit: RMB10 thousand

Balance of entrusted 
loans at the beginning 

of the period

Amount incurred from 
entrusted loans for 
the current period

Actual amount of 
principal recovered 

from entrusted loans

Balance of entrusted 
loans at the end of 

the period

310,200 11,000 175,000 146,200
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2. Details
Unit: RMB10 thousand

name of borrower

Amount of 
entrusted 

loans term
Interest 

rates (%)

Collateral 
or 

guarantor
Overdue 

or not

Connected 
party 

transaction 
or not

extended 
or not

Involved 
litigation 

or not

source of 
capital and 
whether for 
fund raising 

or not

Connected 
party 
relationship

expected
return

Investment 
gains and 

losses

Yan’an Hecaogou 

 Coal Mine Company 

 Limited

40,000 One year 5.23% – No No No No No – 2,092 29

Yan’an Hecaogou 

 Coal Mine Company 

 Limited

85,000 One year 6.60% – No No Yes No No – 5,610 3,989

Hebei Sinocoal Risun 

 Coking Company

10,200 Three years 7.47% – No No Yes No No – 2,286 762

Lingshi Chinacoal 

 Chemical Co., Ltd.

10,000 From August 

 2016 to 

 March 

 2017

4.57% – No Yes Yes No No China Coal

Group’s

non-listing

subsidiary

273 159

Lingshi Chinacoal 

 Chemical Co., Ltd.

1,000 One year 4.60% – No Yes Yes No No China Coal

Group’s

non-listing

subsidiary

46 41

3. Other investments in wealth management products and derivatives

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had no other investments in wealth management products or 

investments in derivatives.
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I. prInCIpAL BusIness OperAtIOns OF tHe COMpAny In 2016

The Company is a large scale energy enterprise integrating business such as coal production and trading, coal 

chemical operations, coal equipment manufacturing and relevant services as well as pit mouth power generation. 

With the advanced technology for coal mining, washing and preparation of coal, comprehensive marketing and 

customer service network, the Company attains a relatively strong competitive advantage in the coal industry by 

focusing on the principal coal business. Over the years, continuing to optimise industrial structure, vigorously 

develop new coal chemical operations, the Company has gained experiences over coal conversion, clean and 

efficient utilisation with a clear and distinct low-cost competitive advantage. Taking full advantage of professional 

technology for coal mining equipment, the Company has constantly improved service level to consolidate the 

market share and extend the industrial chain of coal.

(1) Coal Operations

In 2016, amidst the unfavourable situation of slowdown in the growth rate of macroeconomics, 

overcapacity in coal and continuous decline in demand, the Chinese government actively promoted the 

supply-side structural reform by introducing a series of policies such as overcapacity reduction, 276 days 

reducing production, strict governance on illegal, rule-breaking production and construction, control of the 

overcapacity production and unsafe production, which played an important role in stabilisation of supply 

and demand for coal, and promotion of sound development of the coal industry. The coal price initially 

declined and gradually picked up, experiencing downturn in the first quarter, stabilisation in the second 

quarter, significant rally in the third quarter and strong rebound in the fourth quarter.

1. Coal production

With efforts to overcome new challenges arising from cutting overcapacity and reducing production, 

the Company carried out coal production in a scientific way by adhering to the principle of maximum 

benefits, strengthened quality control of coal and reasonably arranged equipment maintenance. The 

Company also accelerated land acquisition and relocation work, properly coordinated overcapacity 

reduction, production reduction, quality enhancement and efficiency improvement. In the second 

half of 2016, the Company capitalised on market opportunities, especially the window period of 

favourable policy in the fourth quarter, and focused on production organisation and coordination 

between production and sales to strive to stabilise and increase production. Pingshuo Company 

made great efforts to tap its production potential, coordinated relocation of villages, technical 

renovation of open-pit mines and coal quality management, as well as proceeded production and 

operation steadily, achieving turnaround from loss to profit. China Coal Huajin Company utilised the 

advantages of safe and efficient mines, and coal type, maintained stable high yield and improved the 

recovery rate of clean coal to steadily enhance comprehensive profits. During the reporting period, 

the production volume of commercial coal reached 80.99 million tonnes, of which the production 

volume of thermal coal amounted to 71.27 million tonnes, and the production volume of coking coal 

amounted to 9.72 million tonnes.
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The Company focused on the implementation of safety responsibilities and highlighted the focus 

of safety control so that the overall safety situation remained stable. By further deepening the 

construction of safety and quality standardisation, the Company witnessed that 12 coal mines met 

the national first class standard and the standardisation construction was extended to refinement and 

programming development.

The Company vigorously promoted innovative development so as to lower cost and improve 

efficiency for coal production via scientific innovation. Through technology optimisation, the 

Company reduced the numbers of working faces and constantly improved the recovery rate of 

resources. The Company continued to raise unit output and unit roadheading level of its mines by 

the application of new technology and new equipment for coal mining. The raw coal production 

efficiency reached 34.61 tonnes/worker-shift, representing an advanced level in the coal industry.

The Company continued to deepen environmental awareness, adhered to green development, 

improved product mix and gradually enhanced commercial coal quality to meet the diverse needs of 

customers by various measures such as separate underground mining, separate loading and separate 

transportation of coal, increase in coal washing rate and optimisation of washing and preparation 

techniques.

2. Coal sales

In 2016, with the rapid recovery of coal market, the Company kept a close eye on market changes, 

strengthened market research and analysed the needs of users to adjust the marketing strategies 

timely and flexibly, accurately respond to the market and strive to increase sales and yield. In 

addition, the Company optimised market layout, improved marketing network, reasonably controlled 

product flow as well as further expanded the market of local sales for coal and railway for direct 

arrival coal. The Company also spared no efforts to optimise customer portfolio, actively pursued 

the non-thermal coal market and continually expanded the presence in cement and other sectors. The 

Company further increased the external transportation volume of coking coal and the sales volume 

of coking coal increased by 9.0% year-on-year.

The Company made great efforts to improve the ability to optimise efficiency in the process of sales 

by enhancing quality control of coal in the entire production process, strengthening coal blending 

process, improving product quality and promoting the sales of self-produced coal. The Company 

vigorously expanded resources channels and enlarged the scale of proprietary coal trading to 

increase the market share, achieving sale volume of proprietary coal trading of 48.20 million tonnes, 

representing a year-on-year increase of 33.6%.

During the reporting period, the Company generally maintained smooth coordination between coal 

production and sales, and achieved sale volume of self-produced commercial coal of 80.67 million 

tonnes, representing an increase of 670,000 tonnes over the annual plan.



30 CHINA COAL ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED

Business Performance

sales volume of commercial coal 
(10 thousand tonnes) 2016 2015 Change (%)

(I) Domestic sales of self-produced coal 8,026 9,723 -17.5

By region: North China 2,496 3,015 -17.2

East China 4,088 4,754 -14.0

South China 655 1,383 -52.6

Others 787 571 37.8

By coal type: Thermal coal 7,054 8,831 -20.1

Coking coal 972 892 9.0

(II) self-produced coal export 41 31 32.3

By region: Taiwan, China 41 31 32.3

By coal type: Thermal coal 41 31 32.3

(III) proprietary trading 4,820 3,609 33.6

Of which: Domestic resale 4,579 3,417 34.0

Import trading 230 177 29.9

Self-operated exports 10.5 15.2 -30.9

(Iv) Agency sales 348 409 -14.9

Of which: Import agency 13 10 30.0

Export agency 263 206 27.7

Domestic agency 72 193 -62.7

total 13,235 13,772 -3.9

3. Coal reserve

Major mining areas
resource reserve 

(100 million tonnes)
recoverable reserve 
(100 million tonnes)

Shanxi 75.63 39.89

Inner Mongolia-Shaanxi 143.05 91.49

Jiangsu 7.67 2.83

Xinjiang 6.56 3.67

Heilongjiang 3.08 1.36

total 235.99 139.24

Coal type
resource reserve 

(100 million tonnes)
recoverable reserve 
(100 million tonnes)

Thermal coal 205.81 127.26

Coking coal 30.18 11.98

total 235.99 139.24
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In 2016, the Company verified to increase resource reserve 5.028 billion tonnes, verified to decrease 

resource reserve 249 million tonnes, and utilised resource reserve 146 million tonnes. As at the end 

of 2016, the Company had coal resource reserve of 23.599 billion tonnes with mining rights and 

recoverable reserve of 13.924 billion tonnes in accordance with the mining standards of the PRC, 

among which resource reserve of 5.021 billion tonnes were gained through the obtainment of the 

exploration rights permit for the Dahaize coal mine issued by the Department of Land and Resources 

of Shaanxi Province on 13 April 2016.

(2) Coal Chemical Operations

The Company continued to strengthen production control of coal chemicals, optimised organisation 

structure, established management department of coal chemicals, promoted professional management, 

enhanced safety assurance and management innovation, and achieved a new industry level for the coal 

chemical production and operation. The equipment load of Yulin Olefin Project hit a new record high for an 

annual output of 710,000 tonnes of polyolefin, representing a year-on-year increase of 4.0%. Tuke Fertiliser 

Project recorded an annual output of 1.855 million tonnes of urea, representing a year-on-year increase 

of 7.7%. Mengda Engineering Plastics Project maintained stable operation with high load in respect of its 

trial production. The olefin yield and test run hit new records of similar facilities with an annual output of 

465,000 tonnes of polyolefin, laying a solid foundation for the official operation in the next stage.

With a strong emphasis on the coal chemicals technology innovations and new product research and 

development, the Company increased the grades of olefins, conducted transformation flexibly and firmly 

pushed forward new urea products development by taking into account the market demands. The coal 

chemicals products mix continued to be optimised and the comprehensive ability of efficiency optimisation 

was steadily enhanced. The Company continued to conduct benchmarking and standard attainment, and 

strived to improve the refined cost management, of which the cost of major coal chemical products was in 

the leading position in the industry.

Pursuing the concept of “being market-oriented and focusing on optimising efficiency”, the Company 

fully utilised its advantage of centralised sales of coal chemical products, improved marketing network, 

explored regional markets, strengthened transport capacity assurance and lowered logistic cost so as to 

bring a smoother coordination between production and sales, which increased sales and efficiency of major 

chemical products significantly. During the reporting period, the accumulated sales volume of polyolefin 

accounted to 711,000 tonnes, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.2% and the sales volume of urea 

reached 1.980 million tonnes, representing a year-on-year increase of 12.9%. In addition, by fully utilising 

geographic advantage of enterprises in Ordos, the Company coordinated and organised the production 

and sales of chemical enterprises in the upstream and downstream industry, expanded internal purchase 

and supply scale of methanol product. Apart from external sales of 400,000 tonnes of methanol product 

in 2016, the Company also supplied 306,000 tonnes of raw material of methanol product to internal olefin 

enterprises. In 2016, under the circumstances where the international petroleum prices fluctuated at a low 

level and the price of domestic major coal chemical products fell sharply, the coal chemical segment of the 

Company still realised positive economic benefits, which enhanced the brand influence of China Coal.
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production and sales volume of coal chemical products 
(10 thousand tonnes) 2016 2015 Change (%)

(I) Olefin

1. Production volume of polyethylene 36.1 35.3 2.3

Sales volume 35.8 35.3 1.4

2. Production volume of polypropylene 34.9 33.0 5.8

Sales volume 35.3 32.3 9.3

(II) Urea

1. Production volume 197.5 196.3 0.6

2. Sales volume 198.0 175.4 12.9

(III) Methanol

1. Production volume 65.1 78.6 -17.2

2. Sales volume 40.0 79.6 -49.7

Notes: 1. The production and sales volume of olefin do not include the production and sales volume of Mengda Engineering Plastics Project for 

the trial production.

2. The methanol sales volume of the Company includes sales of all proprietary methanol products amounting to 46,000 tonnes, produced 

by Heilongjiang Coal Chemical Group, a subsidiary of China Coal Group, excluding the internal self consumption of 306,000 tonnes.

3. Since June 2016, the production and sales data of coke of China Coal Jiuxin Company and production and sales data of urea of 

Lingshi Chemical Company were no longer incorporated in the scope of statistics of the Company.

(3) Coal Mining equipment Operations

Against the unfavourable backdrop of market downturn, insufficient order and escalating rampant 

competitions in the coal mining equipment industry, the Company promoted cost reduction, efficiency 

improvement as well as cost management, strived to maintain the market share of coal mining equipment, 

proactively expanded accessories services, non-coal operations and overseas business to steadily push 

forward reform and transformation. In the next stage, the Company will seize the opportunity of coal 

market recovery, enhance the efforts of market exploration, and secure new order so as to ensure that the 

coal mining equipment operations will operate smoothly.

During the reporting period, the Company achieved RMB3.65 billion production value of coal mining 

equipment, representing a year-on-year decrease of 15.3%. The total production volume of coal mining 

equipment reached 213,000 tonnes, representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.4%, of which 6,910 units (sets) 

were major coal mining equipment.



33ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Business Performance

production value 
(rMB100 million)

sales revenue 
(rMB100 million)

Coal mining equipment 2016 2015 Change (%) 2016

Percentage 
of operating 

revenue of the 
coal mining 

equipment 
segment (%)

Conveyor equipment 16.0 18.9 -15.3 5.5 13.6
Support equipment 10.8 12.1 -10.7 7.6 18.9
Road header 4.4 3.9 12.8 0.4 1.0
Shearer 3.0 4.3 -30.2 1.7 4.2
Electric mining motor 2.3 3.9 -41.0 1.9 4.7

total 36.5 43.1 -15.3 40.3 –

Notes: 1. The revenue of the products in the table represents the sales revenue of the coal mining equipment segment before netting of inter-

segment revenue.

2. The total sales revenue of RMB4.03 billion included revenues generated from accessories, services and trading.

(4) Coordination among Operating sectors

The Company fully capitalised on the advantages of industrial chain, stabilised its traditional principal 
businesses, optimised the layout of industrial structure, and expedited industrial transformation and upgrade 
to continuously enhance coordinated development among the operating sectors. During the reporting 
period, the power plants of the Company proactively carried forward clean and efficient utilisation of coal, 
and consumed 1.62 million tonnes of self-produced low calorific value coal. Coal chemical projects in the 
regions of Inner Mongolia and Shaanxi exerted more efforts into local transformation of self-produced coal, 
which purchased 0.81 million tonnes of engineering coal in surrounding coal mines under construction. 
The segment of coal mining equipment achieved internal products sales and service revenue of RMB360 
million, representing 8.9% of total sales revenue of the segment.

II. AnALysIs OF COre COMpetItIveness

The Company’s core business segments focus on coal, coal chemical, electricity and coal mining equipment. 
Leveraging on the bases located in Shanxi, Inner Mongolia-Shaanxi, Jiangsu, Heilongjiang and Xinjiang, the 
Company is dedicated to becoming a clean energy supplier with relatively strong international competitiveness.

The principal coal business of the Company has distinctive advantages with its leading technologies and 
techniques in coal mining, washing, preparation and blending in the industry. The production costs of the coal 
mines are lower than most of the coal enterprises in China. Both the capable and efficacious production method, 
and economies of scale of cluster development constitute the core competitive advantage of the Company. 
The Company boasts abundant coal resources. Mining areas in Pingshuo, Shanxi and Hujierte, Ordos of Inner 
Mongolia, primarily developed by the Company, are the most important thermal coal production bases in the 
PRC. The coking coal in the mining area in Xiangning, Shanxi, is of high quality with low sulphur and extra low 
phosphorus content. Resource advantages enable the Company to win the market competitive edges and provide 
favourable conditions for achieving sustainable development.
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The Company adheres to the optimisation of industrial structure, focuses on related business such as coal power 

generation and coal chemical, and strives to establish a new circular economic business line for coal, power, 

chemical and etc. The Company’s coal-based fertiliser project constructed in Inner Mongolia-Shaanxi base 

which is the largest single urea plant project in the PRC, has commenced operation and exported its high quality 

granular urea overseas. The coal-based olefin project has set records in terms of the shortest construction period 

and test run compared with the similar facilities in the PRC. The products have been widely recognised by the 

market. Other projects such as Mengda Engineering Plastics Project and Pingshuo Inferior Coal Comprehensive 

Utilisation Project have entered into the joint trial operation phases, further pushed forward the utilisation of the 

classification of coal and enhanced product value and efficiency. The Company is vigorously pushing forward 

low calorific value coal and pit-mouth power generation projects, with three large-scale power projects being 

constructed in bases in Shanxi, Xinjiang and Jiangsu, etc., which will lay a solid foundation for the Company to 

gain comparative cutting edges and improve its core competitiveness.

The Company is one of the largest coal traders in the PRC with branches in major coal consumption regions, 

transshipment ports and major coal import regions. By capitalising on its constructed system of coal sales and 

logistics, well-established port service and high-calibre professional teams, the Company is able to quickly adapt 

to coal market changes by leveraging on its excellent capabilities for market exploration and distribution.

The Company is also the national and even the world’s only large-scale energy enterprise, which is able to 

engage in manufacturing coal mining equipment, coal mining, washing, preparation and processing, logistics and 

transportation as well as provision of system solution, with the advantages of whole industrial chain for coal. 

The advantages of the complete industrial chain of the Company can effectively expand the scopes of products 

and services, improve the Company’s capability in coal production and sales, and reinforce the Company’s risk 

resistance capability and core competitiveness.

In recent years, the Company has adhered to the established strategy and firmed confidence of development so 

as to expedite extension of coal business to coal chemical and coal power generation with a shift of development 

mode from scale and speed-oriented extensive growth model to the quality and efficiency-focused intensive model. 

Coal business has achieved scale development and innovative coal chemical has become a new growth driver. 

Power industry has also made new achievements while equipment industry has stayed ahead of the industry. 

Amidst the predicament of the industry, the Company has vigorously pushed forward quality enhancement, cost 

reduction and efficiency improvement so as to maintain a sound financial structure and enhance risk resistance 

capability, thus laying a solid foundation for sound and fast development of the Company in a new era.

III. COMpetItIve LAnDsCApe In tHe InDustry

In 2016, the supply-side structural reform and resolving overcapacity of coal industry entered into the execution 

phase. No radical changes were experienced in the fundamentals of the domestic coal industry and no remarkable 

increase was recorded in respect of the coal demand. Affected by various factors such as cutting overcapacity, 

reduced production, reduction in hydropower output and coal inventory replenishment, coal price rose more than 

expected in the second half of 2016, which was also a reasonable adjustment to the earlier excessively low coal 

price. According to the data from the National Bureau of Statistics, total nationwide coal output amounted to 

3.41 billion tonnes in 2016, down by 9.0% year-on-year. China National Coal Association estimated that the coal 

consumption of China in 2016 further decreased by 1.3% year-on-year after two consecutive years of decline. 

Bohai-Rim Steam-Coal Price Index was at an average of RMB460/tonne over the whole year of 2016, up by 7.7% 

year-on-year.
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From the perspective of policy guidance, when pushing forward the de-capacity and development of advanced 

capacity of coal industry, the government focuses on guiding and encouraging the optimisation and integration 

of coal resources with an aim to develop into the strong, excellent and big specialised coal enterprises by way of 

expediting the reform process of state-owned enterprises. From the perspective of industry level, the operating 

conditions of coal enterprises gradually improve, and the worst time when nearly the whole industry making 

losses has passed. From the perspective of coal enterprises, with more precise understanding for overcapacity, 

their enthusiasm and initiative towards de-capacity have enhanced. As de-capacity has been pushed on 

continuously, backward production capacity is gradually eliminated, and the coal enterprises are increasing their 

efforts on reform and renovation, transformation and upgrading. Meanwhile, resources of coal industry will 

hopefully flow into superior enterprises, thus concentration and specialisation of the industry will be gradually 

promoted, which will propel industrial structure to move towards medium and-high-end progressively.

The principal coal business of the Company has distinctive advantages with its leading coal mining technologies, 

washing and preparation techniques, production efficiency, cost control and marketing network in the industry. 

In 2016, by closely following market changes, the Company scheduled production plans scientifically, spared 

no efforts on quality and efficiency improvement, promoted reform and adjustment, and successfully realised 

the turnaround from loss to profit. Pingshuo Company, the major coal enterprise of the Company, possesses rich 

resource reserve with high coal production efficiency and convenient railway transportation. China Coal Huajin 

Company has stable quality of coking coal and enjoys an expanding customer base. Shanghai Energy Company is 

based on east China market, taking advantages of its own railway and inland water transport, and has established 

long-term cooperative relationships with key steel enterprises such as Baosteel and Shagang. By leveraging on its 

own advantages, the Company will vigorously participate in the consolidation of coal resource and firmly advance 

structure adjustment so as to become a clean energy supplier with relatively strong international competitiveness.

Iv. InDustry DeveLOpMent trenDs OF tHe BusIness OF tHe 
COMpAny

The year of 2017 is an important year for implementation of the “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan” as well as a year for 

intensification of the supply-side structural reform. From the long-term perspective:

the position of coal as the primary energy source will remain unchanged. Coal represents more than 90% 

of fossil energy resources of China, and is the most stable and economical energy source with the strongest 

independent security. China is still in a historical stage of speeding up industrialisation and urbanisation with 

room for growth in total energy demand. In view of the endowments and development stage of the energy resource 

of China, even though its proportion in primary energy consumption decreases, the position of coal as the primary 

energy source will remain unchanged in a fairly long period of time.

China will resolutely implement the policy of resolving overcapacity. According to the information published 

by relevant national authorities, China will never change its unrelenting determination and efforts on resolving 

overcapacity, and will achieve a new breakthrough in terms of both depth and breadth. In the meantime, in the 

progress of facilitating resolving overcapacity, China will increase the adoption of market-driven and legal binding 

measures, apply safety standards and will, by means of eliminating backward production capacity and raising the 

criteria for the determination of backward production capacity, gradually eliminate excessive production capacity.
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Coal price will fluctuate in a reasonable range. Currently, relevant national authorities have promulgated five 

major systems, including capacity reserve, reduction replacement and quota transaction, medium-and-long-term 

contracts, lowest and highest inventories, and a long-lasting mechanism for curbing exceptionally volatile 

coal price. During the practical application, the government will give full play of the dominant role of market 

regulation while enhancing market monitor and pricing guidance. The launches and implementation of such 

systems will effectively stimulate the progressive achievement of long-term and healthy development of coal 

industry.

v. prODuCtIOn AnD OperAtIOn pLAns OF tHe COMpAny In 2017

In 2016, the Company focused on the annual production and operation targets, strengthened the coordination 

between production and sales, rationalised production schedule, optimised product mix, enhanced product 

quality, vigorously reduced cost and improved efficiency and strived to maintain the stable running of production 

and operations. During the reporting period, the Company achieved commercial coal production volume of 

80.99 million tonnes and sales volume of self-produced commercial coal of 80.67 million tonnes, achieving the 

annual production and operation targets at a relatively satisfactory level. The Company recorded the operating 

revenue of more than RMB60.632 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.3%. The unit cost of sales 

of self-produced commercial coal fell by 8.8% year-on-year. The Company realised the turnaround from loss to 

profit and recorded the profit before income tax of RMB3.001 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 

RMB6.577 billion.

In 2017, the Company will stick to the general requirement of “quality improvement amid stability with reform 

and innovation”, continue to promote the structural adjustment and improve the quality of development. The 

Company will focus on “cutting overcapacity, destocking, deleveraging, reducing costs, and remedying the 

weakness”, vigorously improve quality and efficiency to increase the earnings level. On the premise that there will 

not be material changes to the markets, production volumes and the sales volumes of self-produced commercial 

coal, polyolefin products and urea are planned to be 80 million tonnes, 1 million tonnes and 1.85 million tonnes 

respectively for 2017. The Company will strive to achieve a growth in operating revenue of more than 10% 

year-on-year, strive to maintain the unit cost of sales of self-produced commercial coal calculated on the same 

calibre basis at the same level of 2016. In addition, the Company will continue to exercise strict control on the 

expenses and make efforts to realise stable profit increase.

Firstly, the Company will continue to optimise the distribution of production and organise production in a 

scientific manner. The Company will reinforce connection among production, transportation and marketing, adjust 

marketing strategy flexibly, and endeavour to enhance the profitability of sales.

Secondly, the Company will strictly fulfil production safety responsibility, make great efforts in prevention 

for major disasters and strengthen on-site safety management. The Company will continuously improve safety 

assurance ability and ensure safety production.

Thirdly, the Company will strengthen management and control on budget execution, and strictly carry out targeted 

budget management, process control and performance assessment. The Company will strengthen its ability to 

improve quality and efficiency so as to comprehensively promote the operational quality.

Fourthly, the Company will deepen internal reform, and strive to develop in leaner and healthier manner for 

stimulating its new vitality.
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Fifthly, the Company will speed up the structural adjustment, and promote steadily the construction of key 

projects. The Company will facilitate the industrial upgrade, achieve towards medium-to-high-end target, and 

realise transformation development.

Sixthly, the Company will promote innovation and development, and will give better play of the support and 

protection functions of technological innovations.

Seventhly, the Company will continuously standardise corporate management, and focus on significant risk 

prevention and control so as to ensure stable development.

Due to the slowdown in current economic growth rate and great fluctuation in the coal market, actual 

implementation of the above operation plans may be subject to adjustments according to the actual circumstances 

of the Company. Thus, the operation plans disclosed herein would not constitute any commitment to results to 

investors by the Company. Investors should be informed and aware of risk in this connection.

vI. envIrOnMentAL pOLICIes AnD perFOrMAnCe

By carefully implementing national laws, regulations and policies on resource conservation and environmental 

protection, the Company has continued to practise the core vision of “Green China Coal and Cares for the 

Nature”. The Company has insisted on green strategies, relied on green technology, led by green culture, 

and pursued scientific exploration and mining, efficient usage of resources, clean production techniques, and 

ecological environment protection in the mining areas. As a result, the energy conservation, environmental 

protection and the construction of “Green China Coal” have obtained new achievements.

Building green mines. The Company has actively enhanced various green mining technologies in respect of 

preserving water resources while mining, mining without coal pillars and semi-continuous manufacturing, to 

achieve exploiting coal resources to its fullest extent according to the coal mining conditions. The Company has 

also optimised washing, preparation and processing, of which raw coal washing ratio has reached 100%, as well 

as decreased the coal’s ash content and sulphur content to provide clean coal products. By positively capitalising 

on comprehensive resources and strengthening ecological restoration in the mining areas, the Company has 

facilitated all-win harmonious development with local enterprises. In 2016, the Company’s recovery rate of 

mining area of coal mine, integrated energy consumption of raw coal, and integrated utilisation rate of coal 

gangue and mine water reached the leading level in the industry.

Advancing construction of green coal chemical projects. According to the requirements of industrialisation, 

intensification and circulation, the construction of new coal chemical projects such as for coal-based methanol, 

olefin, synthetic ammonia and urea, has finalised. The Company built water pipeline project for mine water in 

the Ordos base and utilised mine water as process water of the coal chemicals to mitigate the water shortage 

problem of the chemical enterprises. Through wastewater advanced treatment for its coal chemicals, Ordos 

Energy Chemical Company achieved “zero emission”, thus providing valuable experience for the development of 

coal chemicals in the water shortage areas and ecological vulnerable areas. By vigorously implementing energy 

optimising solutions, the Company maximised recovery of all kinds of by-products and residue gas, heat and 

pressure with great efforts to reduce pollutant emission and improve the energy conversion rate.
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Developing green electricity. New coal fired power plants were designed and built pursuant to the ultralow 

emission standards, which significantly facilitated upgrades and renovations of environmental protection 

equipment of the existing power plants that were subject to the national and local emission requirements, as well 

as greatly improved the renovation project of boiler flue gas of power plants of China Coal Energy Heilongjiang 

Chemical Company.

Promoting green manufacturing. In respect of coal mining machinery equipment manufacturing segment, the 

Company actively adopted advanced manufacturing technology such as, among others, digital manufacturing, 

high-speed cutting, rapid prototyping, for green manufacturing development, gave priority to materials and 

resources for its process plan and processing technique with lower energy consumption, less waste, lower noise 

and less pollution to the environment, and also focused on developing remanufacturing industry to create a 

green brand for the coal mining equipment with lower energy consumption, environmental protection and high 

efficiency.

vII. COMpLIAnCe wItH LAws AnD reguLAtIOns

During 2016, as far as the Directors were aware, the Group did not fail to comply with any relevant laws and 

regulations which may have a significant impact on the Group.

vIII. reLAtIOnsHIp wItH eMpLOyees, suppLIers AnD CustOMers

Committed to realising the sustainable development target of “optimising the comprehensive value of economy, 

society and environment”, the Group implements a strategy for chasing harmonious development, creating value 

for employees and customers and maintaining good relationship with suppliers. The Group recognises that 

the development of employees is the key assurance of sustainable evolution of the Company. Realisation and 

enhancement of their value would enable the achievement of the Group’s overall target. Therefore, suggestions 

and opinions of our staff and staff representatives are heard by the Group via various channels, such as employees’ 

representative conference, employee satisfaction surveys and forums so and so forth, which enables the Group 

to offer occupation training, better working environment and conditions, and provide long-term career prospects 

correspondingly. The Group attaches high importance to supplier selection, and intends to establish a long-term 

partnership with high-quality suppliers who will be selected through open tendering or working conferences at 

arm’s length and for mutual benefit. In order to strengthen the Group’s core competitiveness, the Group upholds 

a “customer-centric, market-oriented” marketing concept, and keeps itself informed of customers’ needs instantly 

through service hotline, after-sale service, seminars and regular visits, thus providing qualified and personalised 

products and services to customers. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any substantial 

or significant disputes with its suppliers and/or customers.



39ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Capital Expenditure

I. perFOrMAnCe OF CApItAL eXpenDIture BuDgeteD FOr 2016

The Company’s capital expenditure budgeted for 2016 focused mainly on principal operations including coal, 

coal chemical and power generation. The coal segment primarily included large-scale coal mine extension 

construction projects such as Xiaohuigou Coal Mine and Yilan No. 3 Coal Mine and the capacity replacement 

plans for Muduchaideng Coal Mine, Nalin River No. 2 Coal Mine and Dahaize Coal Mine were approved by the 

NDRC. The coal chemical segment primarily included coal chemical extension projects such as Mengda 500,000 

tonnes/year Engineering Plastics Project for the structural reform as well as transformation and upgrade of the 

Company. The power generation segment primarily included approved power plants extension projects such as 

Pingshuo 2×660MW low calorific value coal power project, Datun 2×350MW “building large-scale ones and 

decommissioning small-scale ones” thermal power project and the second power plant located in the north of 

Wucai Bay, Zhundong, Xinjiang for the structural reform as well as transformation and upgrade of the Company. 

With the completion of a series of large-scale coal chemical projects and commencement of construction of large-

scale and modern power plants in succession, the industrial structure of the Company has been further optimised.

Focusing on principal operations including coal, coal chemical, coal mining equipment and power generation, 

the Company’s capital expenditure for 2016 was budgeted at RMB13.87 billion, of which RMB10.42 billion or 

75.13% was invested during the reporting period.

performance of Capital expenditure Budgeted for 2016 (By Item)

Unit: RMB100 million

Items of capital expenditure

Budgeted 
investment 

in 2016

Actual 

investment 

in 2016

Actual 

investment 

ratio (%)

Total 138.70 104.20 75.13

Infrastructure projects 106.55 80.18 75.25

Equity investment 16.87 15.57 92.29

Acquisition and maintenance of fixed assets 15.28 8.45 55.30

performance of Capital expenditure Budgeted for 2016 (By Business segments)

Unit: RMB100 million

Business segments

Budgeted 
investment 

in 2016

Actual 

investment 

in 2016

Actual 

investment 

ratio (%)

Total 138.70 104.20 75.13

Coal 72.17 57.74 80.01

Coal chemical 25.04 22.19 88.60

Coal mining equipment 0.49 1.15 234.69

Power generation 40.75 23.02 56.49

Others 0.25 0.10 40.00
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In 2016, the Company’s external equity investment was RMB1.557 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease 

of RMB643 million or 29.23%, among which contribution of RMB613 million for capital increase in Zhongtian 

Synergetic Company was made in proportion to shareholding of each Shareholder; an amount of RMB694 million 

was paid for the acquisition of 45% equity interests in Shanxi Xiaohuigou Coal Industry Company Limited. The 

abovementioned two acquisitions were financed through self-owned funds.

II. ArrAngeMent FOr CApItAL eXpenDIture In 2017

In line with the keynote of “seeking progress in stability” put forward by the Central Economic Work Conference 

and the general layout of the “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan” of the Company, the Company will adhere to the 

overall working principles of “quality improvement amid stability with reform and innovation” with respect to its 

capital expenditure plan in 2017. Furthermore, the Company will pay close attention to economic situation and 

industry development trends, in particular, state policies with respect to coal mines reduction replacement and the 

orderly development of coal power projects. The Company diverts its investment primarily to coal, coal chemical 

and power generation industries which are conducive to the structural adjustment as well as transformation and 

upgrading of the Company with reference to the current financial position as well as financing capabilities of 

the Company and in accordance with the principle of “keeping expenses within its income, being stringent and 

tightened, observing laws and regulations and highlighting priorities”. Where permitted by government policy, 

the coal segment will give priority to Xiaohuigou Coal Mine, Yilan No. 3 Coal Mine and other coal mining 

extension construction projects. The coal chemical segment will give priority to finalising large-scale coal 

chemical projects in progress such as Mengda 500,000 tonnes/year Engineering Plastics Project. Meanwhile, the 

Company will reinforce the existing coal chemical projects already put into production as soon as practicable. 

The power generation segment will give priority to the approved power plants extension construction projects 

such as Pingshuo 2×660MW low calorific value coal power project, Datun 2×350MW “building large-scale ones 

and decommissioning small-scale ones” thermal power project and the second power plant located in the north of 

Wucai Bay, Zhundong, Xinjiang.

The Company’s capital expenditure budgeted for 2017 is RMB15.215 billion, representing an increase of 

RMB1.345 billion or 9.7% compared with that of 2016. Out of the capital expenditure budget stated above, 

RMB12.537 billion will be invested in infrastructure projects (including expenditure of RMB86 million for 

preliminary works of the projects); RMB1.313 billion will be invested in the acquisition of fixed assets, small 

scale construction, renovation and maintenance and RMB1.366 billion will be utilised in equity investment.
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Set out below is the capital expenditure budget by business segment:

Unit: RMB100 million

Business segment

Budgeted
investment 

in 2017

Actual 

investment 

in 2016

Increase/decrease 

in capital 

expenditure 

budget in 2017 

compared with 

actual investment 

in 2016 (%)

Percentage 

of total (%)

Total 152.15 104.20 46.02 100.00

Coal 70.14 57.74 21.48 46.10

Coal chemical 23.93 22.19 7.84 15.73

Coal mining equipment 1.10 1.15 -4.35 0.72

Power generation 56.98 23.02 147.52 37.45

Other 0 0.10 -100 0

The major equity investment projects for 2017 includes the contribution for capital increase in Zhongtian 

Synergetic Company, the amount paid for the consolidation of small scale coal mines within Pingshuo East Open 

Pit Mine, final payment for the acquisition of equity in Muduchaideng Coal Mine, contribution to the investment 

in the second power plant located in the north of Wucai Bay, Zhundong, Xinjiang, etc.

In 2017, the Company will arrange reasonable scale and pace of debt financing according to the needs of 

production and operation, and the budgeted capital expenditure. Detailed arrangements will be made with 

reference to the actual condition of the Company.

According to the development plan and objectives of the Company, the budgeted capital expenditure may be 

subject to changes in line with the Company’s business development (including potential acquisitions), the 

progress of the investment projects, the change in market conditions and the status of obtaining the required 

government approvals and regulatory documents. The Company will make disclosures in a timely manner in 

accordance with the requirements of the regulatory authorities and the stock exchanges.

III. COrpOrAte DeveLOpMent strAtegy

Under the new normal of national economic and energy development, the Company will unswervingly adhere to 

its development philosophy, precisely capture opportunities, and actively respond to challenges so as to expand 

industry advantages and offset its shortcomings in development. Leveraging on the development layout of the 

“Thirteenth Five-Year Plan”, the Company has defined its strategic vision as well as the development strategies 

and goals for the next 5 years:

strategic vision: The Company will aim to build up its position as a clean energy supplier with relatively strong 

international competitiveness. The Company will also strive to become a leader in green and safe production, a 

fugleman of clean and highly-efficient utilisation and a provider of quality services, and to maximise the interests 

of enterprise and the employees, the Shareholders and the society.
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Development Ideas for the next 5 years: According to requirements for provider of clean energy of being 

market-oriented and focusing on optimising efficiency, the Company will strive to establish a new circular 

economic business line for coal, power and chemical, and to build a new regional layout of “full function, 

customised differentiation and complementary advantages” to deal with the critical relationships between 

short-term and long-term, reform and stability, as well as management control and vitality. The Company will 

be committed to making a good job on 5 key tasks which include safety and stability, quality and efficiency 

improvement, transforming and upgrading, reforming and adjusting, as well as consolidating the foundation. The 

Company will consciously implement the 5 key development concepts of making innovation, coordination, green, 

open and sharing.

Coal Industry: The Company will focus on promoting clean and efficient development of coal. The Company 

will vigorously promote the construction of integrated projects of coal, electricity and chemical to enhance the 

coal production efficiency and to increase the on-site transforming ratio of coal and to highlight the economy 

of scale and intensive development. By leveraging on elements including the richness of coal resources, market 

location and environmental capacity, the Company will focus on developing the large-scale coal bases in Inner 

Mongolia-Shaanxi and Shanxi, etc. with differentiation so as to fully realise the transformation from speed and 

scale-oriented mode to quality and efficiency-based mode.

Coal Chemical Industry: The Company will adopt the most advanced coal gasification technology and 

environmental energy saving standard to construct the large-scale coal chemical bases in Inner Mongolia-Shaanxi 

and Shanxi, etc. The Company will steadily promote the upgrading model projects of coal-based new materials, 

chemical fertiliser and new energy, strictly control the energy consumption, water consumption and emission 

of pollutants, so as to cluster the project, expand the production scale and refine the products. The Company 

will increase the standard of multi-production and added-value of coal-based products so as to realise the 

transformation from traditional coal chemical to modern refined coal chemical.

power generation Industry: Focusing on the construction of the nine 10-million-kilowatts large-scale coal 

power generation bases in Ordos, north Shanxi, north Shaanxi and Zhundong, etc., and fully integrating with the 

resources, environmental capacity and power transmission channels in the coal mining areas, the Company will 

adopt the most advanced power-saving, water-saving and environmental-friendly electricity generation techniques 

and construct the large-scale mine mouth coal fired power plants and low calorific value coal power plants in 

Shanxi, Xinjiang and Jiangsu, etc., so as to enhance the value chain of the coal-electricity industry and to achieve 

integrated and synergetic development of coal and electricity.

Coal equipment Manufacturing Industry: By grasping the strategic opportunity of international resource 

cooperation and reacting to the “Made-in-China 2025 Strategic Plan”, the Company will further deepen the 

reform on the management system and adhere to its technological innovation and technical cooperation. Besides, 

it will also focus on boosting in-depth integration of equipment manufacturing with new information technology 

including IOT, big data and cloud computing, etc. The Company will promote big scale, high-end and smart 

equipment manufacturing, strengthen its technology reserve and research and development of products and in turn 

procure the localisation of leading technology and equipment and the internalisation of significant technology and 

equipment in respect of coal mines. The Company will seek to speed up the equipment manufacturing in a move 

to make transformation from a production-oriented mode into production-and-service-oriented mode and to turn 

itself into an equipment manufacturing service provider with relatively strong international competitiveness.
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the Future 5-year Development goal: To fundamentally complete the structure adjustment through a series 

of enhancement, adjustment, transformations and upgrades, to make the regional layout more harmonised, the 

industrial synergetic effects more remarkable, the results arising from service transformation outstanding, the 

corporate management more scientific and reasonable, the Company will further improve the comprehensive 

economic power, the sustainable development capability and the innovation initiatives of the employees; and 

to lay down a solid foundation for the Company to become a clean energy supplier with relatively strong 

international competitiveness.
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In 2016, China Coal Energy persisted in conducting problem-oriented and creation-driven technological innovation 
that focused on actual effects. The Company gained new achievements in critical technology development, on-the-
job innovation and benefits creation, and cultivation of R&D capability, which made active contributions to safety 
production, quality and efficiency improvement, transformation and upgrading.

I. new r&D BreAktHrOugHs In key teCHnOLOgIes

During 2016, the “Demonstration Project of Key Technology Innovation and Industrialisation for Fully 
Mechanised Longwall Mining with Annual Output of 10 Million Tonnes”, a low-carbon technology innovation 
and industrialisation demonstration project of the NDRC undertaken by China Coal Energy, passed acceptance 
inspection. The project facilitated the construction of the model digitalised coal mine of “one shaft and one 
working face” with annual production of 10 million tonnes, setting a good example for China’s coal industry 
to develop towards the energy-saving, green and low-carbon direction. The “Development and Application of 
Fully Automatic Plough Mining Face Equipment”, a subject of the National 863 Programme which the Company 
undertook, passed acceptance inspection, achieved breakthroughs in a number of remote control technologies, and 
improved equipment automation and intelligence level.

Complete fully mechanised mining equipment for thin coal seam, automatic low height roadheader and 
ultralow auxiliary equipment were developed by the Company in its key technological project “Development 
and Application of Technology and Complete Equipment in Thin Coal Seam Mining”, and were promoted and 
applied in several coal mines in China. “Technology Research on Long Period Stable and Optimised Operation 
for BGL Gasification Unit” project achieved the single furnace continuous operation cycle of 186 days, reaching 
an international leading level, and was the first to pass the 72-hour performance assessment among its peers. 
The Company successfully developed, promoted and applied the coal chemical gasification wastewater treatment 
technology, built the automated, refined and visualised intelligent control platform for coal-to-olefin production 
process, and achieved the overall leading technology in China.

The Company promoted the transformation of its equipment product development toward the “heavy-duty, high-
end, intelligent and international” direction, and continued to develop new products in accordance with the 
requirement of “replacing operators by mechanisation and downsizing employees by automation” of the coal 
industry. The Company successfully developed new important coal machineries such as the intelligent AFC 
system with maximum power in China and intelligent powered hydraulic roof support with 8.8m mining height 
in the world, and launched them into market. Key parts for our self-developed equipment such as 1,000KW gear 
box, fluid coupling, large-size chain for mining, high power mining motor and high-end shearer arm have been 
substituted with parts made in China.

II. InItIAL suCCess In InnOvAtIOn AnD entrepreneursHIp 
ACtIvItIes

During 2016, the Company focused on eliminating losses, overcoming difficulties, increasing quality and 
efficiency, and constantly stimulating the employees’ vitality and potential of innovation and entrepreneurship 
based on their positions. The Company held forums on innovation and entrepreneurship, implemented the 
“Guidance on Further Promotion of Mass Innovation and Public Entrepreneurship of China Coal Group”, and 
encouraged subsidiaries to actively explore and establish new distinctive mechanisms which promoted the further 
development of innovation and entrepreneurship activities. The new practices, new modes and new experiences 
accumulated in the activities were effectively strengthened and promoted. The Company completed a total of 
55 grassroots innovation studios, including 1 national skill master studio and 10 skill master studios in the coal 
industry, effectively promoting more precise coupling of on-the-job innovation and entrepreneurship to the 
enterprise and site demand, and forming the lively situation of “all striving to be innovators”.
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In view of technical bottlenecks and problems in the front-line production process, the Company organised and 

developed various forms of on-site technical innovation activities which focused on solving the problems faced by 

different posts, and carried out and promoted over 700 “five small” technological projects and results, achieving 

significant safety and economic benefits. In particular, the results such as the automatic telescopic safety 

protection device on stage loader and the protective cover for lemniscate bars of powered support effectively 

safeguarded the safety of site operation personnel, the framework circle wind solar hybrid street light was 

awarded the third prize of the enterprise-group of the 2016 “China Innovator” innovation and entrepreneurship 

competition, thus exploring new business areas for the Company, the “Proposal of diesel exhaust emission 

for MH-40 multi-functional underground carrier”, which effectively safeguarded the health of underground 

operation workers, won the Outstanding Employee Technical Innovation Award of the All-China Federation of 

Trade Union. Through organising innovation and entrepreneurship activities, the Company set up an innovation 

and entrepreneurship platform focusing on its principal businesses and leading products, which accelerated the 

enhancement of innovation capability and efficiency of the Company, promoted the product structure adjustment 

and technology upgrading, speeded up the transformation, application and promotion of technology achievements, 

and effectively promoted the cost reduction, efficiency improvement and innovative development of the Company.

III. new prOgress In IMprOvIng r&D CApABILIty

During 2016, the National Energy Coal Mining Equipment R&D Centre of the Company established a centralised 

control system simulation platform for coal mining working face, representing new progress achieved in 

improving R&D capability. China Coal Zhangjiakou Coal Mining Machinery Company was recognised as 

a “National Technology Innovation Demonstration Enterprise” by the Ministry of Industry and Information 

Technology of China and became one of the only two enterprises obtaining this approval in the coal industry. All 

national and provincial research and development institutions of the Company passed annual reviews, and with 

the research institutions’ development of the key core technology as the lead, the breakthrough of the production 

line research by the grass-roots employee innovation studio as its base, specialised maker space as main body of 

result incubator, and the strategic cooperation of industry-university-research as its support, the Company has 

built the technological innovation system with the unique characteristics of China Coal Energy which combines 

independent innovation, collaborative innovation and mass technical innovation in one, which further improved 

the innovation capability.”The Proposal for Industrial Transformation, Upgrading and Technological Innovation 

of the Equipment Sector in the ‘Thirteenth Five-Year Plan’” was prepared and completed by the Company, which 

has instructive significance in guiding and promoting the transformation and upgrading of the equipment industry.

During 2016, the Company achieved a number of new high-level key technological achievements, and obtained 

14 technology progress awards both in industrial and provincial levels. In particular, two achievements including 

the Coal Mining Mode and Practice in Super Large Open-Cast and Underground Coal Mining in Pingshuo Mining 

Area were awarded the first prize of Science and Technology Award by China National Coal Association, and the 

Research and Application of Unmanned Intelligent Coal Mining Technology and Equipment for Medium-Thick 

Coal Seam was awarded the first prize of the Science and Technology Progress Award of Shaanxi Province. The 

Company was granted 190 new patents (including 45 invention patents), as a result, the competitiveness of the 

Company’s core technologies was further enhanced.
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In 2016, under the principle of “openness, fairness and impartiality”, and with an aim of strengthening the maintenance 

of investor relations and enhancing corporate governance, China Coal Energy kept frank and sufficient communications 

with its domestic and overseas investors as well as industry analysts through various channels including presentations 

of results, non-deal road-shows, investment forums, routine visits and telephone conferences, and held 108 investor 

meetings of various kinds with 1,092 attendees in total. These activities included 13 presentations of annual results and 

road-show meetings with 404 attendees, 68 day-to-day receptions of investor visits and telephone conferences with 309 

participants and attendees, and 15 forums organised by domestic and overseas securities firms with 27 meetings and 379 

attendees.

I. H O L D I n g  p r e s e n tAt I O n s  O F  r e s u Lt s  A n D  r e s u Lt s 
rOADsHOws, AnD ACHIevIng suFFICIent COMMunICAtIOn 
wItH CApItAL MArket

The Company’s management attended the press conference and presentation of 2015 H Shares annual results 

in person, delivered a detailed briefing about the latest business results of the Company to the media and 

coal industry analysts, patiently answered the questions raised by investors, and achieved positive effects of 

communication. After the presentation of results, the Company held non-deal road-shows, visited important 

shareholders and potential institutional investors, discussed with them on key issues including the domestic 

macro economy and the trend of coal industry, which helped to deepen the investors’ understanding towards the 

Company. The Company insisted on holding routine telephone briefings upon the release of the 2016 A Shares 

first quarterly report, the 2016 A Shares/H Shares interim report and the 2016 A Shares third quarterly report, 

introduced the Company’s production and operation situations in 2016 to online investors at home and aboard, 

and timely responded to their main concerns.

II. AttACHIng greAt IMpOrtAnCe tO COMMunICAtIOns wItH 
InstItutIOnAL InvestOrs, AnD estABLIsHIng sMOOtH 
COMMunICAtIOn CHAnneL

The Company adhered to the practice of receiving investors on every Tuesday and Thursday, arranged the 

reception of investor’s on-site visits, answered visitors’ queries earnestly and candidly, carefully explained 

the operation situation, development prospects and future plans of the Company, which greatly enhanced the 

understanding of capital market towards the Company. The Company actively participated in various investment 

forums held by investment banks and security companies at home and abroad, communicated with numerous 

investors with respect to, among others, the national macroeconomic trend, industry outlook and corporate 

operational fundamentals in a timely and efficient way.

III. OrgAnIsIng reverse rOAD-sHOw AnD strengtHenIng 
InvestMent COnFIDenCe OF InvestOrs

The Company organised important Shareholders to visit Shanxi Pingshuo coal production base and coal chemical 

projects in Inner Mongolia-Shaanxi base, demonstrated the achievements that the Company had made promptly in 

response to the profound adjustments, transformations and upgradings in the coal industry. Through interactions, 

communications and field researches, the Company strengthened the understanding of important Shareholders 

towards the production and operation aspects of China Coal Energy’s coal production and coal chemical projects, 

further solidifying their confidence of investing in the Company.
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vI. FOCusIng On tHe COLLeCtIOn OF MArket OpInIOns AnD 
suggestIOns, AnD prOvIDIng tHe COMpAny wItH FeeDBACk 
In A tIMeLy MAnner

On the basis of building up extensive communication with investors, the Company focused on enhancing the 

dynamic tracking of share price valuation, analysts’ reports and media comments, while tracing and analysing hot 

topics in the capital market, and advising the Company’s management with the responses of the capital market 

in a timely manner to facilitate their decision-making. The Company earnestly arranged the Q&A session in the 

general meeting so that the voices of minority Shareholders were understood and Shareholders’ opinions and 

suggestions could be adopted reasonably. Following the disclosure of the Company’s results, the Company carried 

out investor surveys, actively enquired the views and comments of coal industry analysts on the Company’s 

operation results, information disclosure and investor relations management, and solicited suggestions from the 

capital market for the Company’s business development.

v. s t r e n g t H e n I n g  t H e  AwA r e n e s s  O F  s e r v I n g  t H e 
s H A r e H O L D e r s ,  A n D e n s u r I n g  A s M O Ot H I n v e s tO r s 
COMMunICAtIOn pLAtFOrM

Investor relations column which has been established on the Company’s website not only provides statutory 

information disclosure contents such as annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and announcements of 

major events, but also voluntarily discloses monthly productive and operational data so as to satisfy the needs of 

investors as much as possible. Through the E-interactive Platform of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, the Company 

continued to respond to the public about their questions related to the Company’s development strategies, business 

operations, etc., and strived to uplift the coverage and effectiveness of the communication with investors. The 

Company also appointed dedicated staff to answer the calls from the investor hotline and to deal with emails and 

faxes, provided minority investors with timely reply, so as to effectively safeguard their legitimate rights and 

interests.

Looking forward, China Coal Energy will continue to improve its investor relations management mechanism, 

further enhance the quality of investor communication, and look forward to obtaining more support and attention 

from investors.
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I. sAFe prODuCtIOn

In 2016, the Company strictly complied with the national regulatory requirements and policies on production 

safety. The Company highlighted key control areas, paid great attention to major disaster prevention and control, 

reinforced safety fundamentals, intensified the commitment of responsibility and rigidly executed safety 

supervision, as a result, the situation of production safety maintained stable.

Firstly, further implementing safety accountability. With a view to implementing the safety production 

responsibility system, responsibility undertakings were signed at each level to devolve and implement 

safety accountability, and safety regulatory bureau officer regular meetings were held to supervise and urge 

the implementation of every safety work by every respective enterprise and every department. The safety 

responsibility mechanism and safety management system were constantly improved to explicitly point out the key 

points and responsibilities of the Company, subsidiaries, plants, mines, and working teams in respect of safety 

control. The Company established Coal Chemical Safety Supervision Bureau, and gradually improved the coal 

chemical safety management system. Assessments under the production safety accountability system and safety 

management were conducted on the persons in charge of 11 enterprises so as to facilitate the implementation of 

safety responsibilities.

secondly, constantly enhancing safety risk control efforts. The Company organised its subsidiaries, mines and 

plants to prepare safety risk reports so as to timely identify various medium and high safety risks, of which high 

safety risks were labelled and urged to be tackled. Monthly scheduling and tracking were carried out regarding 

safety risk control and monthly production safety video conferences were held to report the implementation of 

major safety work. Special attention was paid to the supervision and examination on mines and coal chemical 

plants with high safety risks. Professional technicians were organised to offer on-site supervision and guidance 

during the operation of high risky projects.

thirdly, constantly strengthening safety quality standardisation construction. The Company formulated 

a safety quality standardisation plan, which was included in the assessment of the enterprise leader safety 

management. The Company advanced a new scheme of standardisation construction and issued the “Guidance 

on Refined and Programmed Management on Safety Quality”, in order to lead its standardisation work towards 

a higher level. The Company convened the meeting to push forward the production safety standardisation 

construction of coal chemical enterprises, in a bid to further promote the production safety standardisation work 

of coal chemical enterprises. 10 enterprises achieved the standards for a safety assured enterprise and super safe 

quality standardisation and 12 coal mines were named as the “National First-Level Safety Quality Standardised 

Coal Mines for 2015”.
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Fourthly, persistently strengthening safety supervision and inspection. Safety risk and potential hazard 

analysis meetings were held to identify timely any material risk or potential hazard existing in enterprises, and 

to supervise and urge enterprises in carrying out preventive and control measures, rectification scheduling and 

tracking. In respect of key periods as well as special events including “March Safety Warnings”, “Production 

Safety Month” and “100-day Safety”, the Company set up a production safety inspection team to ensure 

incessant safety inspections. Besides, the Company carried out, by means of self inspections, cross inspections 

and the Company’s random inspections, “one ventilation and three preventions” and special inspections for 

water prevention and control, anti-dropping of mine shafts, leakage prevention of coal chemical enterprises, and 

effectively eliminated potential safety risks.

Fifthly, further improving safety guarantee capability. By holding production safety training courses for mine 

managers in charge of mining production, safety and technology, the Company enhanced its safety education and 

further improved the quality of employees. To enhance the management of external contractors, the Company 

counted turnover of external contractors of respective enterprises quarterly, and supervised and inspected 

the management of external contractors of respective enterprises through routine safety inspections, special 

inspections and safety appraisals. The Company amended its production emergency response plans and carried 

out coal chemical accident emergency drills. The Company applied for approval on its state-level hazardous 

chemicals emergency rescue base construction programme and received the government’s financial support. In 

the Second Session of the National Hazardous Chemicals Rescue Technology Competition, China Coal Shaanxi 

Company delivered excellent performance and won a teamwork excellence prize and a second prize in individual 

competition.

II. OCCupAtIOnAL HeALtH

Adhering persistently to the occupational hazard prevention and control principles of “people-oriented approach, 

prevention first, and comprehensive treatment”, the Company has improved its prevention and control system in 

an ongoing manner, strengthened training and education, secured capital investment and reinforced supervision 

and inspection, and as a result, the Company’s occupational health work has been running effectively in 

accordance with relevant laws and regulations. Firstly, the Company optimised the construction of occupational 

health management system. The Company regularly analysed and assessed the hazardous elements to occupational 

health, amended the management system and measures for prevention and control of occupational hazards in time, 

implemented the responsibilities of the subjects who were accountable for prevention and control of occupational 

diseases, and improved the occupational health management. Secondly, the Company carried out in-depth 

retraining and reeducation on occupational health and safety. The Company adopted various ways and means to 

enhance the effectiveness of such training and education, and unceasingly stimulated the self-protection awareness 

of its employees, so as to prevent and avoid occupational hazards from the source and reach for intrinsic safety. 

Thirdly, the Company continued to increase capital investment in occupational health. The Company disbursed 

enough special funds for prevention and control of occupational hazards from safety expenditures, which were 

utilised to fund employees’ medical examination, occupational health promotion, education and training, and 

prevention and control of hazardous elements to occupational health, in a bid to minimise occupational injuries. 

Fourthly, the Company enhanced supervisions and inspections on occupational health. The Company enhanced 

on-site management of and control over construction projects, conducted regular inspections and monitoring, 

publicised hazardous elements to occupational health, and, in respect of unacceptable items, urged rectifications 

within a specified period of time, in order to build a good and safe working environment for all working staff.
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III. envIrOnMentAL prOteCtIOn

In 2016, the Company seriously implemented national laws and regulations on energy conservation and 

environmental protection, strictly complied with the policy requirements imposed by relevant national 

ministries on energy conservation and environmental protection, improved the mechanism of the working 

system, strengthened the efficiency of energy conservation and cost reduction, and highlighted the control 

of environmental protection risks, thus obtained positive results in the course of energy conservation and 

environmental protection. The Company achieved the annual control goals in regard to integrated energy 

consumption per RMB10,000 production output, emission of sulphur dioxide, chemical oxygen demand and 

NOx, and didn’t record any larger environmental incidents throughout the year 2016. Remarkably, Ordos Energy 

Chemical Company, the Company’s subsidiary, was awarded with the 2016 China CSR “Green Award”.

Firstly, the Company strengthened control over the goal regarding energy conservation and environmental 
protection. The Company devolved its environmental protection assessment targets level by level and had 

responsibility undertakings signed at each level. The Company reinforced analysis and monitoring, urged the 

related enterprises to consummate the statistical ledgers, enhanced online monitoring over pollutant sources and 

energy consumption measuring instruments, improved the informatisation level of statistics, and ensured the 

timeliness, completeness, and reliability of data. The Company strengthened daily supervision and inspection, and 

strictly implemented the assessment of rewards and punishments.

secondly, the Company enhanced environmental protection management over the whole process of 
construction projects in accordance with laws. The Company enhanced the control over sources, and made strict 

environmental impact assessments for construction projects in accordance with laws and regulations and standard 

requirements regarding environmental protection. Environmental protection measures were strictly carried out, 

and the environmental protection facilities were designed, constructed, and put into production simultaneously 

with the main construction. The Company strengthened acceptance management over environmental protection, 

and obtained the completion acceptances for environmental protection facilities of Pingshuo East Open Pit 

Mine, the coal-based synthetic ammonia and urea projects of Ordos Energy Chemical Company and the coal-

based methanol project of China Coal Yuanxing Company. The Company strengthened operation management of 

environmental protection facilities, and basically met the emission reduction targets in full with regard to major 

pollutant sources and pollutants. In 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries paid in total aggregated sewage charge 

of RMB51.06 million.

thirdly, the Company accelerated the upgrading and reconstruction of energy conservation and 
environmental protection. The Company focused on boosting the improvement of energy conservation 

technologies of coal chemical enterprises, reducing unit energy consumption of products, and enhancing market 

competitiveness. Ordos Energy Chemical Company implemented the energy conservation-oriented reconstruction 

to recycle liquid nitrogen exhaust gas, and approximately 30,000 tonnes of standard coal could be saved each 

year. Shaanxi Company implemented the project to recycle polyethylene device exhaust, and 1,500 tonnes of 

standard coal could be saved each year. The Company accelerated the promotion of environmental protection-

oriented upgrading and reconstruction. In particular, Pingshuo Company completed the sealing reconstruction 

for all of its coal storage yards, and effectively controlled dust pollution in the mining areas; Shaanxi Company 

deployed advanced technologies in industrial waste gas treatment, the sulphur recovery rate could reach 99.8%, 

and the emission concentration of industrial sulphur dioxide could be far lower than national standards. China 
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Coal Huajin Company established an underground water treatment and reuse system in shafts of Wangjialing 

Coal Mine, and water drained away from the shafts could all be reused, not only solving the problem of pollution 

caused by coal slime treatment on the ground, but also saving water resources.

Fourthly, the Company continued to push forward the ecological management and water-soil conservation 
in mining areas. According to the characteristics of the ecology of respective corporate regions, the Company 

conducted focused and step-by-step treatment of subsidence areas, integrated renovation of waste dumps 

and water-soil conservation in order to protect and improve the regional ecology, promote harmony between 

corporates and the regions, and create a win-win situation for ecology and development. During 2016, Pingshuo 

Company realised forest coverage of approximately 30,000 m2, and reclamation area of 1,600 mu in open pit 

mines; and implemented the water-soil conservation projects for the northern waste dump of Pingshuo East Open 

Pit Mine and the gullies around Antaibao No. 4 internal discharge shaft. Enterprises like China Coal Huajin 

Company, in strict accordance with the national standards and design specifications, bulldozed, compacted, 

earthed and afforested gangue fields and cinder yards, so as to effectively protect the ecology environment and 

prevent water and soil losses.

Fifthly, the Company launched management initiatives against carbon emission. In accordance with the 

Notice on Making Key Preparations for Starting the National Carbon Emissions Trading Market issued by the 

NDRC, the Company led its affiliated electric power enterprises and chemical enterprises in cooperating with 

local government in carbon emission-based accounting and inspection. The Company organised twice large 

scale training courses on building carbon management capability, and thereby enhanced the carbon emission 

management capability and the capacity to deal with future carbon market of its subsidiaries.

sixthly, the Company enhanced the service capability in the energy conservation and environmental 
protection industry. Internal enterprises like Shanghai Energy Company and China National Coal Mining 

Equipment Company Limited were promoted to provide services, based on their respective advantages, in 

consultation, design and construction, testing, and operation and maintenance of energy conservation and 

environmental protection projects, with a view to facilitating the development of the energy conservation and 

environmental protection industry.

Iv. sOCIAL respOnsIBILIty

Details of social responsibilities are set out in the Social Responsibility Report published by the Company on the 

HKSE Website, the SSE Website and the Company Website.
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I. generAL InFOrMAtIOn On DIreCtOrs, supervIsOrs AnD 
senIOr MAnAgeMent

Unit: Share

name position held (note) gender Age

effective date 

of appointment

termination 

date of 

appointment

shareholding 

at the 

beginning 

of the year

shareholding 

at the end 

of the year

Changes in 

shareholding 

during 

the year

reasons 

of change

total salaries 

and bonus 

received from 

the Company 

during the 

reporting 

period 

(rMB ten 

thousand) 

(before tax)

total amount 

of five 

insurances 

and one fund 

as well as 

annuity paid 

by the 

Company 

during the 

reporting 

period 

(rMB ten 

thousand)

whether 

receiving 

remuneration

from 

related parties 

during the 

reporting 

period

Li Yanjiang Chairman Male 59 October 2015 June 2018 – – – – 0 0 Yes

Executive Director June 2015

▲Peng Yi Vice Chairman 

Executive Director

Non-executive Director

Male 54 June 2015

March 2017

June 2015

June 2018

June 2018

March 2017

– – – – 0 0 Yes

Liu Zhiyong Non-executive Director Male 59 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 0 0 No

▲◆Gao Jianjun Executive Director, President Male 58 June 2015 17 March 2017 – – – – 59.48 12.62 No

Xiang Xujia Non-executive Director Male 47 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 0 0 Yes

Zhang Ke Independent Non-executive 

 Director

Male 63 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 30 0 No

& Zhao Pei Independent Non-executive 

 Director

Male 67 June 2015 December 2016 – – – – 30 0 No

& Ngai Wai Fung Independent Non-executive 

 Director

Male 54 June 2015 December 2016 – – – – 30 0 No

Zhou Litao Shareholder Representative 

 Supervisor

Male 56 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 0 0 Yes

▲Zhao Rongzhe Shareholder Representative 

 Supervisor

Male 51 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 0 0 Yes

◆●Zhang Shaoping Employee Representative 

 Supervisor

Male 52 June 2015 June 2017 – – – – 44.75 12.06 No

◆Qi Hegang Vice President 

 (acting President)

Male 57 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 49.49 12.62 No

◆●Pu Jin Vice President Male 56 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 66.07 12.16 No

◆Zhou Dongzhou Secretary to the Board and

  Company Secretary

Male 58 June 2015 June 2018 – – – – 49.28 12.62 No

◆★Niu Jianhua Vice President Male 54 June 2015 August 2016 – – – – 37.10 7.30 No

◆▲Weng Qing’an Chief Financial Officer Male 60 June 2015 August 2016 – – – – 41.81 9.17 No

Total / / / / / – – – / 437.98 78.55 /
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Note: 1. Remuneration of the above Directors, Supervisors, senior management is calculated based on the period during which they hold office.

2. The remunerations during the reporting period presented are the remunerations of Directors, Supervisors and senior management received from 

the Company.

3. ★Mr. Niu Jianhua resigned in August 2016 due to job rotation.

4. ▲Mr. Weng Qing’an resigned in August 2016 due to reaching the age of retirement.

Mr. Gao Jianjun resigned on 17 March 2017 due to personal reasons.

Mr. Zhao Rongzhe resigned on 22 March 2017 due to job rotation and continued to perform his duties until a new Supervisor takes office.

Mr. Peng Yi was redesignated on 22 March 2017 as an executive Director from a non-executive Director and was elected as the Vice Chairman 

of the Board.

5. ◆The percentage of the performance-based salary paid for the current period was 70% (including the deferred performance-based salary in the 

previous year).

6. ●The performance-based salary of the year was not pre-paid, and will be paid next year.

During the reporting period, the Company has two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three 

independent non-executive Directors. Other than working relationship, there is no any other relationship between 

any of the Directors, Supervisors or senior management of the Company in respect of finance, business and 

family or in other material aspects. The Company has received an annual confirmation letter from each of the 

independent non-executive Directors with regard to their independence. As at the date of this report, the Company 

considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent pursuant to the Hong Kong Listing 

Rules.

II. MAJOr wOrkIng eXperIenCe OF DIreCtOrs, supervIsOrs 
AnD senIOr MAnAgeMent

Directors

1. Li yanjiang, aged 59, is the Chairman and Executive Director of the Third Session of the Board of the 

Company. He currently serves as the Chairman of the board of directors of China Coal Group. Mr. Li 

graduated from Fu Xin Mining Institute with a Bachelor’s Degree and obtained the title of Researcher in 

January 1982. He served as the General Manager of China Coal International Economic and Technical 

Cooperation Corporation, the Chairman of the board of directors, General Manager and Deputy Secretary 

of Party Committee of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, the Director General of the Plan and 

Development Department of State Administration of Coal Industry, Director and the General Manager of 

China National Coal Industry Import and Export (Group) Corporation, the Secretary of Party Committee 

and the Vice President of China Coal Research Institute, the Chairman of the board of directors, Secretary 

of Party Committee and General Manager of China Foma (Group) Co., Ltd. as well as the Secretary of 

Party Committee and a Director of China National Machinery Industry Corporation, the Vice Chairman 

of the board of directors and the General Manager of China Coal Group and other positions. Mr. Li has 

long been engaged in areas of production, operation and management of coal enterprises, and has strong 

background in coal industry and extensive experience in corporate operation and management.
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2. peng yi, aged 54, is the Vice Chairman and Executive Director of the Third Session of the Board of the 
Company. He is currently also a Director and the General Manager of China Coal Group, Vice Chairman of 
Guoyuanshidai Coal Asset Management Company Limited and Chairman of Zhongtian Synergetic Energy 
Company Limited. Mr. Peng graduated in July 1984 from the Construction Engineering Department of 
Wuhan Construction Material Industry Institute (currently known as Wuhan University of Technology), 
obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration (MBA) from Wuhan University in June 1999 
and obtained a Doctor’s Degree in economics from Wuhan University of Technology in 2011. Mr. Peng 
is also a Senior Engineer, a Senior Accountant and a Senior Professional Manager in the coal industry, 
and is entitled to special government allowance granted by the State Council. Mr. Peng was the Head of 
the Design Department of Central-South Architectural Design Institute, the Deputy Principal of Central-
South Architectural Design Institute, Shenzhen Branch, Head of the Finance Department of Central-South 
Architectural Design Institute, Deputy General Manager, Chief Economist and Finance Manager of Wuhan 
Kaidi Electric Power Company Limited, Chairman of the Board of Wuhan Gelin Tiandi Environmental 
Protection Enterprises Group Company Limited, Chairman of the Board of Wuhan Kaidi Lantian 
Technology Company Limited, Executive Director, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
of the First Session of the Board of the Company, Vice Chairman of the Second Session of the Board of 
the Company, the Vice General Manager and the Chief Accountant of China Coal Group. Mr. Peng has 
extensive experience in corporate management, capital operation and financial management.

3. Liu Zhiyong, aged 59, is a Non-executive Director of the Third Session of the Board of the Company, 
and currently serves as a professional External Director of a central enterprise, the professional External 
Director of China Coal Group, and a Non-executive Director of CRRC Corporation Limited. Mr. Liu 
graduated from Nanjing Political College majoring in political economy and obtained a Bachelor’s 
Degree in economics in July 1988. He served as the Deputy Division Director, Division Director and 
Deputy Director General of the Third Secretary Bureau of the General Office of the State Council, Deputy 
Party Secretary of Liuzhou Municipal Government of Guangxi (secondment for 2 years), Administrative 
Commissioner and Deputy Director General of the Third Secretary Bureau of the General Office of 
the State Council, Inspector and Deputy Director General of the First Secretary Bureau of the General 
Office of the State Council (responsible for general affairs), and Executive Deputy Secretary of the Party 
Committee of the General Office of the State Council. Mr. Liu is familiar with the macroeconomic policies, 
the organisational and human resources and other affairs in the PRC.

4. Xiang Xujia, aged 47, is a Non-executive Director of the Third Session of the Board of the Company, 
and he currently serves as a Non-executive Director of Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited, the 
Managing Partner of Guangdong Weimo Law Firm, and an Independent Director of Youngy Co., Ltd. 
and Guangzhou KDT Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Xiang graduated from Zhejiang University majoring in 
information science and electronic engineering, and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree of engineering in July 
1991. He obtained a Master’s Degree of laws from Southwest University of Political Science and Law in 
June 2001 majoring in economic law. Mr. Xiang is a qualified lawyer in the PRC and has been a practicing 
lawyer for over 7 years. He was a lawyer and legal partner of Grandall Law Firm (Shenzhen), a lawyer 
of DeHeng Law Offices in Beijing, a compliance head, Assistant to the General Manager, Secretary 
of the board, and General Manager of assets management centre of Sino Life Insurance Co., Ltd., the 
General Manager and Chairman of the board of Sino Life Asset Management Co., Ltd., a Director of Fund 
Resources Investment Holding Group Company Limited, a Director of Sino-Life Asset Management (Hong 
Kong) Company Limited, the President of Shenzhen Fude Holding (Group) Limited and the President 
of Shenzhen Fude Financial Investment Holding Limited. He has extensive experience in securities and 
finance, corporate governance, risk management and investment etc.
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5. Zhang ke, aged 63, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Third Session of the Board of 
the Company, and currently serves as the Chairman and Principal Partner of ShineWing Certified 
Public Accountants Company Limited, an Independent Director of Guiyang Longmaster Information & 
Technology Co., Ltd., and Net263 Ltd., an External Director of China National Salt Industry Corporation, a 
supervisor of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd., Vice President of Chinese Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the Chief Supervisor of Beijing Association of Forensic Science. Mr. Zhang obtained 
a Bachelor’s Degree in economics from the Industrial Economics Department of Renmin University of 
China in 1982. Mr. Zhang is a Chartered Certified Accountant with qualification in securities dealing and 
a Senior Accountant. Mr. Zhang served as the Department Manager of China International Economics 
Consultants Co., Ltd., Deputy Executive Officer of Zhongxin Accountants Firm, Deputy General Manager 
of Zhongxin Yongdao Accountants Firm, partner of Coopers & Lybrand International, General Manager of 
Zhongxin Yongdao Accountants Firm, Deputy Executive Director of Coopers & Lybrand (China). He was 
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company from August 2006 to February 2013. Mr. Zhang 
has 30 years of experience in reviewing and analyzing financial statements of listed companies, and has 
extensive experience in dealing with internal and external auditors regarding the supervision of internal 
control and the auditing of financial statements.

6. Zhao pei, aged 67, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Third Session of the Board of the 
Company and currently the Vice President and Secretary General of the Chinese Society for Metals. Mr. 
Zhao served as the Executive Director and President of Advanced Technology & Materials Company 
Limited (AT&M), Chairman of Beijing Gang Yan Diamond Products Company Limited, Chairman of Heye 
Special Steel Company Limited, Director of Zhonglian Advanced Steel Technology Company Limited. He 
also served as a Professor and Deputy Dean at the University of Science & Technology Beijing, Division 
Director of the Science & Technology Department of the Ministry of Metallurgy, Deputy Chief Engineer 
and Chief of Engineering Centre of Central Iron & Steel Research Institute, Vice President of Central Iron 
& Steel Research Institute, Chairman of New Metallurgy Hightech Group Company Limited, Chairman 
of Beijing Iron & Steel Research New Metallurgy Engineering Design Company Limited. Mr. Zhao is a 
Doctor of Engineering, a Postdoctoral Fellow at the University of Leeds in UK, Professor and Doctorial 
Tutor, and is entitled to special government allowance granted by the State Council. Mr. Zhao is proficient 
in metallurgical technology and material science, and familiar with related enterprises and research 
institutions both in China and abroad, which allows him to gain full understanding of the technological 
development and market trend of the sector, and has given him extensive experience in the management 
and operation of large-scale high-tech enterprises and listed companies.

7. ngai wai Fung, aged 54, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Third Session of the Board 
of the Company, the Managing Director of MNCOR Consulting Limited, as well as the Chief Executive 
Officer of SW Corporate Services Group Limited. He is currently an Independent Non-executive Director 
of China Railway Group Limited, BaWang International (Group) Holdings Limited, Bosideng International 
Holdings Limited, Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited, SITC International Holdings Company 
Limited, Biostime International Holdings Limited, Beijing Capital Juda Limited, Yangtze Optical Fibre 
and Cable Joint Stock Limited Company, BBMG Corporation, TravelSky Technology Limited and 
China HKBridge Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Topsearch International (Holdings) Limited”), 
Independent Director of LDK Solar Co. Ltd and SPI Energy Co., Ltd, and the visiting professor of 
Department of Law of Hong Kong Shue Yan University. Mr. Ngai has been appointed as the non-official 
member of the working group on professional services of Economic Development Committee by the 
Chief Executive of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and has been appointed as a member of 
the Professional Qualification and Examination Council of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. He is a member of the General Committee of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies 
and an expert consultant for accounting of the Ministry of Finance of China. He graduated from Shanghai 
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University of Finance and Economics, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Andrews University of 
Michigan, the United States and the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He has obtained 
a Doctor’s Degree in Finance, Master’s Degree in Finance, an MBA Degree and a Bachelor’s Degree in 
Laws (with Honours). Mr. Ngai is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Accountants in the United 
Kingdom, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a member of the Hong Kong 
Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Ngai has over 20 years of senior management experience as an 
executive director, chief financial officer and company secretary, most of which are in the areas of finance, 
accounting, internal control and regulatory compliance as well as corporate governance and company 
secretarial matters for listed issuers (including major red chips companies). Mr. Ngai has participated in or 
led a number of key financing projects, including listing, mergers and acquisitions, and issuance of bonds.

supervisors

1. Zhou Litao, aged 56, is a Shareholder Representative Supervisor of the Third Session of the Supervisory 
Committee of the Company, and currently serve as the General Legal Counsel of China Coal Group, 
Executive Vice President of the Energy Law Academy of China Law Society, Chairman of Legal Issues 
Committee of China National Coal Association, a visiting professor of National Lawyers College, 
PRC and an arbitrator of China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission and Beijing 
Arbitration Commission. He graduated in 1983 from Hubei Institute of Finance (currently known as 
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law) with a major in law. He finished the management science 
and engineering course for Master postgraduate in the China University of Mining and Technology in 
September 2000, and obtained an Executive MBA Degree from HEC Business School Paris, France in 
December 2007. He obtained a doctorate diploma and a Doctor’s Degree in Law from China University 
of Political Science and Law in June 2011. Mr. Zhou is a senior economist and a qualified corporate 
legal advisor. He served as General Manager of Legal Affairs Department of China National Coal Group 
Corporation and Supervisor of the First Session and the Second Session of the Supervisory Committee 
of the Company. Mr. Zhou is familiar with the PRC Civil Law, Commercial Law and International 
Commercial Principles, and has rich experience in corporate legal management.

2. Zhao rongzhe, aged 51, is a Shareholder Representative Supervisor of the Third Session of the 
Supervisory Committee of the Company, and currently serves as the Chief Accountant in China Coal 
Group, the director of China Credit Trust Co., Ltd., the supervisor of Jiang Tai Insurance Broker Co., Ltd., 
the director of WinnerKey Investment Co., Ltd., the Chairman and General Manager of China Coal Finance 
Co., Ltd., the director of SDIC Coal Co., Ltd. the Chairman of the supervisory committee of Shanghai 
China Coal Building Co., Ltd., and the Vice President of the Coal Branch of the Accounting Society 
of China. Mr. Zhao obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from China University of Mining and 
Technology majoring in financial accounting in June 1989, and obtained an MBA Degree from the Open 
University of Hong Kong in June 2011. Mr. Zhao is a Senior Accountant. Mr. Zhao has successively served 
as Chief Staff Member of Finance and Labour Department of Ministry of Coal Industry, Deputy Director 
of Finance Division in China National Coal Mining Equipment Company Limited, Deputy Director of 
Asset Finance Department in China Coal Industry Import and Export Group Corporation, Director of 
Asset Finance Department and General Manager of Financial Management Department in China Coal 
Group, and Deputy Chief Accountant and General Manager of Financial Management Department in China 
Coal Group. Mr. Zhao has more than 20 years of experience in financial management, and has extensive 
experience in accounting assessment, assets management and financial management.
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3. Zhang shaoping, aged 52, is the Employee Representative Supervisor of the Third Session of the 
Supervisory Committee of the Company and the Executive Director and General Manager of China 
National Coal Development Company Limited. He graduated from Hebei Institute of Coal Mining and Civil 
Engineering majoring in industrial and civil construction in July 1986, and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree 
in engineering. He is a Senior Engineer and Senior Professional Manager of the coal industry. He served 
as a staff of Beijing Coal Planning and Design General Institute, staff and Chief Staff Member of China 
Unified Distribution Coal Mine Corporation, Chief Staff Member and Assistant Researcher of Policy and 
Regulation Department of the Ministry of Coal Industry, Deputy Director of the Office of China National 
Coal Sales and Transportation Corporation, Deputy Director and Director of the Party Committee Office 
and Director of Party Committee Work Department of China National Coal Industry Import and Export 
Group Corporation, Director of Party Committee Work Department of China Coal Group, the Secretary 
of the Party Committee and Deputy General Manager of China National Coal Development Company 
Limited, and the Employee Representative Supervisor of the Second Session of the Supervisory Committee 
of the Company. Mr. Zhang has worked in the coal industry for an extensive period and has extensive 
understanding of the coal industry and rich experience in business management.

senior Management

1. qi Hegang, aged 57, is the Vice President of the Company and fills the role of acting President, and 
currently serves as the Expert Director of Guoyuanshidai Coal Asset Management Company Limited, 
Deputy Director of the Mining Committee of Coal Miners of Coal Industry Technology Committee and 
an adjunct professor of China University of Mining and Technology. He graduated from Shanghai Datun 
Intermediate Specialised Institute majoring in mining engineering, and obtained a Master’s Degree in 
Engineering and an Executive Master degree in Business Administration from China University of Mining 
and Technology and the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University respectively. He is 
also a Professoriate Senior Engineer and a Senior Professional Manager in the coal industry. He served as 
the Head of Mine Design Division, Vice Chief Engineer, Deputy Head, and Head for the Yaoqiao Mine of 
Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited, the Chief Engineer of Datun Coal and Electricity 
(Group) Company Limited and a Director of Shanghai Energy Company. Mr. Qi has been involved in the 
production, technology and management of coal mining work for an extensive period and has developed 
extensive knowledge of the coal industry. He has over 30 years of operational and managerial experience in 
the industry.

2. pu Jin, aged 56, is the Vice President of the Company. He is currently also an Executive Director of China 
National Coal Mining Equipment Company Limited, Vice President of China National Coal Machinery 
Industry Association, Executive Director of China Coal Society, Deputy Director of Machinery and 
Electrical Experts Committee of Coal Industry Technology Committee and Deputy Director of National 
Coal Industry “653” Expert Steering Committee. He graduated from China University of Mining and 
Technology in 1998 with a Master’s Degree in engineering, and he obtained a Doctoral Degree in 
Management from the School of Management Science and Engineering of Tongji University in 2003. He 
is a Professoriate Senior Engineer, a National Senior Professional Manager and a Senior Professional 
Manager in the coal industry, and he is entitled to special government allowance granted by the State 
Council. He served as Assistant to the General Manager and Deputy General Manager of Automatic 
Engineering Division and Overseas Operations Division of China National General Machinery Corp. under 
the Ministry of Machinery Industry, General Manager of China Coal Shenzhen Company, General Manager 
of China Coal Southern Energy Resources Company Limited and Chairman of China National Coal 
Mining Equipment Group Corporation and other positions. Mr. Pu has extensive experience in enterprise 
management as well as solid theoretical expertise in coal mining machinery.
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3. Chai qiaolin, aged 48, has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect 

from January 2017, while remaining as the Manager of Financial Department of the Company. Mr. Chai 

currently serves as a Director of Shanxi China Coal Huajin Company, Huajin Coking Coal Company 

Limited and China Coal Finance Co., Ltd., a Director and the Chief Financial Officer of Gansu China Coal 

Tianda Energy Company Limited, the Chairman of the Board of Sunfield Resources Pty. Limited, as well 

as a Supervisor of Shaanxi Company, Ordos Energy Chemical Company and Guotou China Coal Tongmei 

Jingtang Port Company Limited. Mr. Chai graduated in July 1991 from Beijing Institute of Economics 

majoring in public finance. Mr. Chai has been qualified as a Senior Accountant. Mr. Chai previously 

served in China Coal Overseas Development Co., Ltd., China National Coal Industry Import & Export 

Corporation as well as China National Coal Industry Import and Export Group Corporation, undertaking 

financial management affairs. Mr Chai previously served as the Deputy General Manager in the Financial 

Management Department of China Coal Group and the Deputy Manager of the Financial Department of the 

Company. Mr. Chai has over 25 years of extensive experience in financial work in state-owned enterprises 

as well as over 10 years of experience in capital operation and financial management in listed companies.

4. Zhou Dongzhou, aged 58, is the Secretary to the Board and the Company Secretary of the Company. He 

graduated from China Mining College (currently known as China University of Mining and Technology) in 

July 1982 majoring in English where he also obtained a Master’s Degree of Engineering in May 1997. He 

is an Associate Professor of Translation and a Senior Professional Manager in the coal industry. He served 

at China University of Mining and Technology, the Science and Education Department of the Ministry 

of Coal Industry, and served as Secretary of the General Office of the Ministry of Coal Industry and the 

General Office of State Administration of Coal Industry, Manager of the Market Development Department 

and Deputy Head of the Coal Trading Division of China Coal Group, Deputy General Manager of China 

Coal Import and Export Company and Joint Company Secretary of the Company.
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III. reMunerAtIOn OF DIreCtOrs, supervIsOrs AnD senIOr 
MAnAgeMent

1. the remuneration and the decision-making procedures for the remuneration of 
Directors, supervisors and senior Management

Remuneration for Directors and Supervisors is subject to the approval by the Shareholders’ general 

meeting, while the remuneration for senior management is subject to the approval by the Board. For the 

year of 2016, the total remuneration for Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company 

was RMB5.1653 million (tax inclusive).

2. Basis for determining the remuneration of directors, supervisors and senior 
management

As approved by the Shareholders’ general meeting of the Company, the basis for determining the 

remuneration of Directors of the third session of the Board and the Supervisors of the third session of 

Supervisory Committee of the Company is as follows: independent non-executive Directors would receive 

remunerations from the Company, while the Company pays RMB300,000 to each independent non-

executive Director (before tax, on a monthly basis, individual income tax withheld and withheld tax paid, 

remunerations of independent non-executive Directors would be determined according to actual period in 

office). Directors who are also senior management of the Company would receive remunerations according 

to “Management Method of the Remunerations for Senior Executives of the Company”. Other than the 

above Directors, other Directors would not receive remuneration from the Company. Supervisors receive 

remunerations from the companies where they work. Travel expenses for Directors and Supervisors 

attending the Board meeting, the Supervisory Committee meeting, Shareholders’ general meeting, and 

relevant activities held by the Board, the Supervisory Committee would be borne by the Company. 

Remunerations of senior management are paid in accordance with “Measures for Remunerations of Senior 

Management of the Company”.

Save for independent non-executive Directors, the remunerations of other Directors, Supervisors and senior 

management who receive remunerations from the Company include basic salaries, bonuses, five insurances 

and one fund and corporate annuity paid by the Company.
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Iv. C H A n g e s  I n  D I r e C t O r s ,  s u p e r v I s O r s  A n D  s e n I O r 
MAnAgeMent OF tHe COMpAny

name position Held Changes reasons of Change

Niu Jianhua Vice President Resignation Job rotation

Weng Qing’an Chief Financial Officer Resignation Reaching statutory 

 retirement age

Gao Jianjun Executive Director and 

 President

Resignation Personal reasons

Zhao Rongzhe Shareholder Representative 

 Supervisor

Resignation (performing duties 

 until a new Supervisor takes office)

Job rotation

v. eMpLOyees OF tHe COMpAny AnD MAJOr suBsIDIArIes

Number of persons

Number of current employees in the Parent Company 426

Number of current employees in major subsidiaries (Note) 28,726

Total number of current employees 47,113

Number of staff who have resigned or retired, for whom the Parent Company and 

 major subsidiaries are required to bear the relevant costs 0

professional composition

professional composition by type
number of persons of 

professional composition

Production Staff 30,151

Sales Staff 965

Technical Staff 8,887

Financial Staff 780

Administrative Staff 3,321

Other Staff 3,009

Total 47,113

education Level
education level by type number of persons

Postgraduate or above 1,086

Undergraduate 10,278

Technical College 10,577

Below College 25,172

Total 47,113

Note: Major subsidiaries include Pingshuo Company, Shanghai Energy Company and China Coal Huajin Company.
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vI. reMunerAtIOn pOLICy

In terms of the strategy in relation to employees remuneration, the Company upheld the basic principle of “salary 

rises as benefits rise, compensation drops as benefits drop” and proactively constructed a dynamic allocation 

system linking salaries to corporate earnings, job value and individual performance. The Company further 

strengthened the reform of internal income distribution, strictly implemented performance-oriented principle of 

distribution, broadened the boundary of salary control and strictly controlled total labour costs in order to enhance 

management efficiency.

vII. trAInIng sCHeMe

In 2016, based on the idea of “big training”, the Company focused on strengthening the ideological education for 

its front-line staff and management staff. 463 management staff participated in the face-to-face training, while 

2,000 employees including the management team members of the secondary enterprises, department heads from 

the headquarters and middle-level cadres of the enterprises participated in the online courses. The production 

safety training was continuously strengthened and staff appraisal work was constantly innovated and improved, 

which provided a suitable career development access for its employees, and guided all of its employees to achieve 

joint development with the Company.

vIII. OutsOurCIng

Total number of outsourced working hours (hours) 35,218,000

Total amount of remuneration paid for outsourcing (RMB: one thousand) 107,363
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Dear Shareholders,

The board of directors (the “Board”) of China Coal Energy Company Limited is pleased to present the directors’ report 

of the Company and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the 

“group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 prepared in accordance with the IFRS.

I. prInCIpAL OperAtIOns

The Group is principally engaged in coal operations, coal chemical operations, coal mining equipment operations 

and other related operations in China. The coal operations of the Group include coal production, sales and 

trading. The coal chemical operations of the Group include the production and sales of coke, methanol, urea and 

other coal chemical products. The coal mining equipment operations of the Group include the design, research 

and development, manufacturing and sales of coal mining machinery and equipment and provision of after-sales 

services. Other operations of the Group include the production and sales of electricity and primary aluminium. 

Details of the principal business of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in the financial statements.

Further discussions on operations as required under Schedule 5 of Companies Ordinance are set out in “Chairman’s 

Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Operating Results” and “Business 

Performance” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

II. OperAtIng resuLts

The financial and operating results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in the section 

headed “Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Operating Results”.

III. DIvIDenDs

On 22 March 2017, pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Board recommended the payment 

of cash dividends of RMB514,531,500 to the Shareholders, representing 30% of the net profit attributable to 

the equity holders of the Company as at 31 December 2016, which was RMB1,715,105,000 as set out in the 

consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. The proposed dividend distribution will be 

made based on the Company’s entire issued share capital of 13,258,663,400 shares, representing a dividend of 

RMB0.039 per share (inclusive of tax). The above proposed profit distribution plan is subject to the approval of 

Shareholders at the 2016 annual general meeting. Cash dividends will be distributed to all Shareholders registered 

at the relevant record date upon approval.

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China which came into effect on 1 January 

2008 and its implementing rules and other relevant rules, the Company is required to withhold enterprise income 

tax at a rate of 10% before distributing the final dividend to non-resident enterprise Shareholders whose names 

appear on the Company’s H Share register of members. Any shares registered in the name of the non-individual 

registered Shareholders, including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, trustees or other groups and 

organisations, will be treated as being held by non-resident enterprise Shareholders and therefore an enterprise 

income tax shall be withheld for their dividends receivables.

Pursuant to The Notice on Matters Concerning the Levy and Administration of Individual Income Tax After 

the Repeal of Guo Shui Fa [1993] No. 045 issued by the State Administration of Taxation on 28 June 2011, the 

dividend received by the overseas resident individual Shareholders from the stocks issued by domestic non-foreign 
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invested enterprises in Hong Kong is subject to individual income tax at a rate of 10% in general. However, 

the tax rates for respective overseas resident individual Shareholders may vary, depending on the relevant tax 

agreements between those countries where the overseas resident individual Shareholders reside and China.

An announcement containing information in relation to the latest registration date and the period of closure of 

share register for attending the 2016 annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2017 and for receiving 

the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016, as well as the dividend distribution date will be 

published separately when the date of the 2016 annual general meeting of the Company is fixed.

Under relevant regulations of China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited Shanghai Branch 

and in line with the market practice regarding dividend distribution for A Shares, the Company will publish a 

separate announcement in respect of its dividend distribution to holders of A Shares after the Company’s annual 

general meeting for 2016, which, among other things, will set out the record date and ex-rights date of dividend 

distribution for A Shares.

As at 31 December 2016, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the Shareholders waived or agreed to 

waive their dividends.

Iv. sHAreHOLDIngs OF suBstAntIAL sHAreHOLDers

As at 31 December 2016, to the knowledge of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company 

and as recorded in the register of interests required to be maintained pursuant to section 336 of the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance, the interests or short positions of the following persons (excluding Directors, Supervisors and 

chief executive) in the Company’s shares or underlying shares were as follows:

name of shareholders
number of

shares
Class of
shares

nature of
interest Capacity

percentage
of the

respective
class of the 
total shares 
in issue (%)

percentage
of the 

total shares 
in issue (%)

China National Coal Group Corporation 7,605,207,608 A Shares N/A Beneficial owner 83.10 57.36

Funde Sino Life Insurance Co., Ltd. 2,012,858,147 H Shares Long position Interest of controlled

 corporation by

 substantial

 shareholders

49.01 15.18

Note:  The information disclosed is based on the information provided on the HKSE Website (www.hkex.com.hk).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, to the knowledge of the Directors, Supervisors and chief 

executive of the Company and as recorded in the register of interests required to be maintained pursuant to section 

336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, there were no other persons who were interested or held short 

positions in the Company’s shares or underlying shares.
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v. Interests AnD sHOrt pOsItIOns OF DIreCtOrs, supervIsOrs 
AnD CHIeF eXeCutIve In tHe sHAres, unDerLyIng sHAres 
AnD DeBentures OF tHe COMpAny

As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the Company had any interests 

or short positions in the shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the Company or any of 

its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) as required 

to be recorded in the register of interests to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance, or which are required to be notified to the Company and HKSE pursuant to the Model Code 

for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had not granted any right to any Director, Supervisor or chief executive of 

the Company or their spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire shares or debentures of the Company 

or any of its associated corporations, nor did any of the above-mentioned individuals exercise any such rights to 

acquire the aforesaid shares or debentures.

As at 31 December 2016, save as Mr. Li Yanjiang, Mr. Peng Yi, Mr. Liu Zhiyong and Mr. Xiang Xujia, there is 

no other Director is a director or employee of a company which has an interest or short position in the shares and 

underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the issuer under the provisions of Divisions 

2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

vI. puBLIC FLOAt

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, as at 

the date of this report, the Company had maintained the prescribed public float under the Hong Kong Listing 

Rules.

vII. servICe COntrACts OF DIreCtOrs AnD supervIsOrs

Each of the Directors and Supervisors entered into a service contract with the Company on 16 June 2015. 

Pursuant to the terms of the service contract, each of the Directors and Supervisors agrees to perform his duties as 

the Director or Supervisor. The term of service of Directors is three years from the date of appointment. The term 

of service of Supervisors is three years from the date of appointment.

None of the Directors or Supervisors has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not terminable 

by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

vII. DIreCtOrs’ AnD supervIsOrs’ Interests In trAnsACtIOns, 
ArrAngeMents Or COntrACts

Apart from the service contracts, for the year ended 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or Supervisors 

or their related entities is materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any contracts of significance 

to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries of the 

holding company is a party.
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XI. reMunerAtIOn OF DIreCtOrs AnD supervIsOrs

The details of the remuneration of Directors and Supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out 

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and the section headed “Directors, Supervisors, Senior 

Management and Employees” of this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, no Directors or Supervisors had agreed to waive any remuneration.

The remuneration package of Directors is determined by the remuneration committee and is subject to approval by 

the Board and Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. To determine the remuneration package, 

the remuneration committee and the Board will take into consideration a number of factors, such as Directors’ 

duties, responsibilities and performance as well as the operating results of the Group.

X. purCHAse, sALe Or repurCHAse OF LIsteD seCurItIes OF 
tHe COMpAny

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries had not purchased, sold or repurchased 

any listed securities of the Company (the term “securities” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Hong Kong 

Listing Rules).

XI. prOperty, pLAnt AnD equIpMent

The details of the changes in the property, plant and equipment of the Company for the year ended 31 December 

2016 are set out in the notes to the audited financial statements for the year.

XII. DOnAtIOn

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company donated a total of RMB396,000 for charity and other 

donation purposes.

XIII. suBsIDIArIes AnD AssOCIAtes

The details of subsidiaries and associates of the Company as at 31 December 2016 are set out in the notes to the 

audited financial statements for the year.

XIv. pre-eMptIve rIgHts AnD sHAre OptIOn ArrAngeMent

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the relevant laws of the PRC which would entitle the 

Shareholders to subscribe for shares on a pro rata basis. Currently, the Company does not have any share option 

arrangement.
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Xv. MAJOr suppLIers AnD CustOMers

The Group’s major suppliers mainly provide the Group with raw materials such as trading coal and diesel oil. 

The major customers of the Group mainly include domestic electric power enterprises, iron and steel enterprises, 

coal production enterprises and chemical product manufacturing enterprises. During the year ended 31 December 

2016, total values (not of a capital nature) of the contracts entered into between the Group and its top five 

suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total values of the goods purchased. Total revenues from the top five 

customers of the Group also accounted for less than 30% of total revenue of the Group during the year ended 31 

December 2016.

XvI. MAterIAL COntrACts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this report, none of the Company or any of 

its subsidiaries entered into any material contracts with the controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries other 

than the Group, nor was there any material contract in relation to the provision of services to the Company or any 

of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries other than the Group.

XvII. COnneCteD trAnsACtIOns

The followings are the main connected transactions of the Group during the year of 2016:

(1) Continuing Connected transactions

As a result of listing after restructuring and reform, there are connected transactions between the Group 

and China Coal Group. The daily continuing connected transactions between the Group and China Coal 

Group are conducted in the ordinary and normal course of business of the Company, and such transactions 

can prevent potential competition between coal products of the Group and those of China Coal Group, and 

enable the Group to secure products and services, such as coal products, integrated materials, engineering 

design and construction, land and property leasing from China Coal Group at market price through the 

ordinary course of business of the Group. Such transactions facilitate expansion of the Group’s scale of 

operation, reduce uncertainty of transactions, lower transaction costs, prevent unnecessary disruptions to 

operations and avoid migration costs. The Group has entered into certain connected transaction agreements 

with China Coal Group. Meanwhile, there are also connected transactions between the Company and 

Shanxi Coking Coal Group, the substantial shareholder of China Coal Huajin Company, which is a 

significant subsidiary of the Company. Such transactions facilitate the Company in obtaining stable 

coal product supply, coal mine construction and related service at a market price from Shanxi Coking 

Coal Group. The transactions under these agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of 

the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The terms of the relevant connected 

transaction agreements, the annual caps for and the actual amount incurred in 2016 are as follows:

1. Coal Supply Framework Agreement

On 23 October 2014, the Company renewed the Coal Supply Framework Agreement with China 

Coal Group. The agreement is valid from 1 January 2015 until 31 December 2017, and is renewable 

upon expiry. Pursuant to the agreement, China Coal Group has agreed to exclusively supply the 

coal products produced from the mines owned by China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding 

the Group) to the Group, and has undertaken not to sell any such coal products to any third party 
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excluding the Group and the institutions designated by the Group. The Group is entitled to purchase 

coal products produced by third parties once the quantity or quality of coal products provided by 

China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) cannot satisfy the requirements of the 

Group. The details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 23 October 2014.

Pricing principles: at market price. Market price shall be determined with reference to the Bohai-

Rim Steam-Coal Price Index, and taking into account of the quality of the coal and different types of 

delivery.

The annual cap of coal purchase expenditure for 2016 payable by the Company to China Coal Group 

in respect of the supply of coal products produced at the coal mines under restructuring by China 

Coal Group to the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB4.040 billion. The 

actual expenditure incurred was RMB3.667 billion.

2. Integrated Materials and Services Mutual Provision Framework Agreement

On 23 October 2014, the Company renewed the Integrated Materials and Services Mutual Provision 

Framework Agreement with China Coal Group. The agreement is valid from 1 January 2015 until 

31 December 2017, and is renewable upon expiry. Pursuant to the agreement, (1) China Coal Group 

and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) shall supply the Group (i) production materials and 

ancillary services, including raw materials, ancillary materials, transportation, loading and uploading 

services, electricity and heat supplies, equipment maintenance and leasing, labour contracting and 

others; and (ii) social and support services including staff training, medical services and emergence 

rescues, communication, property management services and others; and (2) the Group shall supply 

China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (i) production materials and ancillary 

services, among others, including coal, coal mining facilities, raw materials, auxiliary materials, 

electricity and heat supplies, transportation, loading and uploading services, equipment maintenance 

and leasing, labour contracting and others; and (ii) exclusive coal export-related services including 

organising product supplies, performing coal blending, coordinating logistics and transportation, 

provision of port related services, arranging for inspection and quality verification and providing 

services relating to product delivery. The details are set out in the announcement of the Company 

dated 23 October 2014.

Pricing principles shall be in the following order: as for the bulk equipment and raw materials, the 

price will be arrived by bidding process in principle; where no bidding process is involved, the price 

shall be in accordance with the relevant market price; and where comparable market price rate is 

unavailable, agreed price shall be adopted. Agreed price is determined with reference to reasonable 

costs plus a reasonable profit margin.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, (1) the annual cap of the expenses paid by the Company 

for raw materials and ancillary services and social and support services provided by China Coal 

Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) for 2016 was RMB4.206 billion and the actual 

expenditure incurred was RMB2.705 billion; (2) the annual cap of the revenue from the provision 

of raw materials and ancillary services and coal export-related services to China Coal Group and 

its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) for 2016 was RMB710 million and the actual revenue was 

RMB706 million.
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3. Project Design, Construction and General Contracting Services Framework 
Agreement

On 23 October 2014, the Company entered into the Project Design, Construction and General 

Contracting Services Framework Agreement with China Coal Group. The agreement is valid from 1 

January 2015 to 31 December 2017 and is renewable upon expiry. Pursuant to the agreement, China 

Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) shall provide project design, construction 

and general contracting services to the Group, and take up projects subcontracted by the Group. The 

details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 23 October 2014.

Pricing principles: the service provider and the price of project design, construction and general 

contracting services shall be determined through a bidding process in principle and in compliance 

with applicable laws, regulations and rules. China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding 

the Group) shall bid by stringently following the steps and/or measurements as stipulated by 

the Invitation and Submission of Bids Law of the PRC and the specific requirements in bidding 

invitation documents made by the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the annual cap of the expenses paid by the Company for 

project design, construction and general contracting services provided by China Coal Group and 

its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) for 2016 was RMB7.650 billion and the actual expenditure 

incurred was RMB2.309 billion.

4. Property Leasing Framework Agreement

On 23 October 2014, the Company entered into Property Leasing Framework Agreement with 

China Coal Group for a term of 10 years commencing from 1 January 2015, and is renewable 

upon expiry. The Property Leasing Framework Agreement entered with China Coal Group on 5 

September 2006 has been terminated correspondingly. Pursuant to the agreement, China Coal Group 

and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) have agreed to lease certain properties in the PRC to the 

Group for the general operation and ancillary purpose. The properties leased include 360 properties 

amounting to a total floor area of approximately 317,298.01 square metres and most of which are for 

production and operation usage. Details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 23 

October 2014.

Pricing principles: (i) the rentals are subject to review and adjustments every three years during the 

term of the Property Leasing Framework Agreement by reference to the prevailing market rates. 

The adjusted rentals shall not exceed the prevailing market rates as confirmed by an independent 

property valuer; (ii) any downward adjustment in rentals for such properties leased to the Group may 

be made at any time during the term of the Property Leasing Framework Agreement notwithstanding 

the normal three-year rental adjustment mechanism provided for thereunder as described above; and 

(iii) the rentals will be paid by cash each year and funded by the Group’s internal resources.

The annual cap for 2016 in respect of property rentals paid by the Company to China Coal Group 

and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) in respect of the structures and properties leased was 

RMB105 million. The actual rental incurred for the year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB87 

million.
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5. Land Use Rights Leasing Framework Agreement

The Company and China Coal Group entered into a Land Use Rights Leasing Framework Agreement 

on 5 September 2006 of a term of 20 years, which is renewable upon expiry. Pursuant to the 

agreement, China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) have agreed to lease to 

the Group certain land use rights for general business and auxiliary facilities purposes. Such land 

use rights include 202 parcels of land amounting to an aggregate gross site area of approximately 

5,788,739.77 square metres, most of which are used for production and operation. Details are set 

out in the announcement of the Company dated 5 September 2006, 21 October 2011 and 23 October 

2014.

Pricing principles: (i) the rentals are subject to review and adjustments every three years during 

the term of the Land Use Rights Leasing Framework Agreement by reference to the prevailing 

market rates. The adjusted rentals shall not exceed the prevailing market rate as confirmed by an 

independent property valuer; (ii) any downward adjustment in rentals of such land use rights leased 

to the Group may be made at any time during the term of the Land Use Rights Leasing Framework 

Agreement notwithstanding the normal three year rental adjustment mechanism provided for 

thereunder as described above; and (iii) the rentals will be paid by cash annually and funded by the 

Group’s internal resources.

The annual cap for 2016 in respect of the land use rights rental paid by the Company to China Coal 

Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) was RMB61 million. The actual rental incurred for 

the year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB56 million.

6. Financial Services Framework Agreement

On 23 October 2014, Finance Company, a controlling subsidiary of the Company, entered into a 

Financial Services Framework Agreement with China Coal Group. The agreement is valid from 1 

January 2015 until 31 December 2017, and is renewable upon expiry. Pursuant of to the agreement, 

Finance Company agrees to provide financial services such as deposit and loan services and financial 

leasing to China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) and associates of China Coal 

Group. The details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 23 October 2014.

Pricing principles: (i) the interest rate for deposits shall be negotiated on arm’s length and by 

reference to the interest rates provided by normal commercial banks in the PRC for comparable 

deposits by both parties. The interest rate for deposits shall not be higher than the upper limit 

allowed by the PBOC for such type of deposits, or the interest rate provided by Finance Company 

to other clients for the same type of deposits, or the interest rate for the same type of deposits 

provided by normal commercial banks in China to China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding 

the Group) and associates of China Coal Group, whichever is lower; (ii) the interest rates for 

loans shall be negotiated on arm’s length and by reference to the interest rates charged by normal 

commercial banks in the PRC for comparable loans by both parties. The interest rate for loans shall 

not be lower than the lowest rates prescribed by the PBOC for such type of loans, or the interest 

rate charged by Finance Company to other clients for the same type of loans, or the interest rate for 

the same type of loans charged by normal commercial banks in China to China Coal Group and its 

subsidiaries (excluding the Group) and associates of China Coal Group, whichever is higher; and (iii) 

the fee standard for other financial services (excluding the deposits and loans) shall be determined 
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according to the corresponding service fees fixed by the PBOC or the CBRC. If such fixed fee rates 

are not available, the service fees are negotiated on arm’s length and by reference to the fees charged 

by normal commercial banks for comparable financial services. In any case, the fee standard shall 

not be lower than the fee standard adopted by normal commercial banks for comparable services.

The Company adjusted the annual caps for the Financial Services Framework Agreement according 

to the actual operating needs of the Company. The details are set out in the announcement published 

by the Company on 23 March 2016.

The maximum daily balance of loans and financial leasing (including accrued interests) for 2016 

granted by Finance Company to China Coal Group and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) 

and associates of China Coal Group was RMB4.000 billion. The actual daily balance incurred for 

the year ended 31 December 2016 were RMB2.023 billion; the annual cap for 2016 in respect of 

financial services fees charged by Finance Company for providing financial services to China Coal 

Group and its associates was RMB13 million, as for the year ended 31 December 2016, the actual 

fees charged was RMB0.1480 million.

7. Coal and Coal Related Products and Services Supply Agreement

On 23 October 2014, the Company entered into a Coal and Coal Related Products and Services 

Supply Agreement with Shanxi Coking Coal Group. The agreement is valid from 1 January 2015 

until 31 December 2017, and is renewable upon expiry. Pursuant to the agreement, the Group has 

agreed to purchase the coal and coal related products and accept services from Shanxi Coking Coal 

Group, and Shanxi Coking Coal Group has agreed to purchase the coal and coal related products and 

accept services from the Group. The details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 

23 October 2014.

Pricing principles: (i) as for the infrastructural project and procurement of coal mining facilities, 

the price shall be arrived by bidding process; and (ii) as for the supply of coal, the price shall be in 

accordance with the relevant market price. Market price shall be determined with reference to the 

Bohai-Rim Steam-Coal Price Index, and taking into account the quality of the coal and different 

types of delivery.

The Company adjusted the annual caps for the Coal and Coal Related Products and Services Supply 

Agreement according to the actual operating needs of the Company. The details are set out in the 

announcement published by the Company on 23 March 2016.

The annual cap for 2016 in respect of the coal and coal related products purchased and services 

received by the Company from Shanxi Coking Coal Group during the year ended 31 December 2016 

was RMB520 million. The actual amount incurred was RMB17 million. The annual cap for 2016 in 

respect of the coal and coal related products purchased and services accepted by Shanxi Coking Coal 

Group from the Company was RMB610 million. The actual amount incurred was RMB449 million.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in 

accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements 

Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice 

Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing 
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Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued 

an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected 

transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Hong Kong Listing 

Rules. 

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the HKSE. The letter stated that:

– the aforesaid continuing connected transactions have obtained approval from the Board;

– the pricing of the continuing connected transactions in relation to the provision of goods and 
services by the Group was determined, in all material respects, in accordance with pricing 
policy of the Group;

– the aforesaid continuing connected transactions were carried out, in all material respects, 
pursuant to relevant agreements regulating such transactions; and

– the aforesaid continuing connected transactions did not exceed their respective annual cap 
as disclosed in each of the announcements of the Company in respect of the transactions. 

All the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected 

transactions and have confirmed that the transactions are:

1. in the Company’s ordinary course of business;

2. on normal or more favourable commercial terms; and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms that are fair 
and reasonable and in the interests of Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has confirmed that the specific agreements under the continuing connected 
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2016 mentioned above were entered into and executed 
in accordance with the pricing principles pertaining thereto.

(2) non-continuing Connected transactions

On 27 April 2016, Shanghai Energy Company, a controlling subsidiary of the Company, entered into the 
Equity Transfer Agreement with Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of China Coal Group, for the transfer of 100% equity interest in Xuzhou Sifang Aluminum 
Energy Co., Ltd. held to Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited. Pursuant to the Equity 
Transfer Agreement, RMB1 shall be paid by Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited 
to Shanghai Energy Company as the consideration of the equity transfer. As at 30 June 2016, the said 
consideration has been fully paid.

On 27 April 2016, Equipment Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the 
Equity Transfer Agreement with Beijing Chinacoal Equipment Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
China Coal Group, for the transfer of 100% equity interest in Chinacoal Handan Coal Mining Equipment 
Co., Ltd. held to Beijing Chinacoal Equipment Co., Ltd. Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, RMB1 
shall be paid by Beijing Chinacoal Equipment Co., Ltd. to Equipment Company as the consideration of the 
equity transfer. As at 30 June 2016, the said consideration has been fully paid.
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On 27 April 2016, China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement with Import and Export Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of China Coal Group, for the transfer of 91% equity interest in Chinacoal Jiuxin Company held to Import 
and Export Company. Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, RMB1 shall be paid by Import and 
Export Company to China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited as the consideration of the equity transfer. As 
at 30 June 2016, the said consideration has been fully paid.

On 27 April 2016, China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement with Import and Export Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of China Coal Group, for the transfer of 100% equity interest in Lingshi Chemical Company held to Import 
and Export Company. Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, RMB194.8424 million shall be paid by 
Import and Export Company to China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited as the consideration of the equity 
transfer. As at 30 June 2016, the said consideration has been fully paid.

On 26 December 2016, Shanghai Energy Company, a controlling subsidiary of the Company, entered into 
the Asset Transfer Agreement with Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of China Coal Group, for the transfer of relevant assets and liabilities of Longdong Coal Mine 
of Shanghai Energy Company held to Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited. Pursuant 
to the Asset Transfer Agreement, Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited shall pay the 
consideration for the assets transfer of RMB236.5800 million by two installments, of which RMB202.9762 
million shall be paid within five days after the Asset Transfer Agreement takes effect, and the balance of 
RMB33.6038 million shall be paid after the completion of the transfer formalities of the mining rights. As 
at 31 December 2016, the first installment of the consideration has been fully paid.

The above transactions are conducive to exerting the respective advantages of each of the Company and 
existing companies under China Coal Group as well as promoting the main business by the Company 
through concentrating its advantageous resources. For details, please refer to the relevant announcements 
published on the SSE Website, HKSE Website and the Company Website on 6 December 2015, 27 April 
2016 and 26 December 2016 respectively.

A total gain of RMB929 million was generated from the above assets transfer during the reporting period.

Save as disclosed above, no related party transaction or continuing related party transaction set out in the 
notes to the financial statements falls under the definition of discloseable related transaction or continuing 
related transaction under the Hong Kong Listing Rules. As for the aforementioned connected transactions 
and continuing connected transactions, the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements set out 
in the Hong Kong Listing Rules from time to time.

XvIII. reDuCeD HOrIZOntAL COMpetItIOn

In May 2014, the Company received the Letter of Undertaking on Further Avoiding Horizontal Competition with 
China Coal Energy Company Limited from China Coal Group (the controlling shareholder of the Company), in 
which China Coal Group stated expressly that: “Within 7 years from the date of the Letter of Undertaking on 
Further Avoiding Horizontal Competition with China Coal Energy Company Limited, China Coal Group will 
inject its competing equity interests in Import and Export Company, Huayu Company and Heilongjiang Coal 
Chemical Group into China Coal Energy, subject to the procedures for meetings of the Board of Directors or 
Shareholders’ general meetings of China Coal Energy fulfilled under applicable laws and regulations and the 
Articles of Association.” The matter above was disclosed after consideration at the fourth meeting of the second 
session of the Board in 2014 held on 13 May 2014. China Coal Energy will arrange the fulfilment of the above 
undertaking with a high sense of responsibility to investors in compliance with relevant regulatory requirements.
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For details, please refer to the Announcement on Fulfilment of Undertaking of the Company and Controlling 

Shareholder and the Announcement on Undertaking of China National Coal Group Corporation on Further 

Avoiding Horizontal Competition with China Coal Energy Company Limited respectively published on 14 

February and 13 May 2014 on the SSE Website, HKSE Website and the Company Website.

XIX. Issues, DIFFICuLtIes AnD rIsks ArIsIng FrOM tHe OperAtIOn 
OF tHe COMpAny AnD reLevAnt strAtegIes AnD MeAsures

(1) risks of Fluctuation in Macro economy

The coal industry is a fundamental sector of the Chinese economy, which is closely linked to the 

macro economy and significantly affected by other relevant industries including electricity, metallurgy, 

construction materials and chemical industry. Currently, as the world’s major developed economies still 

undergo the deep adjustment phase, China’s economy has entered a new normal. There are still many 

unstable and uncertain factors affecting the macro economy in 2017, which may have significant impacts 

on the operating results of the Company. The Company will execute strict budget planning, strengthen 

regular monitoring and analysis, and enhance risk management so as to strive to achieve stable and orderly 

production and operation.

(2) risks of Fluctuation in product prices

Due to various factors such as demand and supply, characteristics of products, transportation capacity and 

weather, it remains difficult to accurately determine the trend of prices of coal and coal chemical products. 

The volatility in international crude oil prices significantly affects the prices of domestic chemical 

products, which further poses a great impact on the profit margin of the coal chemical products of the 

Company. The Company will enhance market research and analysis, flexibly adjust its marketing strategy 

and increase the profitability of its products.

(3) risks of safe production

Restricted by factors such as natural conditions and characteristics of production, the production processes 

of coal mining and coal chemical products involve higher safety risks which make safety management 

more difficult. The Company continues to improve the safety management and risk prevention system, 

vigorously promotes safe and efficient construction of coal mines and upgrades the level of automatic 

production. Meanwhile, the Company makes great efforts to ensure the safe operation at every production 

stage by laying emphasis on the enhancement of system protection capacity and the launch of special 

projects regularly to address major disasters.

(4) risks of project Investment

New investment projects normally require longer time from the feasibility study to effective production. 

Due to the uncertainty in the approval process and constant changes in the industry of the project and 

related industries, the date of completion of the project and the actual yield of the project after it is put 

in operation may be different from the expectation to a certain extent. The Company will strengthen the 

preliminary project work by expediting the procedures for relevant certificates and licences and ensuring 

rational investment scale and pace so as to control investment costs and avoid investment risks.
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(5) risks of environmental protection

The production of coal and coal chemicals will inevitably affect the environment to a certain extent. 

The Company has strictly complied with the laws and regulations on energy conservation and emission 

reduction and will continue to promote the development of a “Green China Coal”. The Company 

has continuously increased investment in technology and environmental protection and adhered to a 

coordinated development of coal mining and environmental protection. The Company is actively committed 

to social responsibility by carrying out land subsidence treatment and reclamation work in mining areas in 

a down-to-earth manner, developing circular economy in mining areas and striving to establish a resource 

saving and environmental friendly enterprise.

(6) risks of rising Costs

In recent years, the pressure of coal cost control has been relatively greater due to factors such as 

complex coal mining conditions, increasing investments in the maintenance of large equipment, safety 

and environmental protection, and decrease in the production volume of certain mines. The Company will 

continue to exert greater effort in cost control, by adopting new technologies, new working processes and 

new equipment, optimising production layout, improving production efficiency and reducing material 

purchase costs and unit consumption level to prevent cost increases.

(7) risks of Foreign exchange

The export sales of the Company are generally settled in US dollars and the liabilities of the Company are 

calculated in foreign currencies, including Japanese Yen and US dollars. Meanwhile, the Company needs 

foreign currencies, mainly US dollars, to pay for imported equipment and spare parts. The fluctuations in 

the exchange rate of a foreign currency against RMB have both favourable and unfavourable influences on 

the operating results of the Company. The Company will enhance the effort to study the trend of the global 

exchange market, effectively control and prevent the risks of foreign exchange by using various financial 

instruments.

XX. sIgnIFICAnt events

(1) share Capital structure

As at 31 December 2016, the structure of the share capital of the Company was as follows:

Unit: Share

type of shares number of shares percentage (%)

A shares 9,152,000,400 69.03

 Of which: A Shares held by China Coal Group 7,605,207,608 57.36

H shares 4,106,663,000 30.97

 Of which: H Shares held by China Coal Hong Kong Limited, a 

      wholly-owned subsidiary of China Coal Group 132,351,000 1.00

total 13,258,663,400 100.00

 Of which: Shares held by China Coal Group and parties acting in 

      concert with it 7,737,558,608 58.36



75ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Directors’ Report

(2) Distribution of Final Dividends for 2015

The Company’s 2015 profit distribution plan was considered and approved at the Company’s 2015 annual 

general meeting held on 21 June 2016. The profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company as set 

out in the audited consolidated financial statements of the year 2015 of the Company was negative, and no 

cash dividend has been distributed, and no capitalisation from capital reserves has been implemented.

(3) Amendment to the Articles of Association

On 22 March 2016, the first meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 considered and passed the 

Resolution on the Amendments to the Articles of Association, pursuant to which the addition of the sale 

of “fertiliser” into the scope of business operations of the Company in the Articles of Association was 

approved; on 27 April, the second meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 passed the Resolution 

on the Amendments to the Articles of Association, pursuant to which the revision of the “Audit Committee” 

in the Articles of Association and its appendix, being Terms of References of the Board, into “Audit and 

Risk Management Committee” was approved. The two resolutions above have been approved at the 2015 

annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 June.

For details, please refer to relevant announcements published on the SSE Website, HKSE Website and the 

Company Website on 22 March, 27 April and 21 June 2016.

(4) transaction of Assets

During the reporting period, no transaction of material assets was made by the Company.

(5) Other significant events

1. Matters in relation to the renunciation of the right of first refusal

On 22 March 2016, the first meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 considered and 

approved the “Proposal in respect of Renunciation of the Right of First Refusal of 49% Equity 

Interest in Shanxi China Coal Huajin Energy Company Limited”.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company published on the SSE Website, the 

HKSE Website and the Company Website on 22 March 2016.

2. Matters in relation to the registration and issuance of short-term financing bills

On 28 July 2016, as disclosed in the “Announcement on the Approved Registration of Short-Term 

Financing Bills of China Coal Energy”, National Association of Financial Market Institutional 

Investors approved the registration of short-term financing bills of RMB10 billion of the Company. 

On 3 August 2016, as disclosed in the “Announcement on the Issue Results of the First Tranche of 

Short-Term Financing Bills of China Coal Energy in 2016”, the Company successfully issued the 

first tranche of short-term financing bills of RMB3 billion in 2016.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company published on the websites of SSE, 

HKSE and the Company on 28 July and 3 August 2016.
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3. Matters in relation to the use of proceeds to temporarily supplement the working 
capital

On 24 August 2016, the “Resolution on the Use of Proceeds to Temporarily Supplement the Working 

Capital” was considered and approved on the third meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016, 

which approved the Company to use the idle proceeds of RMB3.3 billion to temporarily supplement 

the working capital and the period of use should not exceed 12 months.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company published on the websites of SSE, 

HKSE and the Company on 24 August 2016.

4. Matters in relation to the CSRC approval granted regarding the public issuance 
of corporate bonds

On 5 December 2016, as disclosed in the “Announcement on the CSRC Approval Granted Regarding 

the Public Issuance of Corporate Bonds by China Coal Energy to Qualified Investors”, the Company 

was approved by the CSRC to carry out public issuance of corporate bonds to qualified investors 

with an aggregate nominal value of no more than RMB8 billion.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company published on the websites of SSE, 

HKSE and the Company on 5 December 2016.

XXI. MAterIAL LegAL prOCeeDIngs

As at 31 December 2016, the Company was not involved in any material litigations or arbitrations, and to the best 

knowledge of the Company, there was no pending, threatened or ongoing material litigation or claim against the 

Company as at 31 December 2016.

XXII. AuDItOrs

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers and PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian as its international 

and domestic auditor, respectively for the year ended 31 December 2016. The financial statements prepared 

by the Company in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards have been audited by 

PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The Company has not changed its auditors over the last three years.

XXIII. tAXAtIOn

The Company, according to the resolution of general meeting of Shareholders, did not distribute dividends for 

the year 2015 and thus need not withhold and pay relevant taxes for foreign non-resident enterprises or resident 

individual Shareholders.
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XXIv. reserves

Details of changes in the reserves of the Group during 2016 are set out in the consolidated financial statements 

and the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

As at 31 December 2016, reserves available for distribution by the Company in accordance with the laws and 

regulations of the PRC were RMB19.451 billion.

XXv. pensIOn AnD OtHer stAFF COst

The details of pension and other staff costs of the Group are set out in the notes to the financial statements.

XXvI. FInAnCIAL suMMAry

The summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five financial years was extracted from the audited 

financial statements. The summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

XXvII. perMItteD InDeMnIty prOvIsIOn

The Company has renewed its liability insurance purchased for its Directors, Supervisors and senior management. 

For details, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report section in this report.

XXvIII. suBsequent events

There are no material subsequent events for the Group.

China Coal energy Company Limited
Li yanjiang

Chairman and executive director

Beijing, China

22 March 2017

As at the date of this directors’ report, the executive directors of the Company are Li Yanjiang and Peng Yi; the non-

executive directors of the Company are Liu Zhiyong and Xiang Xujia; and the independent non-executive directors of 

the Company are Zhang Ke, Zhao Pei, and Ngai Wai Fung.
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During the reporting period, with a view to protecting the interests of the Company and its shareholders, all members 
of the Supervisory Committee of the Company discharged their powers, duties and obligations with the utmost 
conscientiousness and lawfully exercised their supervisory functions in accordance with relevant requirements of 
the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedures of the 
Supervisory Committee of the Company and in strict compliance with the requirements of the Rules of Procedures 
of the Supervisory Committee. The Supervisory Committee has conducted supervision over the major decision- 
making, financial reports, connected transactions of the Company and the duties performed by the Directors and senior 
management of the Company through organising and convening meetings of the Supervisory Committee, attending 
Shareholders’ general meetings and Board meetings, thereby completing the work of the Supervisory Committee in a 
better way in 2016. The Supervisory Committee was awarded “Top 30 of Effective Supervisory Committee of Public 
Companies” jointly issued by China Association for Public Companies, Shanghai Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange.

I. DetAILs OF MeetIngs OF tHe supervIsOry COMMIttee

session of meeting Date of meeting
newspaper for information 
disclosure of the resolution

Date of information
disclosure of the 
resolution

First meeting for 2016 of the third 
 session of the Supervisory Committee

22 March 2016 Shanghai Securities News,
 Securities Times

23 March 2016

Second meeting for 2016 of the third 
 session of the Supervisory Committee

27 April 2016 China Securities Journal,
 Securities Daily

28 April 2016

Third meeting for 2016 of the third 
 session of the Supervisory Committee

24 August 2016 China Securities Journal,
 Securities Daily

25 August 2016

Fourth meeting for 2016 of the third 
 session of the Supervisory Committee

28 October 2016 China Securities Journal,
 Securities Daily

29 October 2016

Fifth meeting for 2016 of the third 
 session of the Supervisory Committee

8 December 2016 China Securities Journal,
 Securities Daily

9 December 2016

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee convened five on-site meetings, at which all the 
resolutions in relation to the Company’s 2015 annual report and its summary, and 2015 annual results 
announcement were considered and approved. The Supervisory Committee listened to two reports in relation to 
the work progress in 2015 and the work arrangement for 2016 regarding the Company’s auditing work.

II. OpInIOns OF tHe supervIsOry COMMIttee In respeCt OF tHe 
wOrk OF tHe COMpAny

Since 2016, due to the combination of various factors such as economic growth under the new normal, the supply-
side structural reform, cutting overcapacity and reduced production, the coal price rebounded from its bottom 
low and gradually recovered. By capturing the chances arising from this backdrop, the Company stuck to a 
strategy-directed and market-oriented reform, further optimised resource allocation, continued to promote internal 
reorganisation and integration, enhanced management efficiency, and vigorously reduced cost and improved 
efficiency, turning losses into profits; strengthened the coordination between production and sales, maintained 
the smooth operation of chemical industry, striving to enlarge the operating results; strictly controlled capital 
expenditure, revitalised the existing funds, controlled debt size and actively collected trade receivables; strived 
to prevent and control various risks to ensure orderly and steady production and operation; held on to the safety 
bottom line, strengthened the fulfilment of safety responsibility, prevented and controlled safety accident so as to 
eliminate potential risks. The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the Company’s accomplishments.
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III. I n D e p e n D e n t  O p I n I O n s  g I v e n  B y  t H e  s u p e rv I s O ry 
COMMIttee In respeCt OF tHe FOLLOwIng Issues OF tHe 
COMpAny In 2016

(1) Operation of the Company in 2016 in Accordance with the Laws

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee supervised, examined and assessed the financial 
affairs of the Company and the duties performed by the Directors and senior management of the Company. 
The Supervisory Committee is of the opinion that the Company was able to operate in strict compliance 
with the laws and regulations of the PRC, and that the decision-making procedures were within the 
boundaries of laws. The Company’s management conscientiously implemented the resolutions of 
Shareholders’ general meetings and Board meetings, continued to improve its internal control system and 
strengthened its risk prevention capabilities. The Directors and senior management of the Company duly 
performed their duties and the Supervisory Committee has not discovered any acts in violation of the laws, 
regulations, the Articles of Association or acts that were detrimental to the benefits of the Company.

(2) examination of the Financial Affairs of the Company

After carefully reviewing the quarterly financial reports, interim financial report and annual financial report 
and the proposed profit distribution plan and other matters of the Company, the Supervisory Committee 
considers that the auditor’s report with standard unqualified opinions provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Zhong Tian (PricewaterhouseCoopers) represented a true, objective and fair description of the financial 
conditions, operating results and cash flow of the Company without any false records, misleading 
statements or material omissions.

(3) use of proceeds

During the reporting period, the expended proceeds from A Share issuance amounted to RMB374 million 
while the accumulated expended proceeds amounted to RMB22.438 billion. The actual expenses incurred 
were consistent with those the Company undertook to fund the projects. Furthermore, as approved on the 
third meeting of the third session of the Board held on 24 August 2016, the Company was permitted to 
apply the idle proceeds of RMB3,300 million to replenish working capital temporarily. Consequently, the 
Company used idle proceeds of RMB2,769.70 million and interests of RMB495.3406 million to replenish 
working capital temporarily during 2016.

(4) Acquisition or Disposal of Assets by the Company

During the reporting period, Shanghai Energy Company, a subsidiary of the Company, transferred the 
100% equity interest in Xuzhou Sifang Aluminum Energy Co., Ltd. and the whole assets and liabilities of 
Longdong Coal Mine held by it to Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company Limited; China National 
Coal Mining Equipment Company Limited transferred the 100% equity interest in Chinacoal Handan Coal 
Mining Equipment Co., Ltd. to Beijing Chinacoal Equipment Co., Ltd.; China Coal and Coke Holdings 
Limited transferred the 91% equity interest in China Coal Jiuxin Company to China Coal Import and Export 
Company and China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited transferred the 100% equity interest in Lingshi 
Chemical Company to China Coal Import and Export Company. The above transactions were conducted in 
accordance with the principles of market pricing, and the considerations of these transactions were fair and 
reasonable. The Supervisory Committee did not identify any insider dealing or any circumstances that were 
detrimental to the interests of Shareholders or resulted in a dissipation of assets of the Company.
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(5) Connected transactions

During the reporting period, the connected transactions of the Company were conducted by strictly 

adhering to the principles of equality, fairness, openness and complying with the requirements of relevant 

laws and regulations and the connected transactions management system, and its disclosure of information 

was standardised and transparent. The Supervisory Committee did not identify any acts that were 

detrimental to the benefits of the Company.

(6) review of Assessment report on Internal Control and social responsibility 
report

The Supervisory Committee has duly reviewed the Report on Internal Control of the Company for 2016 

and the Social Responsibility Report of the Company for 2016. The Supervisory Committee is of the 

opinion that the assessment report on internal control and the social responsibility report of the Company 

have given an objective and true picture of the conditions of the internal control and the performance of 

social responsibility of the Company. The Supervisory Committee has no dissenting opinion on the above-

mentioned two reports.

(7) Implementation of resolution of shareholders’ general Meetings

The Supervisory Committee has conducted supervision over the Board’s implementation of the resolutions 

passed at the Shareholders’ general meeting during the reporting period, and is of the opinion that the 

Board has been able to duly perform its duties, strengthen scientific decision-making as well as actively 

and consistently implement the relevant resolutions of the Shareholders’ general meeting and hence has 

promoted the scientific and healthy development of the Company.

In 2017, the Supervisory Committee will continue to fulfill its duties faithfully and diligently in strict 

compliance with the Company Law, the Articles of Association of the Company and relevant provisions, 

and strive to fulfill its work with an aim to protect the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

the supervisory Committee of
China Coal energy Company Limited

22 March 2017
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During the reporting period, the Company continued to strive for standardised operations, improve the Company’s 

corporate governance system, accelerate the development of its information systems, improve its comprehensive risk 

management system and internal control system as well as enhance management efficiency and corporate governance.

1. OvervIew OF COrpOrAte gOvernAnCe

The Company has established a corporate governance structure comprising the Shareholders’ general meeting, 

the Board, the Supervisory Committee and the management team in accordance with the provisions of relevant 

laws and regulations including the Company Law and the Securities Law, so as to establish a check-and-balance 

mechanism with clear delineation of rights and responsibilities and standardised operation among the executive, 

decision-making and supervisory bodies and the management team. The Company has formulated a series of rules 

and regulations such as “Articles of Associations”, “Rules of Procedures of Shareholders’ General Meetings” and 

“Rules of Procedures of the Board of Directors”. During the reporting period, the Company made amendments 

to its regulatory framework including the Articles of Association in compliance with the latest requirements of 

laws and regulations, the listing rules and regulatory rules of the stock exchanges where the Company’s shares 

are listed, making the corporate governance system more optimal. For details, please refer to the announcements 

published on the websites of SSE, HKSE and the Company on 21 June 2016. The corporate governance of the 

Company basically complies with the requirements of relevant regulations of the CSRC.

The Board has reviewed the documents regarding corporate governance adopted by the Company, and believes 

that such documents have met the relevant code provisions as set out under the “Corporate Governance Code” and 

the “Corporate Governance Report” set out in Appendix 14 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. For the year ended 

31 December 2016, the Company strictly complied with the aforementioned code provisions.

2. suBstAntIAL Interests AnD sHOrt pOsItIOns OF tHe 
COMpAny HeLD By suBstAntIAL sHAreHOLDers

Details are set out in the section headed “Shareholdings of Substantial Shareholders” under the Directors’ Report 

in this report.

3. MODeL CODe FOr seCurItIes trAnsACtIOns By DIreCtOrs 
AnD supervIsOrs

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Upon making specific enquiries, the Company 

confirmed that all Directors and Supervisors had complied with the Model Code throughout the year of 2016.
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4. IntrODuCtIOn tO sHAreHOLDers’ generAL MeetIng

In order to ensure that all Shareholders enjoy equal status and effectively exercise their own rights, the Company 

convenes Shareholders’ general meetings every year in accordance with the Articles of Association. Pursuant to 

the Articles of Association, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened within two months upon request 

in writing by Shareholders holding independently or jointly 10% or above of the outstanding shares of the 

Company conferring a right to vote. The relevant documents must state the objective of the meeting and be served 

to all Shareholders. The Shareholders may raise questions to the Board and may raise their opinions at the general 

meeting. The contact information of the Company is set out in the section headed “Company Profile” in this 

report.

session of meeting Date of meeting
website for disclosure of 
the resolution

Date of disclosure 
of the resolution

2015 annual general meeting 21 June 2016 The website of the HKSE 21 June 2016

The website of the Shanghai 

 Stock Exchange

22 June 2016

shareholders’ general Meeting:

A total of ten resolutions were considered and approved by the Shareholders at the 2015 annual general meeting, 

including the directors’ report for 2015 and the supervisory committee’s report for 2015.

All the resolutions at the Shareholders’ general meetings mentioned above were passed. The resolutions were 

disclosed on the website of the HKSE on 21 June 2016, and on the website of the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 22 

June 2016.

5. perFOrMAnCe OF DutIes By DIreCtOrs

Under the Articles of Association, the Board has the following principal responsibilities: to decide the Company’s 

operational plans and investment plans; to set up the Company’s annual financial budgets and final accounts 

plans; to work out the Company’s profit distribution plans and plans to offset losses; to decide the structure of 

the Company’s internal management; to appoint or remove the Company’s president, chief financial officer or the 

secretary to the Board and to appoint or remove the Company’s vice president in accordance with the nomination 

of the president; and to discharge other functions assigned by a Shareholders’ general meeting and the Articles of 

Association.

The Board is responsible for supervising the preparation of financial statements for every financial period to 

ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, operating results and 

cash flow of the Company during the reporting period. When preparing the financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2016, the Board has selected applicable accounting policies, and made prudent, fair and 

reasonable judgement and estimations and prepared the financial statements on an ongoing basis. The statement 

of responsibilities of the international auditors is set out in the independent auditor’s report of this report.
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During the reporting period, all members of the Board actively participated in continuous professional training, 

including professional training sessions provided by the Company, which helped to keep them updated with the 

latest knowledge and techniques. It is ensured that all members can contribute to the Board in an appropriate and 

well-informed manner.

Apart from the working relationships in the Company, there was no financial, business or family relationship or 

other material relationship among the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company.

(I) Attendance at Board Meeting and shareholders’ general Meeting

name of director
Independent 

or not

Attendance at the Board meeting
Attendance 

at
 shareholders’ 

general 
meeting

required 
attendance 

at Board 
meetings 
this year

Attendance 
in person

Attendance 
by 

telecommunication
Attendance 

by proxy Absence

Absent at 
two meetings 

in a row

Li Yanjiang No 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Peng Yi No 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Liu Zhiyong No 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Gao Jianjun No 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Xiang Xujia No 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Zhang Ke Yes 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Zhao Pei Yes 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Ngai Wai Fung Yes 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

During the reporting period, the attendance rate of each Director at Board meetings was 80%. The 

Company complied with all relevant code provisions in terms of the number of Board meetings held, 

procedures for convening Board meetings, minutes and records of Board meetings, rules of meetings and 

related matters. The attendance rate reflected that all Directors were diligent and responsible and were 

dedicated to promoting the interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

During the reporting period, the attendance rate of each Director at Shareholders’ general meetings was 

100% and none of the Directors absent at two Board meetings in a row.

Number of Board meetings held during 2016 5

Including: Number of meetings held on-site 5

Number of meetings held by telecommunication 0

Number of meetings held on-site with telecommunication 0

In 2016, the Board convened a total of five meetings, at which all the resolutions were passed after 

consideration. Details of the meetings are as follows:

1. The first meeting for 2016 of the third session of the Board convened on 22 March 2016 considered 

and approved nineteen resolutions in relation to the annual report for 2015, Directors’ report for 

2015, financial report for 2015, proposed profit distribution plan for 2015, capital expenditure plans 

for 2016, financial plans for 2016, engagement of auditors to review interim financial report and 

audit annual report for 2016, special report for deposit and actual application of the proceeds from 
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the A share issuance by the Company for 2015, remunerations of the Directors and Supervisors 

for 2016, assessment report regarding internal control for 2015, social responsibility report for 

2015, the general mandate to issue debt financing instruments, the amendments to the Articles 

of Association, the adjustments to the annual caps of connected transactions under the Financial 

Services Framework Agreement of the Company for 2016 – 2017, the adjustments to the caps of 

connected transactions under the Coal and Other Related Product Supplies Framework Agreement of 

the Company for 2016 – 2017, the amendments to the Work Manual of the Audit Committee of the 

Board of the Company, the proposal in respect of futures of thermal coal for 2016, and the proposal 

in respect of renunciation of the right of first refusal of 49% equity interest in China Coal Huajin 

Company. The reports in regard to the work progress of capital expenditure plans for 2015 and the 

implementation of resolutions of the Board meetings for 2015 were also heard at the meeting.

2. The second meeting for 2016 of the third session of the Board convened on 27 April 2016 considered 

and approved nine resolutions in relation to the first quarterly report for 2016, the amendments to the 

Articles of Association and relevant systems of the Company, the comprehensive risk management 

report of the Company for 2016, operational results performance evaluation of senior management 

for 2016, the proposal in respect of the transfer of 100% equity interest in Xuzhou Sifang Aluminum 

Energy Co., Ltd. from Shanghai Energy Company to Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company 

Limited, the proposal in respect of the transfer of 100% equity interest in Chinacoal Handan Coal 

Mining Equipment Co., Ltd. from China National Coal Mining Equipment Company Limited 

to Beijing Chinacoal Equipment Co., Ltd., the proposal in respect of the transfer of 91% equity 

interest in China Coal Jiuxin Company from China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited to Import 

and Export Company, the proposal in respect of the transfer of 100% equity interest in Lingshi 

Chemical Company from China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited to Import and Export Company, 

and convening of 2015 annual general meeting of the Company. The three reports in regard to work 

progress in 2015 and work arrangement for 2016 of the auditing work; work progress in 2015 and 

work arrangement for 2016 of safety, health and environmental protection of the Company; and the 

proposal and arrangement for disposal of relevant assets by capitalising on relevant policies recently 

were also heard at the meeting.

3. The third meeting for 2016 of the third session of the Board convened on 24 August 2016 considered 

and approved four resolutions in relation to the interim report for 2016, the special report for 

deposit and actual application of the proceeds from the A share issuance in the first half of 2016, 

the temporary replenishment of liquidity with the proceeds raised by the Company, and the proposal 

for resignation of Niu Jianhua and Weng Qing’an. The two reports in regard to the work progress of 

capital expenditure for January to June 2016 and the work arrangement for the second half of 2016 

and the implementation of resolutions of the Board of the Company for the first half of 2016 were 

also heard at the meeting.

4. The fourth meeting for 2016 of the third session of the Board convened on 28 October 2016 

considered and approved one resolution in relation to the third quarterly report for 2016, and the two 

reports in regard to the risk management work of the Company for 2016 and the sediment project 

and the work of cutting overcapacity of the Company were also heard at the meeting.
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5. The fifth meeting for 2016 of the third session of the Board convened on 8 December 2016 

considered and approved two resolutions in relation to the transfer of entire assets and liabilities 

in Longdong Mine by Shanghai Energy Company to Datun Coal and Electricity (Group) Company 

Limited and the proposal for the payment of remuneration to senior management for 2015.

During the reporting period, the Company complied with all relevant code provisions in terms of the 

number of Board meetings held, procedures for convening Board meetings, minutes and records of Board 

meetings, rules of meetings and related matters. The attendance rate reflected that all Directors were 

diligent and responsible and were dedicated to promoting the interests of the Company and Shareholders as 

a whole.

no. name Date Methods

1 The first meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 22 March 2016 On-site

2 The second meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 27 April 2016 On-site

3 The third meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 24 August 2016 On-site

4 The fourth meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 28 October 2016 On-site

5 The fifth meeting of the third session of the Board in 2016 8 December 2016 On-site

(II) performance of Duties by Independent non-executive Directors

There are currently three independent non-executive Directors in the Board. The “Work System of 

Independent Directors” of the Company clearly defines the employment requirements, independence, 

nomination, election and replacement criteria, and the duties and obligations of independent Directors. In 

addition to the duties empowered by the Company Law, Hong Kong Listing Rules, SSE Listing Rules and 

other relevant laws and regulations such as reviewing material connected transactions, the Company also 

empowers the independent Directors with the duty to propose to appoint or remove accounting firms to the 

Board and other duties.

During the reporting period, the independent Directors strictly complied with all relevant laws and 

regulations including the Company Law, “Guidance on Establishing Independent Directors System in 

Listed Companies”, “Provisions on Strengthening the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Public 

Shareholders” as well as the rules and requirements under the Articles of Association, the “Work System 

of Independent Directors” and the “Annual Report Work System of Independent Directors”. Independent 

non-executive Directors performed their duties independently and attended relevant meetings in 2016, 

investigated thoroughly in the Company’s subsidiaries, seriously took part in the decision-making of the 

Company’s significant matters, expressed independent opinions on relevant matters of the Company, and 

provided constructive advice and recommendations regarding the corporate governance of the Company, 

reform development and production and operation. During the course of performance of duties, independent 

Directors upheld the legal rights of Shareholders, especially the minority Shareholders independently and 

objectively, fully exploiting the functions of independent Directors.

For the attendance of independent non-executive Directors at Board meetings and Shareholders’ general 

meetings, please refer to the sections on the attendance at Board meetings and Shareholders’ general 

meetings of the Company.
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(III) Implementation of resolutions passed at the shareholders’ general Meetings by 
the Board in 2016:

no.
shareholders’ 
general Meeting subject Matter status

1 2015 annual general 

meeting

To approve the appointment 

of external auditors for 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers were engaged as 

auditors for 2016 to provide review and 

audit services regarding the annual report 

in accordance with PRC GAAP and IFRS 

respectively

2 2015 annual general 

meeting

To grant the Company a 

general mandate to issue debt 

financing instruments

Pursuant to the mandate, the Company 

registered an amount of RMB10 billion of 

financing bonds during the reporting period, 

which is valid for two years commencing 

from the date on which the Notice of 

Registration Acceptance is signed. Short-term 

financing bonds of RMB3 billion were issued 

in 2016.

6. perFOrMAnCe OF DutIes OF tHe COMMIttees unDer tHe 
BOArD DurIng tHe repOrtIng perIOD

As at 31 December 2016, there are five specialised committees under the Board, details of which are set forth 

below:

third session
Committee Chairman Members

Audit and risk management committee Zhang Ke Peng Yi, Xiang Xujia, Zhao Pei, Ngai Wai Fung

Strategic planning committee Li Yanjiang Gao Jianjun, Xiang Xujia, Zhao Pei

Remuneration committee Ngai Wai Fung Peng Yi, Zhang Ke

Nomination committee Zhao Pei Li Yanjiang, Zhang Ke

Safety, health and environmental 

 protection committee

Gao Jianjun Liu Zhiyong, Ngai Wai Fung

(I) Audit and risk Management Committee

With the approval of the Shareholders’ general meeting of 2016, the Board renamed the audit committee 
into the audit and risk management committee and revised the relevant work manual and increased the 
relevant work. In 2016, the audit and risk management committee under the Board comprised three 
independent non-executive Directors and two non-executive Directors. The “Work Manual of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee of the Board” clearly defines the status, composition, terms of reference, 
decision-making procedures as well as rules of procedure of the audit and risk management committee. 
The audit and risk management committee is mainly responsible for supervising the truthfulness and 
completeness of the Company’s financial statements, as well as the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control and risk management system; engaging accounting firm and supervising its work; supervising and 
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inspecting the financial management, risk management and internal control of the Company; reviewing 
the Company’s annual and interim reports and profit announcements; preparing significant accounting 
policies and practices adopted by financial reports; and establishing a procedure for handling complaints 
regarding accounting and audit matters, potential illegal acts and doubtful accounting or audit matters. The 
responsibilities of the audit and risk management committee comply with the relevant requirements of the 
Hong Kong Listing Rules. The audit and risk management committee is accountable to the Board.

In 2016, the audit and risk management committee held a total of six meetings, at which the resolutions 
such as the Company’s annual report, financial report and internal control report were considered, and 
the audit opinion of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian on the Company’s financial report for 2016 and 
the report on the sale of equity interests of the Company’s subsidiaries to the relevant companies of the 
controlling shareholders were heard. All the resolutions were approved at respective meetings and all the 
members of the audit and risk management committee attended all the six meetings in person except for 
Zhang Ke (chairman) and Peng Yi (a member) on leave once respectively.

(II) strategic planning Committee

In 2016, the strategic planning committee under the Board comprised two executive Directors, one 
independent non-executive Director and one non-executive Director. The “Work Manual of the Strategic 
Planning Committee of the Board” clearly defines the status, composition, terms of reference, decision-
making procedures as well as rules of procedure of the strategic planning committee. The strategic planning 
committee is mainly responsible for conducting studies regarding the Company’s long-term development 
strategy, material investments, financing, capital operation plans, capital expenditure plans and providing 
recommendations to the Board, and is entitled to examine the implementation of the aforesaid matters. The 
responsibilities of the strategic planning committee comply with the relevant requirements of the Hong 
Kong Listing Rules. The strategic planning committee is accountable to the Board.

In 2016, the strategic planning committee held one meeting, at which the resolutions such as the 2015 
annual report and 2016 budgeted capital expenditure were considered and all resolutions were approved, 
and the report on the performance of the capital expenditure budgeted for 2015 was heard. All the members 
of the strategic planning committee attended the meeting except for Li Yanjiang (chairman) on leave.

(III) remuneration Committee

In 2016, the remuneration committee under the Board comprised two independent non-executive Directors 
and one non-executive Director. “Work Manual of the Remuneration Committee” clearly defines the 
status, composition, terms of reference, decision-making procedures as well as rules of procedure of 
the remuneration committee. The major responsibilities of the remuneration committee are to submit 
remuneration policies of the Directors and the senior management to the Board, to propose to the Board 
the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management, and assess the performance of the senior 
management. The responsibilities of the remuneration committee comply with the relevant requirements of 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The remuneration committee is accountable to the Board.

In 2016, the remuneration committee held a total of three meetings, at which the resolutions such as the 
Directors’ remuneration and supervisors’ remuneration for 2016, the operational results performance 
evaluation of senior management for 2016 and the proposal for the payment of remuneration to senior 
management for 2015 were considered. All the resolutions were approved at respective meetings and all the 
members of the remuneration committee attended all the three meetings except for Peng Yi (a member) and 
Zhang Ke (a member) on leave once respectively.
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(Iv) nomination Committee

In 2016, the nomination committee under the Board comprised one executive Director and two independent 
non-executive Directors. The “Work Manual of the Nomination Committee of the Board” clearly defines 
the status, composition, terms of reference, decision-making procedures as well as rules of procedure of 
the nomination committee. It particularly requires that the chairman of the nomination committee is to 
be elected from the independent non-executive Directors. The major responsibilities of the nomination 
committee are to study the election criteria and procedures of the Directors and senior management of the 
Company, review the candidates for the Directors and senior management and give recommendations to 
the Board, and to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The responsibilities 
of nomination committee comply with the relevant requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The 
nomination committee is accountable to the Board.

Pursuant to the relevant sections of the “Corporate Governance Code”, Appendix 14 of the Hong Kong 
Listing Rules, the nomination committee developed the diversity policies of the Board, including:

1. When recommending director candidate to the Board or examining the size and composition of 
the Board, the nomination committee should thoroughly consider and evaluate the diversity of the 
members of the Board, as well as objectively determine the potential contribution to be made by the 
candidates to the Company, thus allowing the Board to be diversified in views and perspectives when 
performing its duties, composing the best combination of Board members that suit the operational 
features of the Company and enhancing the efficiency and performance of the Board.

2. A diversified composition of the Board will be based on a series of factors, including but not limited 
to age, cultural background, educational background, professional qualifications, experience, skills 
level and knowledge as well as other qualities. The nomination committee should determine the 
parameters of the diversity factors according to the business development and strategic planning 
of the Company at different times and stages, as well as review the diversification progress of the 
Board and give recommendations (if needed) to the Board for improvement.

In 2016, the nomination committee did not hold any meeting.

(v) safety, Health and environmental protection Committee

In 2016, the safety, health and environmental protection committee under the Board comprised one 
executive Director, one independent non-executive Director and one independent Director. The “Work 
Manual of the Safety, Health and Environmental Protection Committee” clearly defines the status, 
composition, terms of reference, decision making procedures as well as rules of procedure of the safety, 
health and environmental protection committee. The safety, health and environmental protection committee 
is mainly responsible for the implementation of the Company’s safety, health and environmental protection 
plans, supervision of the potential responsibilities, changes of laws and regulations and technological 
transformation related to safety, health and environmental protection issues. The safety, health and 
environmental protection committee is accountable to the Board.

In 2016, the safety, health and environmental protection committee held two meetings, at which the 
resolutions such as the 2015 annual report and the 2015 social responsibility report were considered, and 
reports in relation to work progress in 2015 and the work arrangement for 2016 regarding safety, health and 
environmental protection were heard. All the resolutions were approved at respective meetings and all the 
members of the safety, health and environmental protection committee attended all the two meetings.
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7. COrpOrAte gOvernAnCe FunCtIOn OF tHe BOArD

As approved by the general meeting of the Company held on 25 May 2012, amendments were made to the Board’s 

rules of procedure, under which the Board is delegated to perform the following functions: to formulate, review 

and make recommendations on the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices; to review and monitor 

the professional training and continuous professional development for the Directors and senior management of 

the Company as well as the Company’s policies and practices in legal compliance and regulatory requirements; 

to formulate, review and monitor the Code of Conduct and Compliance Manual (if any) for employees and the 

Directors; to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosures made in the 

Corporate Governance Report; to formulate and review regularly Shareholders’ communications policies to ensure 

their effectiveness.

During the reporting period, the Board reviewed and revised a series of corporate governance documents of the 

Company, including the Articles of Association, and monitored the implementation of these documents from 

time to time; reviewed and keenly organised professional training and continuous professional development for 

the Directors and senior management; reviewed and monitored the Company to identify any violation of laws 

and regulatory requirements; approved the Company’s Corporate Governance Report for 2015 and authorised the 

disclosure of the same on the HKSE website and the Company website; and formulated, reviewed and supervised 

Shareholders communication policies to ensure their effectiveness.

8. tHe COMpOsItIOn OF tHe COMpAny’s MAnAgeMent AnD Its 
respOnsIBILItIes

The Company’s management team comprises one president and two vice presidents. The president is accountable 

to the Board. The responsibilities of the management are to take charge of the Company’s production, operation 

and management; to organise resources to implement the Board’s resolutions and the Company’s annual 

operational plans and investment plans; to draw up the proposals regarding the structure of the Company’s 

internal management and the basic management system of the Company; to formulate the Company’s basic rules 

and regulations; to propose appointment or removal of the Company’s vice presidents (managers); to appoint or 

remove the Company’s management other than those who should be appointed or removed by the Board; and all 

other duties assigned by the Articles of Association and the Board.

9. tHe CHAIrMAn AnD tHe presIDent

In 2016, the Company’s chairman was Mr. Li Yanjiang and its president was Mr. Gao Jianjun. The chairman and 

the president are two different positions with clearly delineated responsibilities. The chairman does not serve as 

the president concurrently, and the terms of reference of the chairman and the president are also clearly set out 

in writing. For details, please refer to the Articles of Association. Senior management of the Company other than 

Directors and Supervisors are responsible for the Company’s daily business operations and their duties are set out 

in the section headed “Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Employees” in this report.

10. InsurAnCe ArrAngeMent

Pursuant to Provision A1.8 under the “Corporate Governance Code” and the “Corporate Governance Report” set 

out in Appendix 14 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Company should purchase appropriate insurance to cover 

potential legal actions against its Directors. The Company has renewed its liability insurance purchased for its 

Directors, Supervisors and senior management.
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11. reMunerAtIOn OF AuDItOrs

In 2016, the Group’s international auditor was PricewaterhouseCoopers, and the domestic auditor was 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian. The Group’s annual audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2016 was 

RMB11,500,000 in aggregate, of which audit fees for internal control amounted to RMB1,200,000. Apart from 

abovementioned fees, the Group engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian to provide services for its issue of 

corporate bonds and short-term financing bonds, and paid non-audit fees of RMB230,000.

12. supervIsOrs AnD supervIsOry COMMIttee

The Supervisory Committee comprises three Supervisors, including two shareholder representatives and one 

employee representative. The Supervisory Committee is accountable to the Shareholders’ general meeting and 

reports its work to the general meeting.

During 2016, among the members of the Supervisory Committee, Mr. Zhou Litao and Mr. Zhao Rongzhe served 

as the shareholder representative Supervisors and Mr. Zhang Shaoping served as the employee representative 

Supervisor.

The principal duties of the Supervisory Committee are to supervise, inspect and assess the Company’s operation in 

accordance with the laws, the financial affairs of the Company and whether the Directors and senior management 

of the Company have performed their duties lawfully.

The Supervisory Committee held five meetings during the reporting period.

Attendance details of the meetings of the Supervisory Committee are as follows:

supervisor
Attendance 

in person
Attendance 

by proxy
Attendance 

rate (%)

Third session of the Supervisory Committee Zhou Litao 5/5 0 100

Zhao Rongzhe 5/5 0 100

Zhang Shaoping 5/5 0 100
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13. e s tA B L I s H M e n t A n D I M p L e M e n tAt I O n O F A n C I L L A ry 
MeCHAnIsMs

(I) Management of Connected transactions

The Company strictly adheres to the provisions of the listing rules of the stock exchanges where the 

Company’s shares are listed, the “Guidelines of the Shanghai Stock Exchange on Connected Transactions 

of Listed Companies”, “Management Measures on Connected Transactions” and the “Detailed Rules for the 

Implementation of the Management Measures for Connected Transactions” of the Company to manage and 

regulate various connected transactions. Necessary connected transactions were carried out in a reasonable 

manner in accordance with the routine connected transactions and their caps considered approved by the 

Board and Shareholders’ general meeting of the Company. The consideration of connected transactions 

is determined in accordance with the principle set out in the framework agreement, therefore is fair and 

reasonable and in the best interest of the Shareholders as a whole.

In 2016, the Company sustained its connected transaction budget management, monthly monitoring, cap 

alert and regular discussion mechanisms to reinforce the management foundation through the strengthening 

of compliance training, research and study, dynamic management and the update of connected party 

lists. With the help of electronic statistic software, the Company controlled the actual monthly amounts 

of connected transactions, analyzed and studied problems of related enterprises identified in the course 

of management of connected transactions to instruct and urge related enterprises to eliminate hidden 

problems, thus ensuring the continuing connected transactions do not exceed the annual exempted 

caps. The Company further introduced an internal mechanism for reporting important information, and 

continuously monitored and controlled the non-continuing connected transactions, to ensure the approval 

and disclosure procedures of non-continuing connected transactions were conducted in a timely manner.

Through constantly strengthening the implementation of systems for management of connected transactions 

and solidifying the foundation for management of connected transactions by various measures, the 

Company further improved its standards for management and control of connected transactions and ensured 

the compliance of various connected transactions with the laws and regulations and regulatory requirements 

during the reporting period.

(II) establishment of Internal Control system and Internal Control Audit

1. Statement of the Board

In accordance with the regulations of enterprise internal control regulated systems and the relevant 

requirements under the “Corporate Governance Code” and the “Corporate Governance Report” of 

the HKSE, the Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems of the 

Company and its subordinate enterprises and reviewing their effectiveness. These risk management 

and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 

achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 

material misstatement or loss. The Company has effective procedures in relation to financial 

reporting and compliance with the requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
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2. Development of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems of the 
Company

(1) The risk management and internal control systems of the Company

The Company has established a standardised and sound corporate governance and control 

structure in accordance with modern corporate systems, aiming to achieve coordinated 

operation and standardised management. The structure clearly defines the terms of 

reference, employment requirements, rules of procedures and work procedures of decision-

making level, management level and executive level, and ensures the separation of decision 

making, execution and supervision as well as maintains its effective check and balance, 

ensuring scientific decision-making and the effectiveness of implementation. The Company 

has established risk management and control systems in the headquarter and subordinate 

enterprises with scientific decision-making, efficient execution and effective supervision 

based on institutional building, with an aim to achieve decision-making based on scientific 

methods, efficient execution and effective supervision and focusing on the main direction 

of “Target, Risk and Control”. Subject to the Articles of Association, the Company has 

formulated rules and regulations such as “Rules of Procedures of the Board of Directors”, 

“Rules of Procedures of the Audit and Risk Control Committee”, “Rules of Procedures of the 

General Manager”, “Internal Control Handbook”, “Internal Control Evaluation Handbook”, 

“Workflow Handbook” and “Appraisal Measures for Comprehensive Risk Management and 

Internal Control”. The Company has promoted the effective operation of its risk management 

and risk control systems through establishing an effective organisational function system for 

risk management and internal control, which provides reasonable assurance for the Company 

to achieve strategic goals and sustainable development.

(2) The composition of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems have “Three Lines of Defense”, 

which is comprised of the decision-making body of risk management, the functional body 

of risk management and the responsible body of risk management. The “Three Lines of 

Defense” are neither established alone nor could be replaced by the others. They complement 

and strengthen each other and are designated to correct deviation, as well as prevent and 

control risks.

The First Line of Defense: all departments at headquarter and their subordinate enterprises. 

It is responsible for the risk management of business lines. It is the bearer of specific risks as 

well as the department which is directly responsible for risk management.

The Second Line of Defense: the functional body of risk management. It is mainly 

responsible for the overall panning, organisation and coordination, formulating the risk 

management systems, procedures of the Company, and supervising their implementation. 

It is also responsible for coordinating, promoting and supervising the effectiveness of the 

risk management and internal control under the First Line of Defense and at the same time, 

undertakes the core management and organisation functions of material risks.
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The Third Line of Defense: the audit and risk management committee of the Company. It is 

responsible for supervising and examining the financial management, risk management and 

internal control of the Company, reviewing the risk assessment and management policies of 

the Company, assessing the nature and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take 

in achieving its strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes effective risk 

management and internal control systems.

The “Three Lines of Defense” work together and establish an error correction mechanism to 

effectively control deviation and risks, thus laying a solid foundation for risk management 

and improving operating efficiency. In addition, the Board and its audit and risk management 

committee are responsible for identifying, analysing, monitoring and managing material risks 

as well as the overall planning and management of the “Three Lines of Defense” and their 

effective operation, pushing forward the implementation and improvement of the Company’s 

risk management.

(3) Procedures for identifying, assessing and managing material risks

The Company has set up procedures to identify, assess and manage material risks based on 

assessment basis, assessment dimension, risk rating and dispersion.

Firstly, the Company grades risks from aspects of assessment basis, assessment dimension, 

risk rating and dispersion:

In respect of assessment basis: risks will be graded by reference to the risks currently 

controlled by the Company (without taking into account the risks that may be controlled by 

the Company in the future).

In respect of assessment dimension: each risk will be graded according to the possibility of 

their occurrence and their impacts. The possibility represents the probability that a risk may 

occur, the impact represents the economic, operating, reputation and other losses that the risk 

may incur, and both adopt five-mark systems. Value at risk= probability × impacts, and as a 

result, value at risks ranges from 1-25 and the higher the value at risk, the greater the risks.

In respect of risk rating: risks are classified into low, medium and high three levels in 

accordance with risk assessment standard based on the value at risk calculated.

In respect of dispersion: dispersion represents the extent that a group of figures deviate 

from the average number, and the smaller the dispersion, the more consistent the assessment 

results.

Through identifying and assessing risks, the risks faced by the Company are categorised into 

5 primary risks including strategic risk, financial risk, market risk, operational risk and legal 

risk and 70 secondary risks.

Secondly, the Company calculates the final assessment results of each risk after considering 

the grade of each assessment, pursuant to which the material risks faced by the Company 

during the year are assessed.
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(4) Procedures and internal control measures for handling and dissemination of insider 

information

The Company has established special insider information management systems such as the 

“Registration System for Persons with Insider Information”, “Internal Reporting System for 

Material Information” and “Information Disclosure Management System”. The systems above 

set out the procedures and internal control measures for disseminating and issuing insider 

information, including: persons with insider information such as directors, supervisors, 

senior management, and persons in charge of each department, branches, subsidiaries and 

other related subsidiaries of the Company have the responsibility of reporting the insider 

information that they are informed of within their authorities to the secretary to the Board 

who shall report to the chairman and senior management of the Company in a timely 

manner after receiving such report. For insider information which requires the Board and 

Shareholders’ general meetings to review and approve or require the Company to fulfill its 

responsibility of information disclosure, the secretary to the Board shall propose to the Board 

and the Supervisory Committee to conduct corresponding procedures and disclose such 

information in accordance with relevant requirements to the public.

For accidental material insider information which the Company is informed of, the 

secretary to the Board is able to effectively communicate with directors, supervisors, senior 

management and persons in charge of each department, branches, subsidiaries and other 

related subsidiaries of the Company in an active and timely manner, ensuring that the 

Company will fulfill the insider information disclosure procedure in accordance with laws and 

regulations. Meanwhile, the Company has established a regular compliance meeting system 

to discuss whether insider information should be disclosed and review the effectiveness of 

insider information management on a monthly basis.

(5) Measures for responding to material internal control deficiency

Based on major objectives for the year and areas that may incur material business risks, 

in respect of the material risks for the year assessed, the Company has adopted detailed 

measures for controlling the material risks, tracked the effectiveness of the risk control in a 

timely manner, and determined the subject responsible for material risk control and its terms 

of references. As for the significant control failings or weakness that has been identified 

during the reporting period and the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes 

or contingencies, the Company’s responsible body of risk management shall report to the risk 

management functional department, the Board and its audit and risk management committee 

in a timely manner, and be responsible for identifying and analysing the material impacts that 

such outcomes or contingencies have had, could have had, or may in the future have on the 

Company’s financial performance or conditions, and making risk management emergency 

plans in a timely manner. The risk management functional department and the Board will 

supervise the implementation of such emergency plans, analyse and assess the impact that 

such matter has on the Company, and fully assess, study and judge the feasibility of the 

emergency plans.
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3. Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board regularly organises and conducts a review of the internal risk management and internal 

control system of the headquarter and subordinate enterprises, formulates the overall planning and 

objectives for the internal review of risk management and internal control systems, and carries out 

education and trainings regarding risk management and internal control every year. For the year 

ended 31 December 2016, the Board has conducted 3 reviews of the effectiveness of the internal 

risk management and internal control systems of the headquarter and its subordinate enterprises, the 

scopes of which covered each and every key aspect of the control systems including the financial 

control system, operation control system and compliance control system, such as development 

strategy management, investment management, contract management, finance management, 

capital raising management, material purchase management, infrastructure project management, 

safety production management, sales management, property right management, human resource 

management, and quality and technology management. After the reviews, the Company was of the 

view that the headquarter and subordinate enterprises had set up internal audit function, and the 

internal risk management and internal control systems of the headquarter and subordinate enterprises 

were effective and sufficient.

In order to reasonably ensure the effectiveness of the internal risk management and internal control 

systems, and the quality of the internal review, the Board authorises the risk management and 

internal control departments to supervise and inspect the effectiveness of reviewing the internal risk 

management and internal control systems of subordinate enterprises every year. The scopes of the 

supervision and inspection cover the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal 

control systems, the changes in the nature and extent of material risks assessed during the year, the 

Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment, the scope and 

quality of ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems, the work of the internal 

audit function and other assurance providers, and significant control failings or weakness that has 

been identified during the reporting period and the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen 

outcomes or contingencies that may in the future have a material impact on the Company’s financial 

performance. In respect of the supervision and inspection above and the effectiveness of the 

Company’s risk management and internal control systems, the supervision and inspection results will 

be reported by the risk management and internal control departments to the Board and its audit and 

risk management committee, thus helping the Board to assess the effectiveness of the Company’s 

control and risk management.

4. Internal Audit

According to the Identification Standards for Significant Defects of Risk Management and Internal 

Control of the Company, during the year ended 31 December 2016, there were no significant defects 

in the risk management and internal control of the Company, and the Board was of the view that the 

Company had maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 

in accordance with the risk management and internal control systems and relevant financial reports 

and in compliance with the requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian had audited the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 

system in relation to financial reports and provided an auditor’s report with standard unqualified 

opinions.
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OpInIOn

what we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Coal Energy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 

“Group”) set out on pages 102 to 210, which comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016;

• the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 

the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly 

prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BAsIs FOr OpInIOn

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code.

key AuDIt MAtters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the impairment assessment of non-current assets in the coal segment.

key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of non-current assets in 
the coal segment

Refer to note 4(a) to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Volatile coal price and the impact of Chinese 

government’s policies to reduce capacity in the 

coal industry gave r ise to the uncer ta inty of 

recoverability of certain non-current assets in the 

Group’s coal segment, including property, plant and 

equipment, mining rights and exploration rights, 

land use rights, intangible assets and other non-

current assets.

We evaluated and tested the key controls relating to impairment 

assessment, including controls over the identification of CGUs 

with impairment indicators, development and calculations of 

DCF models.

We assessed management’s identification of CGUs with 

impairment indicators, considering the operating results in 

2016 and impact of government’s policies to reduce capacity.

We performed sensitivity analysis to identify the assumptions 

to which the outcomes of the DCF were more sensitive and 

therefore became the focus of our attention.
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key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter

Management identified four cash generating units 
(“CGUs”) in the coal segment with impairment 
indicators, with non-current assets balances of 
RMB67 bil l ion as at 31 December 2016, and 
assessed the value in use (“VIU”) of these CGUs 
based on the discounted cash flows (“DCF”). The 
key assumptions used in the DCF calculations 
included future coal prices, production volume, 
production cost, capital expenditures and discount 
rate. As the result of management’s assessment, no 
impairment provisions were made for non-current 
assets in the coal segment as at 31 December 2016.

We focused on this area because of the magnitude 
of non-current assets with impairment indicators 
and the significance of management judgements 
involved in the impairment assessment of these 
assets.

We evaluated the key assumptions adopted by management 
in the DCF models of the respective CGUs being tested, 
by utilising our knowledge of the Group and coal industry 
with the assistance of our valuation experts. Our procedures 
included:

• We compared the fu ture coal pr ices adopted by 
management against the range of coal price forecasts 
published by various reputable investment banks;

• We compared the discount rates against the market data, 
taking into account the specific risks associated with the 
CGUs;

• We compared the forecast production volume against 
relevant data such as designed capacity, permitted 
capacity, historical production volume, and future 
production plan;

• We compared the forecast capital expenditures with 
the latest budget and capital commitment to bring the 
current construction projects within the CGUs into use 
and historical data of annual fixed asset replacement; 
and

• We compared the forecast production costs against 
historical data for mines in production phase, or 
designed production costs for mines in development 
phase.

We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations in 
the DCF models prepared by management.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that 
management’s judgements made in assessing the impairment 
of the non-current assets in the coal segment were supported 
by the evidence we gathered.
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OtHer InFOrMAtIOn

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 

information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

respOnsIBILItIes OF DIreCtOrs AnD tHOse CHArgeD wItH 
gOvernAnCe FOr tHe COnsOLIDAteD FInAnCIAL stAteMents

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AuDItOr’s respOnsIBILItIes FOr tHe AuDIt OF tHe COnsOLIDAteD 
FInAnCIAL stAteMents

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 

a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 

the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 

matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is LEONG Kin Bong.

pricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2017

(If there is any inconsistency between the English and Chinese version of this independent auditor’s report, the English 

version shall prevail.)
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As at 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets
non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 128,239,858 128,805,171

Investment properties 53,270 50,836

Land use rights 7 5,038,319 4,889,260

Mining rights and exploration rights 8 33,673,946 32,843,807

Intangible assets 9 1,443,284 1,363,034

Goodwill 6,084 –

Investments in associates 10(b) 12,008,565 11,221,621

Investments in joint ventures 10(c) 2,020,163 1,878,577

Available-for-sale assets 12 5,467,784 5,566,926

Deferred income tax assets 23 2,982,306 2,425,963

Long-term receivables 13 285,342 245,524

Other non-current assets 14 6,897,443 6,716,696

198,116,364 196,007,415

Current assets
Inventories 15 7,390,899 6,825,048

Trade and notes receivables 16 14,457,865 13,268,942

Prepayments and other receivables 17 7,424,173 9,726,628

Restricted bank deposits 18 1,919,510 2,586,039

Term deposits with initial terms of over three months 18 3,455,113 18,416,259

Cash and cash equivalents 18 9,893,779 11,195,663

44,541,339 62,018,579

tOtAL Assets 242,657,703 258,025,994

equIty
equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Share capital 19 13,258,663 13,258,663

Reserves 20 43,346,514 42,775,332

Retained earnings 29,441,863 27,673,574

86,047,040 83,707,569

non-controlling interests 16,066,828 16,574,854

total equity 102,113,868 100,282,423
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As at 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILItIes
non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 21 43,496,933 54,479,691

Long-term bonds 22 25,900,417 25,896,299

Deferred income tax liabilities 23 6,738,669 6,821,961

Deferred revenue 801,552 784,397

Provision for employee benefits 70,936 41,283

Provision for close down, restoration and environmental costs 27 1,352,350 1,308,799

Other long-term liabilities 28 767,242 764,390

79,128,099 90,096,820

Current liabilities
Trade and notes payables 24 21,160,146 20,665,655

Accruals, advances and other payables 25 12,725,542 13,289,854

Short-term bonds 26 3,000,000 2,000,000

Current portion of long-term bonds – 14,972,791

Taxes payable 1,769,449 1,017,466

Short-term borrowings 21 6,573,031 5,657,929

Current portion of long-term borrowings 21 16,161,810 10,019,483

Current portion of provision for close down, restoration and 

 environmental costs 27 25,758 23,573

61,415,736 67,646,751

total liabilities 140,543,835 157,743,571

tOtAL equIty AnD LIABILItIes 242,657,703 258,025,994

The accompanying notes on page 110 to page 210 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements on pages 102 to 109 were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2017 and were 

signed on its behalf.

Li yanjiang Chai qiaolin Chai qiaolin
Chairman of the Board

Executive Director

Chief Financial Officer Manager of Finance Department



104 CHINA COAL ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

year ended 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

revenue 5 60,631,613 59,270,865

Cost of sales
Materials used and goods traded (25,375,919) (24,199,733)

Staff costs (4,053,659) (4,229,628)

Depreciation and amortisation (5,895,215) (6,393,236)

Repairs and maintenance (1,005,228) (824,533)

Transportation costs and port expenses (8,212,385) (11,735,216)

Sales taxes and surcharges (1,900,129) (1,492,708)

Others (4,296,715) (6,292,032)

Cost of sales 29 (50,739,250) (55,167,086)

gross profit 9,892,363 4,103,779

Selling, general and administrative expenses 29 (4,749,865) (4,400,328)

Other income 13,300 56,297

Other gains, net 30 980,186 283,472

profit from operations 6,135,984 43,220

Finance income 31 614,341 965,660

Finance costs 31 (4,357,025) (4,946,870)

Share of profits of associates and joint ventures 608,008 362,312

profit/(loss) before income tax 3,001,308 (3,575,678)

Income tax (expense)/credit 33 (298,757) 748,178

profit/(loss)for the year 2,702,551 (2,827,500)

profit/(loss)attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 1,715,105 (3,266,791)

Non-controlling interests 987,446 439,291

2,702,551 (2,827,500)

Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share for the profit/(loss) 
 attributable to the equity holders of the Company (rMB) 34 0.13 (0.25)

The accompanying notes on page 110 to page 210 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

profit/(loss) for the year 2,702,551 (2,827,500)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

 Fair value changes on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax (1,622) (872)

 Currency translation differences 22,813 (8,396)

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 21,191 (9,268)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 21,191 (9,268)

total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 2,723,742 (2,836,768)

total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 1,736,296 (3,276,059)

Non-controlling interests 987,446 439,291

2,723,742 (2,836,768)

The accompanying notes on page 110 to page 210 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

share 
capital reserves

retained 
earnings subtotal

non-
controlling 

interests total equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2015 13,258,663 43,069,928 30,575,152 86,903,743 16,025,405 102,929,148

Comprehensive income
(Loss)/profit for the year – – (3,266,791) (3,266,791) 439,291 (2,827,500)

Other comprehensive loss
 Available-for-sale financial assets – (872) – (872) – (872)

 Currency translation differences – (8,396) – (8,396) – (8,396)

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax – (9,268) – (9,268) – (9,268)

total comprehensive (loss)/income – (9,268) (3,266,791) (3,276,059) 439,291 (2,836,768)

Appropriations (Note 20) – (665,837) 665,837 – – –

Share of changes in reserves of investments 

 accounted for using the equity method – 4,998 (8,342) (3,344) – (3,344)

Contributions – 405,846 – 405,846 226,150 631,996

Dividends (Note 35) – – (319,649) (319,649) (21,853) (341,502)

Disposals of subsidiaries – – – – (93,150) (93,150)

Loss of significant influence over an associate – (30,335) 27,367 (2,968) (989) (3,957)

total transactions with owners, 
 recognised directly in equity – (285,328) 365,213 79,885 110,158 190,043

Balance at 31 December 2015 13,258,663 42,775,332 27,673,574 83,707,569 16,574,854 100,282,423

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – – 1,715,105 1,715,105 987,446 2,702,551
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
 Available-for-sale financial assets – (1,622) – (1,622) – (1,622)
 Currency translation differences – 22,813 – 22,813 – 22,813

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax – 21,191 – 21,191 – 21,191

total comprehensive income – 21,191 1,715,105 1,736,296 987,446 2,723,742
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

share 
capital reserves

retained 
earnings subtotal

non-
controlling 

interests total equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Appropriations (Note 20) – (45,011) 45,011 – – –
Share of changes in reserves of investments 

 accounted for using the equity method – (3,319) 3,319 – – –
Contributions – 4,728 – 4,728 244,261 248,989
Dividends (Note 35) – – – – (328,875) (328,875)
Loss of control over subsidiaries – (4,854) 4,854 – 43,047 43,047
Acquisition of non-controlling interests – 604,307 – 604,307 (1,453,905) (849,598)
Other – (5,860) – (5,860) – (5,860)

total transactions with owners, 
 recognised directly in equity – 549,991 53,184 603,175 (1,495,472) (892,297)

Balance at 31 December 2016 13,258,663 43,346,514 29,441,863 86,047,040 16,066,828 102,113,868

The accompanying notes on page 110 to page 210 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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year ended 31 December
2016 2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 37(a) 12,717,116 8,122,004

Income tax paid (649,357) (837,362)

Net cash generated from operating activities 12,067,759 7,284,642

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (8,061,784) (11,364,473)

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 1,449,019 69,225

Purchases of land use rights, mining rights and intangible assets (954,332) (76,474)

Proceeds from disposals of land use rights, 

 mining right and intangible assets 26,653 –

Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets (40,000) (400,000)

Proceeds from disposals of available-for-sale financial assets – 1,858

Increase in prepayments for investments (262,454) (224,354)

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (64,815) (38,000)

Proceeds received from disposal of a subsidiary in prior year 400,000 –

Decrease in prepayment for investments 127,651 20,000

Disposal of subsidiaries 737,288 430,860

Cash injections in associates and joint ventures (614,957) (1,747,620)

Dividends received 205,374 206,309

Loan repayment from an associate 3,100,000 –

Loan repayment from a joint venture 600,000 650,000

Loan repayment from fellow subsidiaries 4,660,000 320,000

Loan repayment from a subsidiary disposed of 1,560,227 –

A loan granted to an associate (1,550,000) (1,550,000)

A loan granted to a joint venture (400,000) –

Loans granted to fellow subsidiaries (5,896,368) (617,000)

Government grants received 184,715 103,156

Interest income on loans to fellow subsidiaries 65,700 24,972

Interest income on loans to joint ventures and an associate 122,031 135,866

Interest income on term deposits 220,380 334,209

Decrease/(increase) in placement of term deposits 

 with initial terms of over three months 14,961,146 (12,600,738)

net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 10,575,474 (26,322,204)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 13,604,995 23,690,923

Repayments of borrowings (16,913,277) (17,359,038)

Government grants received – 6,200

Contributions from the Company’s shareholders 4,728 470,474

Contributions from non-controlling interests 244,261 43,642

Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders – (319,649)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (289,129) (33,720)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest of a subsidiary (675,624) –

Interest paid (5,854,082) (5,797,304)

Net proceeds from issuance of long-term bonds – 9,976,000

Repayment of long-term bonds (15,000,000) –

Net proceeds from issuance of short-term bonds 2,992,814 1,994,500

Repayment of short-term bond (2,000,000) (500,000)

Bonds issuance costs (66,150) (72,600)

net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (23,951,464) 12,099,428

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,308,231) (6,938,134)

Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of the year 11,195,663 18,131,712

Net foreign exchange gains 6,347 2,085

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9,893,779 11,195,663

The accompanying notes on page 110 to page 210 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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1. generAL InFOrMAtIOn

China Coal Energy Company Limited (the “Company”) was established in the People’s Republic of China (the 

“PRC”) on 22 August 2006 as a joint stock company with limited liability under the Company Law of the PRC as 

a result of a group restructuring of China National Coal Group Corporation (“China Coal Group” or the “Parent 

Company”) in preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Restructuring”). The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) is 

principally engaged in mining and processing of coal, sale of coal and coal-chemical products, manufacturing and 

sale of coal mining machinery and finance services. The address of the Company’s registered office is 1 Huang Si 

Da Jie, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC.

The H shares of the Company have been listed on The Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

since December 2006, while it’s A shares have been listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since February 2008.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 

Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 

modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 

applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 

or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 

disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Going Concern

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately 

RMB16,874 million. To raise the fund required for the short-term repayment, the Group has planned 

to utilise the following:

• Short-term bonds of RMB10,000 million registered with National Association of Financial 

Market Institutional Investors in July 2016, of which RMB3,000 million had been issued in 

August 2016 (Note 26), and the remaining RMB7,000 million can be issued when necessary;

• Corporate bond of RMB8,000 million to be issued, which had been approved by China 

Securities Regulatory Commission in December 2016;

• The Group’s expected net cash flow from operating activities for the next 12 months;

• Banking facilities available for draw-down of new loans when necessary; and

• Other sources of financing given the Group’s credit rating and long-term relationship with 

reputable domestic banks and other financial institutions.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 

resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Group therefore 

continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing this consolidated financial statements.

2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by the Group for the first time for 

the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

• Amendment to IFRS 11 on accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations.

• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, “Clarification of acceptable methods of 

depreciation and amortisation”.

• Amendments from annual improvements to IFRSs – 2012-2014 Cycle, and

• Amendments to IAS 1, “Disclosure initiative”.

The adoption of these amendments did not have material impact on the current period or any 

prior period and is not likely to have material impact on future periods.



112 CHINA COAL ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(b) A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for 

annual periods beginning after 1 January 2016 and have not been applied in preparing these 

financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group, except the following set out below:

• IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”

The IASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace 

IAS 18 which covers revenue arising from the sale of goods and the rendering of 

services and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts.

The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of 

a good or service transfers to a customer.

The standard permits either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach 

for the adoption. The new standard is effective for first interim periods within annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, and will allow early adoption.

Management is currently analysing the impact of the new standard on the Group’s 

financial statements and so far has not identified any areas which are likely to be 

materially affected. The Group will continue to assess the impact of the new rules on 

the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 15 is mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018. At 

this stage, the Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date.

• IFRS 16, “Leases”

IFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the 

distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, 

an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are 

recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for Group’s operating leases. As at 

the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of 

RMB899,836,000 (note 40). However, the Group has not yet determined to what extent 

these commitments will result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for future 

payments and how this will affect the Group’s profit and classification of cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(b) A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for 
annual periods beginning after 1 January 2016 and have not been applied in preparing these 
financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group, except the following set out below: (continued)

• IFRS 16, “Leases” (continued)

Some of the commitments may be covered by the exception for short-term and low 
value leases and some commitments may relate to arrangements that will not qualify as 
leases under IFRS 16.

The new standard is mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 
2019. At this stage, the Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective 
date.

• IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and 
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for 
hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets. The standard does 
not need to be applied until 1 January 2018 but is available for early adoption. The 
Group is currently assessing whether it should adopt IFRS 9 before its mandatory date.

While the Group has yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the classification 
and measurement of financial assets currently classified as available-for-sale (AFS) 
financial assets would appear to satisfy the conditions for classification as at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and hence there will be no change to 
the accounting for these assets.

The other financial assets held by the Group include:

• equity instruments currently classified as AFS for which a FVOCI election is 
available

• debt instruments currently measured at amortised cost which appear to meet the 
conditions for classification at amortised cost under IFRS 9.

Accordingly the Group does not expect the new guidance to have a significant impact 
on the classification and measurement of its financial assets.

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new 
requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated 
at fair value through profit or loss and the Group does not have any such liabilities. 
The derecognition rules have been transferred from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and have not been changed.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(b) A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for 

annual periods beginning after 1 January 2016 and have not been applied in preparing these 

financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group, except the following set out below: (continued)

• IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (continued)

The new hedge accounting rules will align the accounting for hedging instruments 

more closely with the Group’s risk management practices. As a general rule, more 

hedge relationships might be eligible for hedge accounting, as the standard introduces 

a more principles-based approach. While the Group is yet to undertake a detailed 

assessment, it would appear that the Group’s current hedge relationships would qualify 

as continuing hedges upon the adoption of IFRS 9. Accordingly, the Group does not 

expect a significant impact on the accounting for its hedging relationships.

The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment provisions based on 

expected credit losses (ECL) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under 

IAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified at amortised cost, debt instruments 

measured at FVOCI, contract assets under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments and certain financial guarantee 

contracts. While the Group has not yet undertaken a detailed assessment of how its 

impairment provisions would be affected by the new model, it may result in earlier 

recognition of credit losses.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes 

in presentation. These are expected to change the nature and extent of the Group’s 

disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in the year of the adoption of 

the new standard.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be 

expected to have a material impact on the Group.

2.2 subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The 

Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They 

are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.2 subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(a) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations not under 

common control. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair 

values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree 

and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the 

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 

combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 

basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their 

holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured 

at either fair value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognised 

amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests 

are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by 

IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the 

acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the 

acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in 

profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at 

the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration 

that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in 

profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its 

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 

acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 

over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total 

of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest 

measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a 

bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 

companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 

provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred assets. When necessary, amounts 

reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.2 subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted 

for as equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. 

The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired 

of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on 

disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to 

its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised 

in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently 

accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In 

addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of 

that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 

liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

are reclassified to profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 

attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the 

basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from 

these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the 

period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial 

statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net 

assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.3 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally 

accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are 

accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially 

recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of 

the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment in associates includes 

goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any 

difference between the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s 

identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 

share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss 

where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share 

of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive 

income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s 

share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 

receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive 

obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment 

in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 

difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the 

amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures’ in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its 

associate are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s 

interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary 

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are recognised in the income statement.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.4 Joint arrangements

The Group has applied IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements 
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligations 
each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint 
ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements 
in other comprehensive income. The Group’s investments in joint ventures include goodwill identified on 
acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint venture, any difference between the 
cost of the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets 
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or 
exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form 
part of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise further losses, unless 
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.5 segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, defined as the person who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the President Office 
that makes strategic decisions.

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s 
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
quoted by the People’s Bank of China prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges 
and qualifying net investment hedges.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are 

presented in the income statement within ‘finance cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses 

are presented in the income statement within ‘other gains, net’.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held 

at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain 

or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as 

available-for-sale, are included in other comprehensive income.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a 

hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 

are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates 

(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 

prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the 

rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.7 property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, consisting of buildings, mining structures, plant, machinery and equipment, 

railway structures and motor vehicles, fixtures and others, are stated at historical cost, less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly 

attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working condition and location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial 

year in which they are incurred.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.7 property, plant and equipment (continued)

Other than mining structures, depreciation of each asset is calculated using the straight-line method to 

allocate its cost less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of property, 

plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings 10 – 50 years

Plant, machinery and equipment 8 – 18 years

Railway structures 25 – 30 years

Motor vehicles, fixtures and others 5 – 15 years

Mining structures (including the main and auxiliary mine shafts and underground tunnels) are depreciated 

on the units of production method utilising only recoverable coal reserves as the depletion base.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet 

date.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction or pending 

installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction 

including borrowing costs attributable to the construction during the period of construction. No provision 

for depreciation is made on construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed 

and ready for intended use.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.13).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are 

included in the income statement.

2.8 Deferred stripping costs

In the mining of open-pit mines, stripping activities are necessary to remove rocks and soil above the 

coal body. Actual stripping costs incurred for each accounting period may vary based on the geological 

condition and the production plan. In the accounting for stripping costs, the portion of stripping costs 

that are incurred for the coal body to be mined in future years (those that will generate future economic 

benefits) are capitalised in property, plant and equipment, and are amortised to production cost in the 

period when the relevant coal ores are mined; and the rest of the stripping costs are recorded in production 

cost when incurred.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.9 Investment properties

Investment properties include those portions of office buildings that are held for long-term rental yields or 

for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost and subsequently accounted for under the cost model in 

accordance with the requirements of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

Depreciation of the investment properties is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost 

less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful life of these investment properties 

is estimated to be 30 years to 47 years.

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major 

renovations and improvements is capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are 

written off to the income statement. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor improvements is charged 

to the income statement when incurred.

2.10 Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Cost represents 

consideration paid for the rights to use the land on which various plants and buildings are situated for 

periods varying from 20 to 50 years. Amortisation of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis 

over the period of the land use rights.

2.11 Mining rights and exploration rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses and are amortised 

based on the units of production method utilising only recoverable coal reserves as the depletion base.

Exploration rights are stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost of the exploration rights are transferred to 

mining rights upon the government’s approval of the mining license.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.12 Intangible assets

(a) Technical know-how

Technical know-how is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 

technical know-how. These costs are amortised over estimated useful life of 20 years.

(b) Emission rights

Emission rights are capitalised on the basis of costs incurred to acquired the emission rights and 

amortised over estimated useful lives of 50 years.

(c) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 

bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over estimated useful lives of 5 years. 

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as 

an expense as incurred.

(d) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the consideration 

transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair 

value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets 

acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to 

each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from 

the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated 

represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 

management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes 

in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the 

goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair 

value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not 

subsequently reversed.
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2. suMMAry OF sIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng pOLICIes (COntInueD)

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to 

amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 

recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 

its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal 

and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 

which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than 

goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting 

date.

2.14 Financial assets

2.14.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables, and 

available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 

acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except 

for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are classified as 

non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in “cash and cash equivalents”, 

“restricted bank deposits”, “term deposits with initial terms of over three months”, “trade 

and notes receivables”, “prepayments and other receivables”, “other non-current assets” and 

“long-term receivables” in the balance sheet.

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this 

category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current 

assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the end of 

the reporting period.
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2.14 Financial assets (continued)

2.14.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on 

which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair 

value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 

expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 

ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. The investments 

in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 

cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale 

are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 

adjustments recognised in equity are included in the income statement in “other gains, net”.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement as part of 

other income when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

2.14.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there 

is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on 

a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right 

must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business 

and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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2.14 Financial assets (continued)

2.14.4 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 

that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group 

of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 

recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 

reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is 

experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, 

and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 

cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 

original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of 

the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If a loan has a variable interest 

rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 

determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment 

on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 

can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such 

as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised 

impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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2.14 Financial assets (continued)

2.14.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 

that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 

below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists the 

cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 

fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or 

loss – is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised 

in the consolidated income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the 

consolidated income statement.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted 

average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, 

other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes 

borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

the applicable variable selling expenses.

2.16 trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the 

ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or 

in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are 

presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at 

call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

2.18 share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 

are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2.19 trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in 

the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

2.20 Borrowings and bonds

Borrowings and bonds are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 

and bonds are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of 

transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the 

borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowings and bonds are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to 

defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting period.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 

qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 

intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 

on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

Borrowing costs are mainly interest expense.

2.22  Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income 

statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income and directly in equity, 

respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries, joint ventures 

and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions 

taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 

interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 

paid to the tax authorities.
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2.22  Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 

financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the 

initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 

time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 

determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance 

sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from 

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income tax 

liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and 

it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the 

Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates. Only when there 

is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary differences 

arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from 

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable 

the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available 

against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 

offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and 

liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or 

different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2.23 employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined contribution retirement benefit plans 

administered by the PRC government. The relevant government agencies undertake to assume the 

retirement benefit obligation payable to all existing and future retired employees under these plans 

and the Group has no further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions made.

In addition, as approved by the government, the Group makes contribution to a supplemental defined 

contribution pension plan for its employees. The fund is managed by a qualified fund manager and 

the Group has no further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions made.

Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.

(b) Early retirement benefits

Employee early retirement benefits are recognised in the year in which the Group enters into 

an agreement with the employee specifying the terms of early retirement or after the individual 

employee has been advised of the specific terms. The specific terms vary among the early retired 

employees depending on various factors including position, length of service and district of the 

employee concerned. Early retirement benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance 

sheet date are discounted to present value.

(c) Housing benefits

All full-time employees of the Group are entitled to participate in various government-sponsored 

housing funds. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages 

of the salaries of the employees. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited to the 

contributions payable in each year.

2.24 provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount 

has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even 

if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may 

be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as 

interest expense.
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2.25 provisions for close down, restoration and environmental costs

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence caused by the resettlement of the land at the mining 

sites. Depending on the circumstances, the Group may relocate inhabitants from the mining sites prior 

to conducting mining activities or the Group may compensate the inhabitants for losses or damage from 

close down and land subsidence after the sites have been mined. The Group may also be required to make 

payments for restoration, rehabilitation or environmental protection of the land after the sites have been 

mined.

Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure and the removal 

of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas. Close down and restoration costs are provided in 

the accounting period when the obligation arising from the related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs 

during mine development or during the production phase, based on the net present value of estimated 

future costs. The cost is capitalised where it gives rise to future benefits, whether the rehabilitation activity 

is expected to occur over the life of the operation or at the time of close down. The capitalised cost is 

amortised over the life of the operation and the increase in the net present value of the provision is included 

in borrowing costs.

Where there is a change in the expected decommissioning and restoration costs, an adjustment is recorded 

against the carrying value of the provision and related assets, and the effect is then recognised in the 

income statement on a prospective basis over the remaining life of the operation. Provisions for close down 

and restoration costs do not include any additional obligations which are expected to arise from future 

disturbance. The cost estimates are reviewed and revised at each balance sheet date to reflect changes in 

conditions.

2.26 revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 

services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, 

rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 

that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and specific criteria have been met for each of the 

Group’s activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable 

until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical 

results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each 

arrangement.
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2.26 revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sales of goods

Revenue associated with the sale of coal, coal-chemical products, mining machinery and ancillary 

materials and other goods is recognised when the goods have been delivered to the customer. 

Delivery occurs when the products have been transported to the specific location, the risk of the 

inventories have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has accepted the products 

in accordance with the sales contract or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for 

acceptance have been satisfied.

(b) Sales of services

Revenue from sales of service is generally recognised in the accounting period in which the services 

are rendered.

(c) Rental income

Rental income from properties is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease.

2.27 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a 

loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being 

the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and 

continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using 

the original effective interest rate.

2.28 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.29 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 

classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from 

the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2.30 government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the 

grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants related to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the periods 

necessary to match them with the related costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grant relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as 

deferred government grants and are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

expected lives of the related assets.

2.31 Dividend distributions

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

2.32 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 

the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance 

with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and 

other bodies on behalf of subsidiaries or associates to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the 

guarantee was given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all 

guarantees are agreed on arm’s length terms, and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the 

value of the guarantee obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, the Company’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the 

initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in accordance with IAS 18, and the best estimate of 

the amount required to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined based on experience of similar 

transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by management’s judgement. The fee income earned 

is recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to 

guarantees is reported in the consolidated income statement within other operating expenses.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of subsidiaries or associates are provided for no 

compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the 

investment in the financial statements of the Company.
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3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair 

value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall 

risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 

potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s operations (such as export sales, imports of machinery and equipment, foreign 

currency deposits (Note 18(d)), trade and notes receivables (Note 16(c)) expose it to foreign 

exchange risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with respect to the US Dollar 

(“USD”).

The Group historically has not used any derivative instruments to hedge exchange rate of 

USD and currently does not have a fixed policy to do so in the foreseeable future. If USD had 

appreciated/depreciated by 10% against RMB, the Group’s post-tax profit for 2016 would 

have increased/decreased approximately by RMB15,347,000 (2015: RMB14,748,000), with 

all other variables held constant.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term interest bearing borrowings including 

long-term borrowings and long-term bonds. Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group 

to cash flow interest-rate risk while borrowings and long-term bonds at fixed rates expose 

the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The Group determines the relative proportions of 

its fixed rate and floating rate contracts depending on the prevailing market conditions.The 

Group historically has not used any financial instruments to hedge potential fluctuations in 

interest rates.

Other than those mentioned above, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are 

substantially independent of changes in the market interest rates.

If interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings at variable rates had been 50 basis points 

higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for 2016 would have been 

approximately RMB189,911,000 (2015: RMB197,356,000) lower/higher.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents, 

trade and notes receivable, prepayments and other receivables, long-term receivables, loan to the 

related party under other non-current assets and the financial guarantees provided to the companies 

out of the Group.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with cash at bank since they are 

principally deposited at state-owned banks and other listed banks. Management does not expect that 

there will be any significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

In addition, the Group has policies to limit the credit exposure on trade and notes receivable, 

prepayments and other receivables, long-term receivables and loan to the related party under other 

non-current assets. The Group assesses the credit quality of and sets credit limits on its customers 

by taking into account their financial position, the availability of guarantee from third parties, their 

credit history and other factors such as current market conditions. The credit history of the customers 

is regularly monitored by the Group. In respect of customers with a poor credit history, the Group 

will use written payment reminders, or shorten or cancel credit periods, to ensure the overall credit 

risk of the Group is limited to a controllable extent.

The Group manages the credit risk arising from the financial guarantees provided to the companies 

out of the Group by its regular supervision of the operation and financial condition of those 

companies. The face value of the financial guarantees as disclosed in Note 39 represents the 

maximum exposure of the Group in respect of the credit risk arising from the financial guarantees.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and 

the availability of funding through an adequate amount of borrowing facilities. Due to the dynamic 

nature of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains a reasonable level of cash and cash 

equivalents, and further supplements this by keeping committed credit lines available.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for purchases of materials, machinery and 

equipment and payment of related debts. The Group finances its working capital requirements 

through a combination of funds generated from operations, bank loans, bonds and the net proceeds 

from the initial public offering.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (comprises undrawn 

borrowing facility and cash and cash equivalents (Note 18)) on the basis of expected cash flow.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately 

RMB16,874 million. Please refer to Note 2.1.1 for details.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the undiscounted cash outflow relating to the Group’s and the Company’s 

financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 

sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

Less than 
1 year

Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years

Over 
5 years total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2016
Bank borrowings 25,587,885 14,919,783 21,553,483 14,727,313 76,788,464
Bonds 4,406,800 1,406,800 18,999,800 10,519,000 35,332,400
Trade and other payables 30,673,350 – – – 30,673,350
Other long-term liabilities – 329,739 417,997 – 747,736
Financial guarantees 11,545,255 – 438,200 4,406,486 16,389,941

Total 72,213,290 16,656,322 41,409,480 29,652,799 159,931,891

At 31 December 2015
Bank borrowings 17,890,623 19,023,535 24,998,006 22,157,727 84,069,891

Bonds 19,254,300 1,406,800 19,887,600 11,038,000 51,586,700

Trade and other payables 31,764,068 – – – 31,764,068

Other long-term liabilities – 256,461 322,958 107,463 686,882

Financial guarantees – – 279,500 5,565,049 5,844,549

Total 68,908,991 20,686,796 45,488,064 38,868,239 173,952,090

For information relating to the Group’s financial guarantee contracts, please refer to Note 39.

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This 

ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 

current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) and long-term bonds less 

cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” under China Accounting Standards for 

Business Enterprises plus net debt, which amounted to RMB190,601,735,000.
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3.2 Capital management (continued)

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total borrowings and bonds 98,535,029 113,026,193

Less: cash and cash equivalents (9,893,779) (11,195,663)

Net debt 88,641,250 101,830,530

Total equity 101,960,485 100,017,203

Total capital 190,601,735 201,847,733

Gearing ratio 47% 50%

The decrease in the gearing ratio during 2016 resulted primarily due to the repayments of borrowings and 

bonds in 2016.

3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different 

levels have been defined as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs) (level 3).
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3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has the following assets which were defined as level 1.

As at 
31 December 

2016

As at 

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Available-for-sale financial assets 

 – Equity securities (level 1) 18,627 20,790

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active market is based on quoted market prices at the 

balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 

from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 

represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market 

price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

4. CrItICAL ACCOuntIng estIMAtes AnD AssuMptIOns

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group 

makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed 

below.

(a) Impairment of non-current assets

Non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment, land use rights, mining rights and exploration 

rights and intangible assets, are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. These carrying amounts are 

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts 

may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 

costs of disposal and value in use. In estimating the recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions, 

including future cash flows to be associated with the non-current assets and discount rates, are made. If 

future events do not correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to be revised, and 

this may have an impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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(a) Impairment of non-current assets (continued)

Impairment assessment of non-current assets in the coal segment

Due to volatile coal price and the impact of Chinese government’s policies to reduce capacity in the 

coal industry, based on management’s assessment, the Group’s non-current assets amounted to RMB67 

billion, including mining rights, property, plant and equipment, land use rights, intangible assets and other 

non-current assets related to four cash generating units (“CGUs”) in the coal segment, had indicators of 

impairment as at 31 December 2016.

Management performed impairment tests on such CGUs with impairment indicators. The recoverable 

amount of the CGU is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Key assumptions 

adopted in the discounted cash flow models for determining the value in use and their basis include:

• Future coal price: based on current market price and management’s analysis of factors that may have 

impact on coal market;

• Coal production volume: based on management’s production plan and limited by designed capacity 

and permitted capacity;

• Coal production costs: for coal mines in production phase, based on historical production costs and 

taking into account the factors that may have impact on future production costs; for coal mines in 

development phase, based on estimated production costs in the mine design documents;

• Capital expenditures: based on latest budget and historical data of fixed asset replacement;

• Discount rates: weighted average cost of capital reflecting the specific risk to the CGU.

According to the result of the impairment tests, the value in use of the above CGUs are greater than their 

carrying amounts as at 31 December 2016, and therefore no impairment provisions were recognised. 

However, if future events do not correspond to the above mentioned assumptions, the recoverable amounts 

will need to be revised, and this may have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and 

financial position.

(b) useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its 

property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful 

lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a 

result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management 

will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will 

write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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(c) Coal reserve estimates

Coal reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from 

the Group’s properties. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and assumptions are required about a range 

of geological, technical and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery 

rates, production costs, transport costs, commodity demand and commodity prices.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore bodies or fields 

to be determined by analysing geological data such as drilling samples. This process may require complex 

and difficult geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data.

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves changes from period to period, and because 

additional geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of reserves may change 

from period to period. Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial results and financial 

position in a number of ways, including the following:

– Carrying values of assets may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows.

– Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in the income statement may change where such 

charges are determined by the units of production basis, or where the useful economic lives of assets 

change.

– Decommissioning, site restoration and environmental provisions may change where changes in 

estimated reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of these activities.

– The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely 

recovery of the tax benefits.

(d) trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables. This 

estimate is based on the credit history of its customers and current market conditions. Management 

reassesses the provision at each balance sheet date.
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(e) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events 

for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Significant 

judgment is required from the Group in determining the provision for income taxes in each of these 

jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 

recorded, such differences will be reflected in the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in 

which such determination is made. In addition, the realisation of deferred income tax assets is dependent on 

the Group’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits and 

income tax loss carry-forward. Deviations of future profitability from estimates or in the income tax rate 

would result in adjustments to the value of income tax assets and liabilities that could have a significant 

effect on earnings.

(f) provision for close down, restoration and environmental costs

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental costs is determined by management based on 

the past experience and best estimation of future expenditures, taking into account existing relevant PRC 

regulations. However, in so far as the effect on the land and the environment from current mining activities 

becomes apparent in future years, the estimate of the associated costs may be subject to revision from time 

to time.

(g) Deferred stripping costs

The accounting for stripping costs of open-pit mines is based on management’s estimate of whether there 

are future benefits associated with the stripping activities incurred. The estimate may be influenced by 

changes of actual geological conditions, coal reserves and management’s future production plans.

5. segMent InFOrMAtIOn

5.1 general information

(a) Factors that management used to identify the entity’s reportable segments

The CODM has been identified as the President Office (總裁辦公會).

The Group’s reportable segments are entities or group of entities that offer different products and 

services. The following reportable segments are presented in a manner consistent with the way in 

which information is reported internally to the Group’s CODM for the purpose of resource allocation 

and performance assessment. They are managed according to different nature of products and 

services, production process and the environment in which they are operating. Most of these entities 

engage in just one single business, except for a few entities dealing with a variety of operations. 

Financial information of these entities has been separately presented as discrete segment information 

for CODM’s review.
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5.1 general information (continued)

(b) Reportable segments

The Group’s reportable segments are coal, coal-chemical product, mining machinery and finance.

• Coal – production and sales of coal;

• Coal-chemical – production and sales of coal-chemical products;

• Mining machinery – manufacturing and sales of mining machinery;

• Finance – providing deposit, loan, bill acceptance and discount and other financial services to 

the entities within the Group and China Coal Group.

The finance segment is regarded as a reportable segment for the first time in 2016, comparative 

segment information has been restated accordingly.

5.2 Information about reportable segment profit/(loss), assets and liabilities

(a) Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

The CODM evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss before income tax expense. The 

Group accounts for inter-segment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, 

i.e. at current market prices. The amounts of segment information are denominated in RMB, which 

is consistent with the amounts in the reports used by the CODM.

Segment assets and liabilities are those operating assets and liabilities that are employed by a 

segment in its operating activities and that either are directly attributable to the segment or can be 

allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.
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5.2 Information about reportable segment profit/(loss), assets and liabilities 
(continued)

(b) Reportable segments’ profit/(loss), assets and liabilities

For the year ended and as at 31 December 2016

Coal
Coal-

chemical
Mining 

machinery Finance
Others 
(note)

total 
operating 

segment

non 
operating 

segment

Inter-
segment 

elimination total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

segment results
revenue
Total revenue 46,707,571 10,549,358 4,029,024 – 2,490,487 63,776,440 – (3,144,827) 60,631,613
Inter-segment revenue (2,031,803) (31,057) (355,521) – (726,446) (3,144,827) – 3,144,827 –

Revenue from external 
 customers 44,675,768 10,518,301 3,673,503 – 1,764,041 60,631,613 – – 60,631,613

profit/(loss) from 
 operations 4,070,179 2,126,074 116,501 (31,460) 202,485 6,483,779 (398,589) 50,794 6,135,984

profit/(loss) before 
 income tax 2,919,315 1,352,251 25,147 380,017 187,536 4,864,266 (1,912,229) 49,271 3,001,308
Interest income 54,262 115,859 12,012 579,024 6,228 767,385 1,376,852 (1,529,896) 614,341
Interest expense (1,341,424) (986,432) (106,940) (167,548) (22,734) (2,625,078) (3,233,043) 1,528,626 (4,329,495)
Depreciation and 
 amortisation (4,052,725) (1,687,426) (389,828) (1,592) (388,838) (6,520,409) (35,079) – (6,555,488)
Share of profit/(loss) 
 of associates and 
 joint ventures 158,100 95,852 3,177 – (21) 257,108 350,900 – 608,008
Income tax 
 (expense)/credit (766,650) (36,910) 16,317 (95,053) 25,046 (857,250) 591,852 (33,359) (298,757)

Other material 
 non-cash items
Provision for impairment 
 of property, plant and 
 equipment (86,042) – – – (124,807) (210,849) – – (210,849)
Provision for impairment 
 of other assets (68,601) (147,543) (115,963) (12,870) (39,634) (384,611) (85,555) 81,202 (388,964)

segment assets and 
 liabilities
Total assets 130,944,969 50,026,481 17,644,136 6,008,183 7,039,922 211,663,691 32,842,905 (1,848,893) 242,657,703
Include: investment 
 in associates and 
 joint ventures 2,424,305 547,308 37,273 – 356 3,009,242 11,019,486 – 14,028,728
Addition to 
 non-current assets 8,832,716 2,182,876 194,573 150 438,249 11,648,564 (33,926) – 11,614,638
Total liabilities 44,831,994 24,409,957 5,835,650 3,583,547 2,873,601 81,534,749 60,856,386 (1,847,300) 140,543,835
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5.2 Information about reportable segment profit/(loss), assets and liabilities 

(continued)

(b) Reportable segments’ profit/(loss), assets and liabilities (continued)

For the year ended and as at 31 December 2015 (restated)

Coal
Coal-

chemical
Mining 

machinery Finance
Others
(note)

Total 
operating 

segment

Non 
operating 

segment

Inter-
segment 

elimination Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

segment results
revenue
Total revenue 42,106,071 11,931,918 4,979,978 – 3,166,845 62,184,812 – (2,913,947) 59,270,865
Inter-segment revenue (1,640,153) (16,948) (480,869) – (775,977) (2,913,947) – 2,913,947 –

Revenue from external 
 customers 40,465,918 11,914,970 4,499,109 – 2,390,868 59,270,865 – – 59,270,865

(Loss)/profit from 
 operations (2,184,752) 2,457,443 121,227 (484,316) 449,313 358,915 (323,319) 7,624 43,220

(Loss)/profit before 
 income tax (3,538,685) 1,289,578 29,521 407,723 (20,525) (1,832,388) (1,736,300) (6,990) (3,575,678)
Interest income 88,546 141,183 5,899 689,453 (681,008) 244,073 1,859,000 (1,137,413) 965,660
Interest expense (1,545,508) (1,295,730) (88,221) (243,434) 211,686 (2,961,207) (3,564,091) 1,568,987 (4,956,311)
Depreciation and 
 amortisation (4,452,458) (1,659,339) (374,156) (1,554) (511,842) (6,999,349) (36,480) – (7,035,829)
Share of profits/(losses) 
 of associates and
  joint ventures 88,053 (13,767) (4,535) – – 69,751 292,561 – 362,312
Income tax 
 (expense)/credit 1,269,658 (365,729) (11,135) (101,956) (62,111) 728,727 (723) 20,174 748,178

Other material 
 non-cash items
Provision for impairment 
 of property, plant and 
 equipment – – – – (34,793) (34,793) – – (34,793)
Provision for impairment 
 of other assets (130,788) (11,495) (31,443) (24,018) (91,375) (289,119) – – (289,119)

segment assets and 
 liabilities
Total assets 129,674,801 55,647,125 17,858,773 17,123,696 6,688,491 226,992,886 33,599,379 (2,566,271) 258,025,994
Include: investment 
 in associates and 
 joint ventures 2,315,068 480,211 96,917 – – 2,892,196 10,208,002 – 13,100,198
Addition to 
 non-current assets 8,585,074 4,722,113 610,991 316,892 329,806 14,564,876 5,657 – 14,570,533
Total liabilities 47,479,100 25,194,720 6,036,283 4,924,045 3,315,892 86,950,040 73,361,220 (2,567,689) 157,743,571

Note: Others segments primarily relate to aluminum, electricity generating, equipment trading agency services, tendering services and other 
insignificant manufacturing businesses.
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5.3 geographical information

Analysis of revenue

year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Domestic markets 59,790,613 57,903,697

Overseas markets 841,000 1,367,168

60,631,613 59,270,865

Note:

(a) Revenue is attributed to countries on the basis of the customers’ locations.

Analysis of non-current assets

year ended 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Domestic 189,380,420 187,768,539

Overseas 512 463

189,380,932 187,769,002

Note: The non-current assets above exclude financial instruments and deferred income tax assets.
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Buildings
Mining 

structures

plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment

railway 
structures

Motor 
vehicles, 

fixtures and 
others

Construction 
in progress total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount 22,769,018 13,583,211 33,341,591 2,685,192 1,421,977 52,566,344 126,367,333
Disposal of subsidiaries (455,822) – (426,066) – (2,706) (1,376,599) (2,261,193)
Additions 112,234 1,366,896 399,470 4,083 202,892 10,862,155 12,947,730
Transfers upon completion of construction 8,413,095 230,683 11,339,661 434,942 58,983 (20,477,364) –
Transfer to land use rights, mining rights 
 and intangible assets – – – – – (1,413,227) (1,413,227)
Transfer to investment properties (538) – – – – – (538)
Reclassification – – – (75,337) – – (75,337)
Disposals (23,006) (6,355) (43,333) – (36,970) – (109,664)
Depreciation charges (Note 29) (1,282,767) (824,470) (4,069,471) (91,938) (346,494) – (6,615,140)
Provision for impairment (11,439) – (23,354) – – – (34,793)

Closing net book amount 29,520,775 14,349,965 40,518,498 2,956,942 1,297,682 40,161,309 128,805,171

At 31 December 2015
Cost 35,159,665 20,789,043 63,436,330 3,448,918 2,991,288 40,161,309 165,986,553
Accumulated depreciation (5,533,291) (6,437,908) (22,882,068) (491,976) (1,623,692) – (36,968,935)
Impairment provision (105,599) (1,170) (35,764) – (69,914) – (212,447)

Net book amount 29,520,775 14,349,965 40,518,498 2,956,942 1,297,682 40,161,309 128,805,171

year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount 29,520,775 14,349,965 40,518,498 2,956,942 1,297,682 40,161,309 128,805,171
Additions 232,654 1,005,207 340,709 14,608 47,447 8,281,029 9,921,654
Transfers upon completion of construction 1,811,996 738,629 1,233,327 308,371 30,242 (4,122,565) –
Transfer from mining rights – – 12,379 – – – 12,379
Transfer to land use rights and 
 intangible assets – – (56,141) – – (347,629) (403,770)
Transfer to investment properties (4,861) – – – – – (4,861)
Reclassification (99,873) – 99,184 – 689 – –
Disposals (47,298) – (3,179) – (23,417) (765,597) (839,491)
Disposal of subsidiaries (798,499) (110,779) (1,411,900) – (15,690) (39,459) (2,376,327)
Others – – (97,621) (164,912) – 97,621 (164,912)
Depreciation charges (Note 29) (1,289,532) (835,231) (3,946,119) (104,854) (323,400) – (6,499,136)
Provision for impairment – – (124,807) – – (86,042) (210,849)

Closing net book amount 29,325,362 15,147,791 36,564,330 3,010,155 1,013,553 43,178,667 128,239,858

At 31 December 2016
Cost 35,642,792 22,047,349 61,305,557 3,606,985 2,863,647 43,178,667 168,644,997
Accumulated depreciation (6,269,392) (6,898,388) (24,603,064) (596,830) (1,781,581) – (40,149,255)
Impairment provision (48,038) (1,170) (138,163) – (68,513) – (255,884)

Net book amount 29,325,362 15,147,791 36,564,330 3,010,155 1,013,553 43,178,667 128,239,858
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During the year ended 31 December 2016, the depreciation charges of the Group were recorded in cost of sales 

with an amount of RMB5,515,659,000 (2015: RMB5,974,694,000), selling, general and administrative expenses 

with an amount of RMB563,204,000 (2015: RMB526,779,000), construction in progress with an amount of 

RMB386,696,000 (2015: RMB91,656,000), and cost of inventories which remained unsold as at year end with an 

amount of RMB33,577,000 (2015: RMB22,011,000) respectively.

Bank borrowings are secured on property and plant, machinery and equipment for the value of RMB10,231,969,000 

(2015: RMB15,254,282,000) (Note 21).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group was in process of applying the ownership certificates of buildings with net 

book amount of RMB4,730,318,000 (31 December 2015: RMB4,790,282,000).

7. LAnD use rIgHts

RMB’000

At 1 January 2015
Cost 5,263,601

Accumulated amortisation (571,055)

Impairment provision (1,197)

Net book amount 4,691,349

year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount 4,691,349

Additions 20,810

Transferred from property, plant and equipment 240,447

Reclassification 77,213

Disposal of subsidiaries (35,188)

Amortisation charge (105,371)

Closing net book amount 4,889,260
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7. LAnD use rIgHts (COntInueD)

RMB’000

At 31 December 2015
Cost 5,566,883

Accumulated amortisation (676,426)

Impairment provision (1,197)

Net book amount 4,889,260

year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount 4,889,260

Additions 98,682

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 42) 4,282

Transferred from property,plant and equipment 230,636

Other additions 24,638

Disposal of subsidiaries (49,120)

Disposals (26,526)

Transfer to other non-current assets (13,573)

Amortisation charge (119,960)

Closing net book amount 5,038,319

At 31 December 2016
Cost 5,835,902

Accumulated amortisation (796,386)

Impairment provision (1,197)

Net book amount 5,038,319

As at 31 December 2016, bank borrowings are secured on land use rights for the value of RMB76,204,000 (2015: 

nil).

The Group’s land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments for leasehold land located in the PRC 

with lease periods of between 20 to 50 years.

The amortisation charges were recorded in cost of sales with an amount of RMB54,456,000 (2015: 

RMB52,706,000), selling, general and administrative expenses with an amount of RMB53,934,000 (2015: 

RMB41,850,000) and construction in progress with an amount of RMB10,683,000 (2015: RMB10,815,000) and 

cost of inventories which remained unsold as at year end with an amount of RMB887,000 (2015: nil).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group was in process of applying the ownership certificates of land use rights with 

net book amounts of RMB503,287,000 (31 December 2015: RMB432,917,000).
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8. MInIng rIgHts AnD eXpLOrAtIOn rIgHts

Mining rights
exploration 

rights total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2015
Cost 16,408,229 19,810,110 36,218,339
Accumulated amortisation (3,050,625) – (3,050,625)

Net book amount 13,357,604 19,810,110 33,167,714

year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount 13,357,604 19,810,110 33,167,714
Additions 10,000 384 10,384
Transferred from property, plant and equipment 23,855 – 23,855
Amortisation charges (358,146) – (358,146)

Closing net book amount 13,033,313 19,810,494 32,843,807

At 31 December 2015
Cost 16,442,084 19,810,494 36,252,578
Accumulated amortisation (3,408,771) – (3,408,771)

Net book amount 13,033,313 19,810,494 32,843,807

year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount 13,033,313 19,810,494 32,843,807
Additions 34 1,156,655 1,156,689
Disposal of subsidiaries (53,147) – (53,147)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (12,379) – (12,379)
Amortisation charges (261,024) – (261,024)

Closing net book amount 12,706,797 20,967,149 33,673,946

At 31 December 2016
Cost 16,251,649 20,967,149 37,218,798
Accumulated amortisation (3,544,852) – (3,544,852)

Net book amount 12,706,797 20,967,149 33,673,946

As at 31 December 2016, bank borrowings are secured on mining and exploration rights for the value of 

RMB300,000,000 (2015:nil).

The amortisation charges were mainly recorded in cost of sales for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.
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9. IntAngIBLe Assets

technical 
know-how Others total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2015
Cost – 358,442 358,442
Accumulated amortisation – (94,148) (94,148)

Net book amount – 264,294 264,294

year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount – 264,294 264,294
Transferred from property, plant and equipment 901,117 247,808 1,148,925
Additions – 32,528 32,528
Disposal of a subsidiary – (9,030) (9,030)
Amortisation charge (45,056) (28,627) (73,683)

Closing net book amount 856,061 506,973 1,363,034

At 31 December 2015
Cost 901,117 629,748 1,530,865
Accumulated amortisation (45,056) (122,775) (167,831)

Net book amount 856,061 506,973 1,363,034

year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount 856,061 506,973 1,363,034
Additions 4,959 20,816 25,775
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 42) 17,600 – 17,600
Transferred from property, plant and equipment 170,686 2,448 173,134
Disposals – (127) (127)
Disposal of subsidiaries – (18,275) (18,275)
Other decreases (4,888) (19,750) (24,638)
Amortisation charge (57,578) (35,641) (93,219)

Closing net book amount 986,840 456,444 1,443,284

At 31 December 2016
Cost 1,089,474 614,860 1,704,334
Accumulated amortisation (102,634) (158,416) (261,050)

Net book amount 986,840 456,444 1,443,284

The amortisation charge was mainly recorded in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses for 
the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

Other intangible assets mainly include emission rights and computer softwares.
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10(a) suBsIDIArIes

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2016:

(a) principal subsidiaries

Company name
place of 
incorporation

registered 
capital

Attributable equity 
interest held by the

Held by 
non-

controlling 
interests

principal 
activities and 
place of operation

type of 
legal entity

Company group

Listed –
Shanghai Datun Energy 

 Resources Company Limited

(上海大屯能源股份有限公司)

Shanghai, the PRC RMB722,718,000 62.43% 62.43% 37.57% Coal mining and 

 Sale of coal in 

 Peixian, the PRC

Joint stock with 

 limited liability

unlisted –
China Coal Pingshuo Group 

 Company Limited (“Pingshuo”)

(中煤平朔集團有限公司)

Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

RMB20,845,658,000 100% 100% – Coal mining and Sale of 

 coal in Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China National Coal Mining 

 Equipment Company Limited

(中國煤礦機械裝備有限責任公司)

Beijing, the PRC RMB7,627,897,469 100% 100% – Design, manufacture 

 and Sale of coal mining 

 machinery and 

 equipment in 

 Zhangjiakou, Beijing, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China Coal and Coke Holdings 

 Limited

(中煤焦化控股有限責任公司)

Beijing, the PRC RMB1,048,813,800 100% 100% – Sale of coke in Beijing, 

 Tianjin and Taiyuan, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Shanxi China Coal Huajin Energy 

 Company Limited

(山西中煤華晉能源有限責任公司)

Taiyuan, the PRC RMB5,561,294,515 51% 51% 49% Coal mining and Sale of 

 coal in Hejin, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China National Coal Development 

 Company Limited

(中國煤炭開發有限責任公司)

Beijing, the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% – Trading of mining 

 equipment in Beijing, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China Coal Tendering Company 

 Limited 

(中煤招標有限責任公司)

Beijing, the PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100% – Tendering services in

 Beijing, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company
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Company name
place of 
incorporation

registered 
capital

Attributable equity 
interest held by the

Held by 
non-

controlling 
interests

principal 
activities and 
place of operation

type of 
legal entity

Company group

China Coal Xing’an Energy Chemical 

 Engineering Company Limited

(中煤興安能源化工有限公司)

Ulanhot, the PRC RMB500,000,000 100% 100% – Coal chemical in Ulanhot, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China Coal Ordos Energy Chemical 

 Company Limited

(中煤鄂爾多斯能源化工有限公司)

Ordos, the PRC RMB4,193,424,800 100% 100% – Coal chemical in Ordos, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Sunfield Resources Pty. Limited

(華光資源有限公司)

Sydney, Australia AUD500,000 100% 100% – Investment management, 

 trading of coal and 

 coke in Sydney, 

 Australia

Limited liability 

 company

Shuozhou Great Company Limited

(朔州市格瑞特實業有限公司)

Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

RMB425,409,000 100% 100% – Coal gangue power 

 generation in Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Shuozhou China Coal Pingshuo 

 Energy Company Limited

(朔州中煤平朔能源有限公司)

Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

RMB232,190,000 100% 100% – Processing and sale of 

 coal in Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Shaanxi Nanliang Coal 

 Company Limited

(陝西南梁礦業有限公司)

Fugu, the PRC RMB400,776,800 55% 55% 45% Mining and Sale of coal 

 in Fugu, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Datong China Coal Export Base 

 Development Company Limited

(大同中煤出口煤基地建設有限公司)

Datong, the PRC RMB125,000,000 19% 60% 40% Processing and sale of coal 

 in Datong, the PRC

Sino-foreign 

 joint venture

China Coal Heilongjiang Coal 

 Chemical Engineering 

 Company Limited

(中煤能源黑龍江煤化工有限公司)

Yilan, the PRC RMB2,474,873,500 100% 100% – Coal mining and sale of 

 coal in Yilan, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Shanxi China Coal Dongpo Coal 

 Industry Company Limited

(山西中煤東坡煤業有限公司)

Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

RMB1,111,488,600 100% 100% – Coal mining and sale of 

 coal in Shuozhou, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

10(a) suBsIDIArIes (COntInueD)

(a) principal subsidiaries (continued)
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Company name
place of 
incorporation

registered 
capital

Attributable equity 
interest held by the

Held by 
non-

controlling 
interests

principal 
activities and 
place of operation

type of 
legal entity

Company group

China Coal Xinjiang Coal Electricity 

 Chemical Company Limited

(中煤能源新疆煤電化有限公司)

Jimsar County 

 in Changji 

 Prefecture, 

 the PRC

RMB800,000,000 60% 60% 40% Coal chemical in Jimsar 

 County in Changji 

 Prefecture, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China Coal Hami Coal Industry 

 Company Limited

(中煤能源哈密煤業有限公司)

Hami, the PRC RMB614,766,400 100% 100% – Coal mining and Sale of 

 coal in Hami, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Inner Mongolia China Coal Mengda 

 New Energy & Chemical Industry 

 Company Limited

(內蒙古中煤蒙大新能源化工
 有限公司)

Ordos, the PRC RMB3,198,601,000 100% 100% – Manufacture and sale of 

 coal chemical products 

 in Ordos, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Wushenqi Mengda Mining 

 Company Limited

(烏審旗蒙大礦業有限責任公司)

Ordos, the PRC RMB854,000,000 66% 66% 34% Coal mining and sale of 

 coal in Ordos, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Ordos Yihua Mining Resources 

 Company Limited

(鄂爾多斯市伊化礦業資源
 有限責任公司)

Ordos, the PRC RMB1,274,087,300 51% 51% 49% Coal mining and sale of 

 coal in Ordos, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Guangzhou China Coal South China 

 Trading Company Limited

(廣州中煤華南銷售有限公司)

Guangzhou, 

 the PRC

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% – Wholesale coal products 

 in Guangdong, 

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China Coal Shaanxi Yulin Energy & 

 Chemical Company Limited 

 (“Shaanxi Yulin”)

(中煤陝西榆林能源化工有限公司)

Yulin, the PRC RMB9,369,060,000 100% 100% – Manufacture and sale of 

 coal chemical products 

 in Yulin, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Ordos Yinhe Hongtai Coal Power 

 Company Limited

(鄂爾多斯市銀河鴻泰煤電有限公司)

Ordos, the PRC RMB94,493,800 78.84% 78.84% 21.16% Coal mine development 

 in Ordos, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

10(a) suBsIDIArIes (COntInueD)

(a) principal subsidiaries (continued)
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Company name
place of 
incorporation

registered 
capital

Attributable equity 
interest held by the

Held by 
non-

controlling 
interests

principal 
activities and 
place of operation

type of 
legal entity

Company group

Shanxi Puxian China Coal Jinchang 

 Mining Company Limited

(山西蒲縣中煤晉昶礦業
 有限責任公司)

Linfen, the PRC RMB50,000,000 51% 51% 49% Coal mine development 

 in Linfen, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China Coal Sales and Transportation 

 Company Limited

(中國煤炭銷售運輸有限責任公司)

Beijing, the PRC RMB3,197,361,498 100% 100% – Sale of coal products and 

 other related products 

 in Shanghai, 

 Guangdong, Shandong, 

 Qinhuangdao, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Shanxi Zhongxin Tangshangou Coal 

 Industry Company Limited

(山西中新唐山溝煤業有限責任公司)

Datong, the PRC RMB16,350,000 80% 80% 20% Coal mining and sale of 

 coal in Datong, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Shanxi Puxian China Coal Yushuo 

 Mining Company Limited

(山西蒲縣中煤禹碩礦業
 有限責任公司)

Linfen, the PRC RMB50,000,000 63% 63% 37% Coal mine development 

 in Linfen, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Inner Mongolia China Coal Yuanxing

 Energy Chemical Company Limited

(內蒙古中煤遠興能源化工有限公司)

Ordos, the PRC RMB1,032,399,000 75% 75% 25% Manufacture and sale of 

 coal chemical products 

 in Ordos, the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

China Coal Finance Co., LTD. 

 (China Coal Finance)

(中煤財務有限責任公司)

Beijing, the PRC RMB3,000,000,000 91% 91% 9% Finance in Beijing,

 the PRC

Limited liability 

 company

Notes:

(a) Except for the Sunfield Resources Pty Limited, other subsidiaries have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

10(a) suBsIDIArIes (COntInueD)

(a) principal subsidiaries (continued)
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10(a) suBsIDIArIes (COntInueD)

(b) Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interest for the year is RMB16,066,828,000 (2015: RMB16,574,854,000). The 

material non-controlling interests are set out below.

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest
Shanghai Datun Energy Resources Co., Limited (“Shanghai Datun”) 3,438,520 3,241,555

Shanxi China Coal Huajin Energy Company Limited 

 (“China Coal Huajin”) 3,560,115 3,579,612

Wushenqi Mengda Mining Resources Company (“Mengda Mining”) 1,217,906 1,219,847

Ordos Yihua Mining Resources Company Limited (“Yihua Mining”) 1,894,675 1,818,673

10,111,216 9,859,687

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds to the Company.

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling 
interests

Set out below is the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests 

that are material to the Group.

summarised balance sheet

shanghai Datun China Coal Huajin Mengda Mining yihua Mining
31 December

 2016
31 December

 2015

31 December
 2016

31 December

 2015

31 December
 2016

31 December

 2015

31 December
 2016

31 December

 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets 2,711,067 2,190,129 4,166,286 2,675,952 696,103 768,601 314,528 538,182

Non-current assets 12,105,927 12,433,764 11,025,735 13,131,849 10,179,093 9,756,387 9,580,653 8,961,525

14,816,994 14,623,893 15,192,021 15,807,801 10,875,196 10,524,988 9,895,181 9,499,707

Current liabilities 3,265,231 3,620,255 3,764,821 3,550,399 2,056,360 3,536,404 1,466,746 3,197,832

Non-current 

 liabilities 1,998,361 1,834,575 3,414,706 4,297,549 5,236,758 3,400,798 4,561,753 2,590,297

5,263,592 5,454,830 7,179,527 7,847,948 7,293,118 6,937,202 6,028,499 5,788,129

Net assets 9,553,402 9,169,063 8,012,494 7,959,853 3,582,078 3,587,786 3,866,682 3,711,578
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10(a) suBsIDIArIes (COntInueD)

(b) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling 
interests (continued)

summarised income statement and statement of comprehensive income

shanghai Datun China Coal Huajin Mengda Mining yihua Mining
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 5,179,540 4,960,393 4,910,236 3,674,664 22,008 24,425 1,362 1,316

Profit/(loss) before income tax 439,860 (33,493) 2,228,865 1,036,358 (5,708) (5,957) (1,547) (5,102)

Income tax expense 39,931 67,371 604,415 287,412 – 727 – 1,701

Profit/(loss) for the year 399,929 (100,864) 1,624,450 748,946 (5,708) (6,684) (1,547) (6,803)

total comprehensive 
 income/(loss) for the year 399,929 (100,864) 1,624,450 748,946 (5,708) (6,684) (1,547) (6,803)

Total comprehensive (loss)/

 income allocated to 

 non-controlling interests (55,463) (58,026) 197,862 179,618 (1,941) (2,273) (758) (3,333)

Dividends paid to 

 non-controlling interests – – 139,945 – – – – –
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10(a) suBsIDIArIes (COntInueD)

(b) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling 
interests (continued)

summarised cash flows

shanghai Datun China Coal Huajin Mengda Mining yihua Mining
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from 
 operating activities
Cash generated/(used) 

 from operations 1,374,831 695,266 2,090,264 1,337,432 147,052 (498,509) 232,828 (114,479)

Income tax paid (18,762) (37,432) (598,035) (271,875) – (727) – –

Net cash generated/(used) 

 from operating activities 1,356,069 657,834 1,492,229 1,065,557 147,052 (499,236) 232,828 (114,479)

Net cash used in 

 investing activities 178,702 (849,665) (223,282) (912,360) (216,650) (313,727) (390,556) (435,194)

Net cash (used)/generated 

 from financing activities (1,016,878) 195,605 (1,121,104) (474,287) 67,814 812,587 154,281 550,333

net increase/(decrease) in 
 cash and cash equivalents 517,893 3,774 147,843 (321,090) (1,784) (376) (3,447) 660

Cash and cash equivalents, 

 at beginning of the year 149,735 145,961 176,995 498,085 1,865 2,241 3,671 3,011

Cash and cash equivalents 

 at end of the year 667,628 149,735 324,838 176,995 81 1,865 224 3,671

The information above is the amount before inter-company eliminations.
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10(b) InvestMents In AssOCIAtes

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 11,221,621 10,135,191

Additions 615,335 1,739,620

Acquisition of non-controlling interests (56,944) –

Transfer to available-for-sale financial assets – (829,328)

Share of profits 437,666 381,697

Dividends (209,113) (205,559)

End of the year 12,008,565 11,221,621

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December 2016, which, in the opinion of the directors, are 

material to the Group. All of the associates are unlisted and there are no quoted market price available for their 

shares. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.

nature of investment in material associates as at 31 December 2016 and 2015

name of entity

place of 
business/country 
of incorporation

% of ownership 
interest

Measurement 
method

Zhongtian Synergetic Energy Company Limited

 (“Zhongtian Synergetic”) Ordos, the PRC 38.75% Equity

Shaanxi Yanchang China Coal Yulin Energy 

 Chemical Company Limited (“Shaanxi Yanchang”) Yulin, the PRC 30.00% Equity

Save as disclosed in Note 41(b), there are no commitment and contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s 

interests in the associates.
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10(b) InvestMents In AssOCIAtes (COntInueD)

summarised financial information for associates

Set out below are the summarised financial information for associates which are material to the Group and 
accounted for using the equity method.

summarised balance sheet

Zhongtian synergetic shaanxi yanchang
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Current
Cash and cash equivalents 3,750,813 5,080,753 339,044 217,659
Other current assets (excluding cash) 3,699,800 5,087,223 2,410,662 2,537,809

total current assets 7,450,613 10,167,976 2,749,706 2,755,468

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) (2,180,000) (8,610,000) (3,450,000) (2,950,000)
Other current liabilities (including trade payables) (5,886,798) (7,925,884) (1,687,755) (4,889,949)

total current liabilities (8,066,798) (16,535,884) (5,137,755) (7,839,949)

non-current
Assets 50,269,566 37,708,521 23,106,488 26,638,747
Financial liabilities (30,094,206) (13,293,713) (12,690,345) (14,385,966)
Other liabilities (2,043,223) (2,112,949) – –

total non-current liabilities (32,137,429) (15,406,662) (12,690,345) (14,385,966)

net assets 17,515,952 15,933,951 8,028,094 7,168,300

summarised income statement and statement of comprehensive income

Zhongtian synergetic shaanxi yanchang
2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue – – 8,987,467 3,920,854
Profit before income tax – – 859,794 185,269
Post-tax profit for the year – – 859,794 174,141

Other comprehensive income – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 859,794 174,141

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the associates (and not the 
Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the 
associates.
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reconciliation of summarised financial information

reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in 
associates

Zhongtian synergetic shaanxi yanchang
summarised financial information 2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Opening net assets at 1 January 15,933,951 12,933,951 7,168,300 6,994,159

Profit for the year – – 859,794 174,141

Investment from shareholders 1,582,001 3,000,000 – –

Closing net assets at 31 December 17,515,952 15,933,951 8,028,094 7,168,300

Interest in associates (38.75%, 30%) 6,787,431 6,174,406 2,408,428 2,150,489

Carrying value 6,787,431 6,174,406 2,408,428 2,150,489

10(c) InvestMents In JOInt ventures

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 1,878,577 670,812

Additions – 1,232,407

Share of change in reserves – (3,344)

Share of profit/(loss) 170,342 (19,385)

Dividends (28,756) (1,913)

End of the year 2,020,163 1,878,577

All of the joint ventures are unlisted and there is no quoted market price available for their shares.

Save as disclosed in Note 41(b), there are no commitment and contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s 

interests in the joint ventures.
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10(c) InvestMents In JOInt ventures (COntInueD)

Nature of investment in a material joint venture as at 31 December 2016 and 2015:

name of entity

place of 
business/country 
of incorporation

% of ownership 
interest

Measurement 
method

Yan’an Hecaogou Coal Company Limited

 (“Hecaogou Coal”) Yan’an, the PRC 50.00% Equity

summarised financial information for joint ventures

Set out below are the summarised financial information for a joint venture which are material to the Group and 

accounted for using the equity method.

summarised balance sheet

Hecaogou Coal
31 December 

2016
31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current
Cash and cash equivalents 15,022 102,935

Other current assets (excluding cash) 224,695 189,088

total current assets 239,717 292,023

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) (1,300,000) (1,550,000)

Other current liabilities (including trade payables) (422,096) (325,189)

total current liabilities (1,722,096) (1,875,189)

non-current
Assets 4,517,160 4,490,124

Financial liabilities (250,000) (250,000)

Other liabilities (270,852) (299,801)

total non-current liabilities (520,852) (549,801)

net assets 2,513,929 2,357,157
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10(C) InvestMents In JOInt ventures (COntInueD)

summarised financial information for joint ventures (continued)

summarised income statement and statement of comprehensive income/(loss)

Hecaogou Coal
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 1,172,087 728,055

Depreciation and amortisation (156,144) (141,185)

Interest income 880 3,623

Interest expense (113,211) (119,678)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 193,776 (36,053)

Income tax expense (37,004) (101)

Post-tax profit/(loss) 156,772 (36,154)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 156,772 (36,154)

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the joint venture (and not the 

Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint 

venture.

reconciliation of summarised financial information

Hecaogou Coal

summarized financial information
31 December

2016
31 December

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Opening net assets at 1 January 2,357,157 –

Profit/(loss) for the period 156,772 (36,154)

Investment from shareholders – 2,400,000

Others – (6,689)

Closing net assets at 31 December 2,513,929 2,357,157

Interest in joint venture (50%) 1,256,965 1,178,579

Carrying value 1,256,965 1,178,579
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11. FInAnCIAL InstruMents

31 December 2016
Loans and 

receivables
Available-for-sale 

financial assets total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets as per balance sheet
Available-for-sale financial assets – 5,467,784 5,467,784
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 19,422,660 – 19,422,660
Long-term receivables 285,342 – 285,342
Restricted bank deposits and term deposits 5,374,623 – 5,374,623
Cash and cash equivalents 9,893,779 – 9,893,779

Total 34,976,404 5,467,784 40,444,188

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
RMB’000

Liabilities as per balance sheet
Borrowings 66,231,774
Trade and other payables 30,673,350
Other long-term liabilities 698,841
Bonds 28,900,417

Total 126,504,382

31 December 2015

Loans and 

receivables

Available-for-sale 

financial assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets as per balance sheet
Available-for-sale financial assets – 5,566,926 5,566,926

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 19,900,173 – 19,900,173

Long-term receivables 245,524 – 245,524

Restricted bank deposits and term deposits 21,002,298 – 21,002,298

Cash and cash equivalents 11,195,663 – 11,195,663

Total 52,343,658 5,566,926 57,910,584
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11. FInAnCIAL InstruMents (COntInueD)

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Liabilities as per balance sheet
Borrowings 70,157,103

Trade and other payables 31,764,068

Other long-term liabilities 683,092

Bonds 42,869,090

Total 145,473,353

12. AvAILABLe-FOr-sALe FInAnCIAL Assets

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 5,566,926 4,340,765

Additions 40,000 400,000

Transferred from investment in associates – 829,328

Disposal (1,100) (2,004)

Decrease in fair value (2,163) (1,163)

Impairment provision (135,879) –

End of the year 5,467,784 5,566,926

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Listed securities:

 – equity securities, listed in the PRC, at fair value 18,627 20,790

Unlisted securities:

 – equity securities, at cost (Note) 5,449,157 5,546,136

5,467,784 5,566,926

Note: These investments carried at cost represented investments in equity shares of unlisted entities that do not have a quoted market price in an active market 

and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.
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13. LOng-terM reCeIvABLes

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Entrusted loans to a joint venture – 102,000

Finance lease receivables 138,204 –

Others 147,138 143,524

Total 285,342 245,524

The long-term receivables are neither past due nor impaired as at 31 December 2016 and 2015. The carrying 

amounts of long-term receivables approximate their fair values.

14. OtHer nOn-Current Assets

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments for long-term investments (Note (a)) 2,535,856 2,408,844

Prepayments for mining rights and exploration rights (Note (b)) 1,357,195 2,382,715

Prepayments for constructions in progress and equipment (Note (c)) 31,293 136,451

Prepayments for land use rights 833,028 144,086

Deductible value added tax 511,297 580,180

Loan to fellow subsidiaries (Note (d)) 811,800 316,800

Prepaid income tax 282,071 339,372

Others 534,903 408,248

Total 6,897,443 6,716,696

Notes:

(a) In line with the Group’s strategy of expanding its coal resources, The Group has entered into a series of agreements for the acquisitions and restructuring 

of several local coal mines. As the relevant legal procedures are still in process, such payments are recorded as other non-current assets.

(b) As the relevant legal procedures related to mining rights and exploration licenses are still in process, such payments are recorded as other non-current 

assets. These prepayments will be transferred to mining rights and exploration rights upon completion of related legal procedures.

(c) As at 31 December 2016, the amounts of prepayment to fellow subsidiaries for purchasing property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB2,570,000 

(2015: RMB5,239,000), which are unsecured and interest-free.

(d) The loans to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable after 12 months from the balance sheet date with the interest rate of 4.75% per annum.
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15. InventOrIes

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Coal 830,731 712,240

Machinery for sale 3,515,319 3,135,910

Coal chemical products 632,827 439,572

Auxiliary materials, spare parts and tools 2,412,022 2,537,326

7,390,899 6,825,048

The provisions for impairment of inventories of the Group amounted to RMB106,879,000 as at 31 December 

2016 (2015: RMB260,440,000).

16. trADe AnD nOtes reCeIvABLes

31 December 
2016

31 December

 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables, net (note (a)) 7,658,899 9,679,830

Notes receivables (note (b)) 6,798,966 3,589,112

14,457,865 13,268,942

Notes:

(a) Trade receivables are analysed as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables

 – Associates 245,209 210,548

 – Jointly ventures 77,063 48,900

 – Fellow subsidiaries 1,141,886 1,157,681

 – Third parties 6,194,741 8,262,701

Trade receivables, net 7,658,899 9,679,830
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16. trADe AnD nOtes reCeIvABLes (COntInueD)

Notes: (continued)

(a) Trade receivables are analysed as follows: (continued)

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 6 months 3,805,284 5,817,041

6 months – 1 year 1,845,796 2,053,096

1 – 2 years 1,396,583 1,624,152

2 – 3 years 626,967 337,070

Over 3 years 509,454 337,938

Trade receivables, gross 8,184,084 10,169,297

Less: Impairment of receivables (525,185) (489,467)

Trade receivables, net 7,658,899 9,679,830

Movements of the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 489,467 448,843

Provision for impairment of receivables 135,866 60,071

Reversal of provision for impairment of receivables (4,102) (3,215)

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (9,068) (934)

Disposal of subsidiaries (86,978) (15,298)

At the end of the year 525,185 489,467

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, there are no significant trade receivables that are past due but are not impaired. The individually impaired receivables 

primarily relate to customers who are in financial difficulty.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables, as the Group has a large number of customers, domestically and internationally 

dispersed.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Trade receivables from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand in accordance with the relevant contract entered into between 

the Group and the related parties.

(b) Notes receivables are principally bank accepted bills with maturity of less than one year (2015: less than one year).

As at 31 December 2016, bank accepted notes of RMB2,504,514,000 were endorsed to suppliers of the Group or banks but were not derecognised as 

these bank accepted notes were issued by smaller banks.
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16. trADe AnD nOtes reCeIvABLes (COntInueD)

Notes: (continued)

(c) The carrying amounts of trade and notes receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 14,377,018 13,197,009

USD 80,847 71,933

14,457,865 13,268,942

(d) The carrying amounts of trade and notes receivables approximate their fair values.

(e) As at 31 December 2016, notes receivables with amount of RMB298,331,000 (2015: RMB323,162,000) are pledged to banks for notes payables 

amounted to RMB296,952,000 (2015: RMB323,162,000).

As at 31 December 2016, notes receivables with amount of RMB199,883,000 (2015:nil) are pledged to banks for short term loan amounted to 

RMB199,883,000 (2015: nil).

As at 31 December 2016, trade receivables with amount of RMB37,926,000 (2015:nil) are pledged to banks for short term loan amounted to 

RMB35,000,000 (2015: nil).

17. prepAyMents AnD OtHer reCeIvABLes

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Advances to suppliers (note (a)) 1,292,869 1,292,701

Entrusted loans (note (b)) 1,462,000 3,000,000

Interest receivable 74,698 255,809

Dividends receivable 85,970 40,175

Loans to fellow subsidiaries (note (c)) 1,188,000 277,200

Other amounts due from related parties, gross (note (d)) 1,210,551 1,987,971

Other amounts due from third parties, gross (note (e)) 2,488,131 3,197,385

7,802,219 10,051,241

Less: Impairment of prepayments and other receivables (note (f)) (378,046) (324,613)

Prepayments and other receivables, net (note (g)) 7,424,173 9,726,628
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17. prepAyMents AnD OtHer reCeIvABLes (COntInueD)

Notes:

(a) Advances to suppliers are analysed as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Advances to suppliers

 – Associates 6,187 898

 – Fellow subsidiaries 95,468 218,259

 – Third parties 1,191,214 1,073,544

1,292,869 1,292,701

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, advanced to related parties are unsecured and interest-free.

(b) Entrusted loans are analysed as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Entrusted loans

 – Joint ventures (note (i)) 1,352,000 1,450,000

 – An associate – 1,550,000

 – A fellow subsidiary (note (ii)) 110,000 –

1,462,000 3,000,000

notes: 

(i) As at 31 December 2016, the entrusted loan to a joint venture amounted to RMB1,250,000,000 (2015: RMB1,450,000,000) is unsecured and 
repayable in 2017, of which RMB850,000,000 with an interest rate of 6.60% and RMB400,000,000 with an interest rate of 5.23% per annum 
(2015: 6.60%).

As at 31 December 2016, the entrusted loan to a joint venture amounted to RMB102,000,000 is unsecured and repayable in 2017 with an 
interest rate of 7.47% per annum.

(ii) As at 31 December 2016, the entrusted loan to a fellow subsidiary amounted to RMB110,000,000 is unsecured and repayable in 2017, of which 
RMB100,000,000 with an interest rate of 6.65% and RMB10,000,000 with an interest rate of 4.6% per annum.

(c) Loans to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable within 12 months from the balance sheet date with interest rates from 4.35% to 4.85% per 
annum (2015: from 4.35% to 6.16%).

(d) Other amounts due from related parties are analysed as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due from related parties, gross

 – Associates 29,632 31,403

 – Fellow subsidiaries 570,801 1,956,568

 – An associate of China Coal Group 610,118 –

1,210,551 1,987,971

Less: Impairment of receivables (7,843) (7,860)

Amounts due from related parties, net 1,202,708 1,980,111

Other amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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17. prepAyMents AnD OtHer reCeIvABLes (COntInueD)

Notes: (continued)

(e) Aging analysis of other amounts due from third parties on each balance date is as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 1,438,029 2,495,654

1 – 2 years 489,628 122,753

2 – 3 years 59,912 219,476

Over 3 years 500,562 359,502

Other amounts due from third parties, gross 2,488,131 3,197,385

Less: Impairment of receivables (349,610) (283,073)

Other amounts due from third parties, net 2,138,521 2,914,312

(f) The provision for impairment mainly relates to amounts due from third parties and related parties.

Movement of the provision for impairment of prepayment and other receivables are as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year 324,613 601,985

Provision for impairment of receivables 67,018 22,114

Reversal of provision for impairment of receivables (1,247) (7,855)

Receivables disposed of to the Parent Company – (275,568)

Disposal of subsidiaries (12,338) (16,063)

At the end of the year 378,046 324,613

(g) The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair values.

(h) There are no collaterals for other receivables.

(i) The carrying amounts of other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 6,159,659 8,467,579

AUD 80 28

6,159,739 8,467,607
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18. CAsH AnD BAnk DepOsIts

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted bank deposits (note (a)) 1,919,510 2,586,039

Term deposits with initial terms of over three months 3,455,113 18,416,259

Cash and cash equivalents

 – Cash on hand 986 1,581

 – Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 9,892,793 11,194,082

15,268,402 32,197,961

Notes:

(a) Restricted bank deposits mainly include the deposits set aside for the environmental restoration fund and the transformation fund as required by the 

regulations, the deposits set aside for land rehabilitation, letter of credit deposits, bank acceptance bill deposits, letter of guarantee deposits and China 

Coal Finance’s mandatory reserve deposits in the People’s Bank of China.

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2016, the interest rates on deposits ranged from 0.30% to 3.25% (2015: 0.30% to 3.70%) per annum.

(c) As at 31 December 2016, term deposits amounting to RMB578,629,000 (2015: RMB91,474,000) are pledged to banks for issuance of bank acceptance 

bills amounted to RMB782,861,000 (2015: RMB247,078,000).

(d) Deposits and cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 15,142,636 32,069,020

USD 125,007 125,834

Other currencies 759 3,107

15,268,402 32,197,961

Cash and bank deposits are principally RMB-denominated deposits placed with banks in the PRC. The conversion of RMB-denominated deposits into 

foreign currencies and remittance out of the PRC are subject to certain PRC rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC 

government.

(e) The carrying amount of bank deposits approximates their fair value.
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19. sHAre CApItAL

number of 
shares

share 
capital

(thousands) RMB’000

At January 2015 and 31 December 2015 and 2016:

Domestic shares (“A shares”) of RMB1.00 each

 – held by China Coal Group 7,605,208 7,605,208

 – held by other shareholders 1,546,792 1,546,792

H shares of RMB1.00 each

 – held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Coal Group 132,351 132,351

 – held by other shareholders 3,974,312 3,974,312

13,258,663 13,258,663

There is no movement in the Company’s issued share capital during the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2016.

Notes:

(a) The A shares rank pari passu, in all material respects, with the H shares.

(b) As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, China Coal Hong Kong Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Coal Group, held approximately 

132,351,000 H Shares of the Company, representing 1.00% of the Company’s total share capital.
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20. reserves

Capital 

reserve

statutory 

reserve 

funds

general 

reserve

Future 

development 

fund

safety 

fund

Other funds 

related to 

coal mining

translation 

reserve

Other 

reserves

retained 

earnings total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2015 30,651,045 3,992,822 – 56,027 13,912 2,118,320 (67,328) 6,305,130 30,575,152 73,645,080

Loss for the year – – – – – – – – (3,266,791) (3,266,791)

Other comprehensive loss – – – – – – (8,396) (872) – (9,268)

Appropriations – – 123,919 (7,477) 22,595 (804,874) – – 665,837 –

Share of changes in reserves of 

 associates – – – – – – – 4,998 (8,342) (3,344)

Contributions 405,846 – – – – – – – – 405,846

Dividends (Note 35) – – – – – – – – (319,649) (319,649)

Loss of significant influence over 

 associates – – – – – – – (30,335) 27,367 (2,968)

Balance at 31 December 2015 31,056,891 3,992,822 123,919 48,550 36,507 1,313,446 (75,724) 6,278,921 27,673,574 70,448,906

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 1,715,105 1,715,105

Other comprehensive income – – – – – – 22,813 (1,622) – 21,191

Appropriations – 37,786 129,500 124,785 304,216 (641,298) – – 45,011 –

Share of change in reserves of 

 investments accounted for 

 using the equity method – – – – – – – (3,319) 3,319 –

Contributions 4,728 – – – – – – – – 4,728

Dividends (Note 35) – – – – – – – – – –

Acquisition of non-controlling 

 interests – – – – – – – 604,307 – 604,307

Disposal of subsidiaries – – – – (4,854) – – – 4,854 –

Others – – – – – – – (5,860) – (5,860)

Balance at 31 December 2016 31,061,619 4,030,608 253,419 173,335 335,869 672,148 (52,911) 6,872,427 29,441,863 72,788,377
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20. reserves (COntInueD)

Notes:

(a) statutory reserve funds

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the Company’s articles of association, the Company is required to set aside 10% of its profit after tax as 

determined in accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to PRC companies (“PRC GAAP”) and regulations 

applicable to the Company, to the statutory reserve funds until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the Company. The appropriation to 

the reserve must be made before any distribution of dividends to equity holders before reaching 50% threshold mentioned above. The statutory surplus 

reserve can be used to offset previous years’ losses, if any, and part of the statutory surplus reserve can be capitalised as the Company’s share capital 

provided that the amount of such reserve remaining after the capitalisation shall not be less than 25% of the share capital of the Company.

(b) Future development fund

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required to set aside an amount to a future development fund at RMB6 to RMB8 (2015: RMB6 

to RMB8) per ton of raw coal mined. The fund can be used for future development of the coal mining operations, and is not available for distribution to 

shareholders. Upon incurring qualifying development expenditures, an equivalent amount should be transferred from future development fund to retained 

earnings.

(c) safety fund

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance (財政部) and the State Administration of Work Safety (安全監管總局) of the PRC, the 

subsidiaries of the Group which are engaged in coal mining are required to set aside an amount to a safety fund at RMB10 to RMB30 per ton of raw coal 

mined. The subsidiaries of the Group which are engaged in coal-chemical, machinery manufacturing, metallurgy and other relevant business are required 

to set aside an amount of certain percentage of revenue to a safety fund. The safety fund can be used for safety facilities and environment improvement, 

and is not available for distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring qualifying safety expenditure, an equivalent amount should be transferred from 

safety fund to retained earnings.

(d) Other funds relevant to coal mining

(i) Transformation and environmental restoration fund

Pursuant to two regulations issued by the Shanxi provincial government on 15 November 2007, both of which were effective from 1 October 

2007, mining companies of the Group located in Shanxi Province are required to set aside an amount to a coal mine industry transformation 

fund and environmental restoration fund at RMB5 and RMB10 per ton of raw coal mined respectively. According to the relevant rules, such 

funds will be specifically utilised for the transformation costs of the coal mine industry and for the land restoration and environmental cost, 

and is not available for distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring qualifying transformation and environmental restoration expenditures, an 

equivalent amount should be transferred from transformation and environmental restoration fund to retained earnings.

Pursuant to a regulation issued by the Shanxi provincial government, transformation and environmental restoration fund was no longer required 

to be set aside since August 1, 2013.

(ii) Sustainable development fund

Pursuant to a regulation issued by Jiangsu Province Xuzhou municipal government on 20 October 2010, the Company’s subsidiary in Xuzhou 

is required to set aside an amount to a sustainable development fund at RMB10 per ton of raw coal mined. The fund will be used for the 

transformation costs of the mine, land restoration and environmental cost, and is not available for distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring 

qualifying expenditures, an equivalent amount should be transferred from sustainable development fund to retained earnings. The sustainable 

development fund was no longer required to be set aside since 1 January 2014 according to related requirement of the local government.

(e) Acquisition of non-controlling interests

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group acquired 45% of non-controlling interests in Shanxi Xiaohuigou Coal Mining Co., Ltd. 

(“Xiaohuigou”), a subsidiary of the Group, for a consideration of RMB849,050,000. The amount of RMB604,369,000, representing 45% equity interests 

in Xiaohuigou of RMB1,453,419,000 at the acquisition date in excess of the consideration paid, was recorded as an addition of reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group also acquired 10% non-controlling interests in Wushenqi Mengda Water Services Company 

Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, resulting in an RMB62,000 decrease of reserve.
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21. BOrrOwIngs

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Long-term borrowings
Bank loans and loans from other financial institutions

 – Secured (Note (e)) 5,359,643 7,551,502

 – Guaranteed (Note (c)) 2,287,576 2,578,576

 – Unsecured 51,849,524 54,369,096

59,496,743 64,499,174

A loan from a non-controlling interest

 – Unsecured 162,000 –

59,658,743 64,499,174

Less: amount due within one year under current liabilities (16,161,810) (10,019,483)

43,496,933 54,479,691

short-term borrowings
Bank loans and loans from other financial institutions

 – Secured (note (e)) 259,883 278,782

 – Guaranteed 30,000 50,000

 – Unsecured 6,283,148 5,329,147

6,573,031 5,657,929

total borrowings 66,231,774 70,157,103
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21. BOrrOwIngs (COntInueD)

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2016, the Group’s long-term borrowing were repayable as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans and loans from other financial institutions

 – Within one year 16,161,810 10,019,483

 – Between one and two years 12,949,758 16,703,446

 – Between two and five years 17,926,769 21,620,502

 – Over five years 12,458,406 16,155,743

59,496,743 64,499,174

Loans from non-controlling interests

 – Between two and five years 60,000 –

 – Over five years 102,000 –

162,000 –

(b) The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current borrowings are as follows:

Carrying amount

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Borrowings 43,496,933 54,479,691

The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings and long-term borrowings approximate their fair value.

(c) The guaranteed borrowings are as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Guaranteed by:

 – Guizhou Panjiang Investment Holdings Group Co., Ltd. 30,000 65,000

 – Jizhong Energy Group Co., Ltd. 173,926 204,926

 – the Company and Shanxi Coking Coal 2,113,650 2,333,650

 – Liaoning Electric Group Co., Ltd. – 25,000

2,317,576 2,628,576

(d) As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, all borrowings were denominated in RMB.
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21. BOrrOwIngs (COntInueD)

Notes: (continued)

(e) The secured borrowings are as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Secured by:

 – Property, plant and equipment 5,099,643 7,630,284

 – Land use rights 25,000 –

 – Mining rights 80,000 –

 – Trade receivables 414,883 200,000

Total 5,619,526 7,830,284

All the other borrowings of the Group are unsecured bank loans.

22. LOng-terM BOnDs

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bonds payable 25,744,417 40,653,090

Commission payable – non-current 156,000 216,000

Less: current portion – (14,972,791)

25,900,417 25,896,299

Notes:

(a) On 18 September 2012, the Company issued 50,000,000 corporate bonds with a par value of RMB100 each and received a total proceeds of 

RMB5,000,000,000. The bonds are fully repayable on 19 September 2019 when they become due. These bonds carry a coupon rate of 5.12% annum and 

the interest charge will be paid on 19 September annually in each of the following seven years. The effective interest rate is 5.38% per annum.

In addition, the Company is obliged to pay RMB84,000,000 to the underwriter as the underwriting commission, which is payable in seven instalments of 

RMB12,000,000 annually. First instalment of RMB12,000,000 was paid on 19 September 2012 when the transaction was completed and the same amount 

is payable on 19 September in each of the following six years.

(b) On 23 July 2013, the Company issued 50,000,000 corporate bonds with a par value of RMB100 each and received a total proceeds of RMB5,000,000,000. 

The bonds are fully repayable on 25 July 2020 when they become due. These bonds carry a coupon rate of 5.26% per annum and the interest charge will 

be paid on 25 July annually in each of the following seven years. The effective interest rate is 5.51% per annum.

In addition, the Company is obliged to pay RMB84,000,000 to the underwriter as the underwriting commission, which is payable in seven instalments 

of RMB12,000,000 annually. First instalment of RMB12,000,000 was paid on 25 July 2013 when the transaction was completed and the same amount is 

payable on 25 July in each of the following six years.
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22. LOng-terM BOnDs (COntInueD)

Notes: (continued)

(c) On 16 September 2013, the Company issued 50,000,000 corporate bonds with a par value of RMB100 each and received a total proceeds of 

RMB5,000,000,000. The bonds are fully repayable on 18 September 2020 when they become due. These bonds carry a coupon rate of 5.60% per annum 

and the interest charge will be paid on 18 September annually in each of the following seven years. The effective interest rate is 5.85% per annum.

In addition, the Company is obliged to pay RMB84,000,000 to the underwriter as the underwriting commission, which is payable in seven instalments of 

RMB12,000,000 annually. As agreed with the underwriter, first instalment of RMB12,000,000 was paid on 18 September 2014 and the same amount is 

payable on 19 September in each of the following six years.

(d) On 23 October 2014, Shanghai Datun issued 10,000,000 corporate bonds with a par value of RMB100 each and received a total proceeds of 

RMB985,000,000, deducting the underwriting commission of RMB15,000,000. The bonds are fully repayable on 23 October 2019 when they become 

due. These bonds carry a coupon rate of 5.28% per annum and the interest charge will be paid on 23 October annually in each of the following five years. 

The effective interest rate is 5.63% per annum.

(e) On 17 June 2015, the Company issued 100,000,000 corporate bonds with a par value of RMB100 each and received a total proceeds of 

RMB10,000,000,000. The bonds are fully repayable on 18 June 2022 when they become due. These bonds carry a coupon rate of 4.95% per annum and 

the interest charge will be paid on 18 June annually in each of the following seven years. The effective interest rate is 5.20% per annum.

In addition, the Company is obliged to pay RMB168,000,000 to the underwriter as the underwriting commission, which is payable in seven instalments 

of RMB24,000,000 annually. As agreed with the underwriter, first instalment of RMB24,000,000 was paid on 18 June 2015 when the transaction was 

completed and the same amount is payable on 18 June in each of the following six years.

The bonds are initially recognised at the amount of the total proceeds net of the commission paid on the dates of issuance. The accrued interest and the 

current portion of commission payable are recorded in interest payable and other payables as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest payable for long-term bonds 541,750 852,887

Commission payable – current 103,200 109,350

644,950 962,237

The fair value of long-term bonds are as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Long-term bonds 26,831,000 26,720,622

The fair values of long-term bonds are within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
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23. DeFerreD InCOMe tAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The 

offset amounts are as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 2,594,699 2,133,831

Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 387,607 292,132

2,982,306 2,425,963

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax liability to be settled after more than 12 months (6,725,898) (6,709,661)

Deferred tax liability to be settled within 12 months (12,771) (112,300)

(6,738,669) (6,821,961)

Deferred tax liabilities, net (3,756,363) (4,395,998)

The gross movements on the deferred tax account are as follows:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year (4,395,998) (6,349,947)

Disposals of subsidiaries (40,182) (17,635)

Business combination (8,349) –

Credited to income statement (Note 33) 687,625 1,655,625

Credited directly to equity – 315,668

Credited to other comprehensive income (Note 33) 541 291

End of year (3,756,363) (4,395,998)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried-forward to the extent that realisation of the 

related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group had not recognised deferred income tax 

assets of RMB241,853,000 (2015: RMB434,764,000), in respect of certain subsidiaries’ accumulated tax losses of 

RMB968,211,000 (2015: RMB1,739,056,000) as at 31 December 2016, that can be carried forward against future 

taxable income and will expire between 2017 and 2021. The Group did not recognise these deferred income tax 

assets as management believes that it is more likely than not that such tax losses would not be utilised before they 

expire.
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23. DeFerreD InCOMe tAX (COntInueD)

Tax losses that has not been recognised as deferred income tax assets will be expired in the following years:

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

2016 – 93,288

2017 55,373 195,631

2018 107,272 348,462

2019 180,304 725,707

2020 217,258 375,968

2021 408,004 –

968,211 1,739,056

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the 

offsetting of balance within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

trial 
production

unrealised 
profit

tax 
losses Amortisation

Impairment 
of assets

Deductible 
temporary 
differences 

arising from 
investments in 

subsidiaries
Accrued 
expenses Others total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2015 180,165 110,245 310,247 123,757 218,047 – 107,997 197,055 1,247,513

(Charged)/credited to 

 income statement (16,846) (5,408) 1,442,269 (15,251) 16,773 – 3,764 (79,091) 1,346,210

Credited directly to 

 equity – – – – (68,892) – – – (68,892)

Disposals of subsidiaries – – (17,586) – (49) – – – (17,635)

At 31 December 2015 163,319 104,837 1,734,930 108,506 165,879 – 111,761 117,964 2,507,196

(Charged)/credited to 

 income statement (69,454) 35,644 498,318 (21,209) 50,537 32,440 15,922 51,472 593,670
Acquisition of a 

 subsidiary (Note 42) – – – – 110 – – – 110
Disposals of subsidiaries – – (23,621) – (16,561) – – – (40,182)

At 31 December 2016 93,865 140,481 2,209,627 87,297 199,965 32,440 127,683 169,436 3,060,794
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23. DeFerreD InCOMe tAX (COntInueD)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation
Mining funds 

(note (a))

Fair value 
adjustments 

not deductible 
for tax purpose

Fair value 
adjustments for 

available-for-sale 
financial assets Others total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2015 (38,280) (1,078,464) (6,476,064) (4,590) (62) (7,597,460)

Credited to income statement 9,559 259,676 40,180 – – 309,415

Credited to other comprehensive income – – – 291 – 291

Credited directly to equity – – 384,560 – – 384,560

At 31 December 2015 (28,721) (818,788) (6,051,324) (4,299) (62) (6,903,194)

Credited to income statement 7,389 52,342 38,736 – (4,512) 93,955
Credited to other comprehensive income – – – 541 – 541
Acquisition of a subsidiary – – (8,459) – – (8,459)

At 31 December 2016 (21,332) (766,446) (6,021,047) (3,758) (4,574) (6,817,157)

Note:

(a) Pursuant to certain regulations of the PRC government, the Group is required to set aside amounts for the future development funds (Note 20 (b)), safety 

fund (Note 20 (c)), transformation and environmental restoration fund (Note 20 (d)) and sustainable development fund (Note 20 (d)), collectively the 

“mining funds”. Before 30 April 2011, for those amounts that are deductible for tax purposes when they are set aside but are expensed when they are 

utilised for accounting purpose, a deferred tax liability is recorded for the temporary differences in respect of excess amount of funds deducted for tax 

purposes.

According to a new PRC tax regulation effective from 1 May 2011, future development funds and safety funds are no longer tax deductible when they are 

set side but only tax deductible when they are utilised. As such, no additional deferred tax liability will be generated for these mining funds from 1 May 

2011 onwards.
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24. trADe AnD nOtes pAyABLes

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables (note (a)) 18,113,862 19,039,397
Notes payable 3,046,284 1,626,258

21,160,146 20,665,655

Notes:

(a) Trade payables are analysed as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables

 – Fellow subsidiaries 3,385,556 2,975,002

 – A joint venture 2,721 3,491

 – Associates 163,016 41,910

 – Third parties 14,562,569 16,018,994

18,113,862 19,039,397

Trade payables due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and payable in accordance with the relevant contract entered into between the Group 

and the related parties.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Less than 1 year 11,957,285 14,955,209

1 – 2 years 4,428,746 2,620,806

2 – 3 years 792,699 711,828

Over 3 years 935,132 751,554

18,113,862 19,039,397

(b) The carrying amounts of trade and notes payable are denominated in the following currencies:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 21,158,916 20,664,527

USD 1,228 1,126

AUD 2 2

21,160,146 20,665,655

(c) The carrying amounts of trade and notes payable approximate their fair values.

(d) As at 31 December 2016, term deposits amounted to RMB578,629,000 (2015: RMB91,474,000) are pledged to banks for issuance of bank acceptance 

bills amounted to RMB782,861,000 (2015: RMB247,078,000) (Note 18(c)).

As at 31 December 2016, notes receivables with amount of RMB298,331,000(2015: RMB323,162,000) are pledged to banks for notes payables amounted 

to RMB296,952,000 (2015: RMB323,162,000) (Note 16(e)).
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25. ACCruALs, ADvAnCes AnD OtHer pAyABLes

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer deposits and receipts in advance (note (a)) 2,368,889 1,379,498

Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries 1,007,923 869,864

Payable for compensation for local mining companies 200,600 257,536

Dividends payable 332,614 304,404

Payables for site restoration 218,308 263,088

Mineral and water resource compensation payable 40,338 40,334

Salaries and staff welfare payable 835,609 771,609

Interest payable 813,536 1,112,479

Payables for mining rights (Note 28) 256,466 391,690

Advance from a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary 128,852 11,801

Contractor deposits 555,126 733,664

Deposits from fellow subsidiaries (note (b)) 3,402,838 5,015,336

Other amounts due to related parties (note (c)) 571,629 340,395

Other amounts due to third parties 1,992,814 1,798,156

12,725,542 13,289,854

Notes:

(a) Customer deposits and receipts in advance are analysed as follows:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer deposits and receipts in advances

 – Fellow subsidiaries 2,297 8,825

 – Joint ventures 53 –

 – Associates 50,180 77,902

 – Third parties 2,316,359 1,292,771

2,368,889 1,379,498

Customer deposits and receipts in advances from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and payable in accordance with the relevant contracts entered 

into between the Group and the related parties.

(b) The balance represents fellow subsidiaries’ deposits in the saving account at China Coal Finance, a 91% owned subsidiary of the Group. The deposits are 

unsecured and payable on demand or due within 12 month from the balance sheet date, with interest rates ranged from 0.35% to 3.00% per annum.
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25. ACCruALs, ADvAnCes AnD OtHer pAyABLes (COntInueD)

Notes: (continued)

(c) Other amounts due to related parties are analysed below:

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due to related parties, gross

 – Parent Company 166,610 6,121

 – Fellow subsidiaries 404,665 334,185

 – Associate – 86

 – Joint ventures 354 3

571,629 340,395

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and payable on demand.

(d) The carrying amounts of accruals, advance and other payables approximate their fair values.

(e) As at 31 December 2015 and 2016, the carrying amounts of accruals and other payables are all denominated in RMB.

26. sHOrt-terM BOnDs

31 December 
2016

31 December 

2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term bonds 3,000,000 2,000,000

On 1 August 2016, the Company issued RMB3,000,000,000 one-year short-term bonds with a par value of 

RMB100 each, and received a total proceeds of RMB2,992,925,000, deducting the underwriting commission of 

RMB7,075,000. These bonds carry a fixed coupon rate of 3.10% per annum and the interest charge will be paid 

when the bonds become due.
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27. prOvIsIOn FOr CLOse DOwn, restOrAtIOn AnD envIrOnMentAL 
COst

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 1,332,372 1,245,236

Interest charge on unwinding of discounts 40,569 42,442

Provision 80,609 68,370

Decrease (75,442) (23,676)

End of the year 1,378,108 1,332,372

Less: current portion (25,758) (23,573)

1,352,350 1,308,799

Mining activities may result in land subsidence, which could lead to losses to the residents of the mining 

areas. Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required to make compensation payments to the 

residents for their losses resulting from land subsidence, or to restore the mining areas back to certain acceptable 

conditions.

Under existing legislation, management believes that there are no probable liabilities that will have a material 

adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Group. The PRC government, however, has 

moved and may move further towards the adoption of more stringent environmental standards. Environmental 

liabilities are subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate cost 

of remediation efforts. These uncertainties include: (i) the exact nature and extent of the contamination at various 

sites including, but not limited to, coal mines and land development areas, whether operating, closed or sold, 

(ii) the extent of required cleanup efforts, (iii) varying costs of alternative remediation strategies, (iv) changes in 

environmental remediation requirements, and (v) the identification of new remediation sites.

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental clean up costs has been determined by management 

based on their past experience and best estimate of future expenditure by discounting the expected expenditures 

to their net present value. However, in so far as the effect on the land and the environment from current mining 

activities becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the associated costs may be subject to revision in the 

future. The amounts provided in relation to close down, restoration and environmental clean up costs are reviewed 

at least annually based upon the facts and circumstances available at the time and the provisions are updated 

accordingly.
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28. OtHer LOng-terM LIABILItIes

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

Payables for mining rights 744,847 895,402
Others 278,861 260,678

1,023,708 1,156,080
Less: current portion (Note 25) (256,466) (391,690)

767,242 764,390

Note:

The payables for mining rights are mainly the unpaid balances of the consideration for purchasing mining rights.

According to relevant purchase agreements, considerations are paid by instalment before April 2021. The current portion of the payables is included in other 

payables (Note 25).

29. eXpenses By nAture

Expenses included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation (note (a)) 6,081,289 6,503,536
Amortisation (note (b)) 474,199 532,293
Materials used and goods traded 25,375,919 24,199,733
Transportation costs and port expenses 8,212,385 11,735,216
Sales tax and surcharges 1,900,129 1,492,708
Auditor’s remuneration 12,726 13,380
 – Audit service 12,496 12,900
 – Non-audit service 230 480
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment, land use rights 
 and intangible assets 155,703 40,439
Repairs and maintenance 1,029,789 839,478
Operating lease rentals 98,642 92,014
Provision for impairment of receivables 214,735 74,115
Provision for impairment of inventories 38,350 215,004
Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment 210,849 34,793
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ emoluments) 
 (note (c), Note 32) 6,213,756 6,331,348
Water resource compensation fees 81,007 75,749
Other expenses 5,389,637 7,387,608

Total cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses 55,489,115 59,567,414
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29. eXpenses By nAture (COntInueD)

Notes:

(a) Depreciation charged to the income statement is analysed as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation for the year 6,501,562 6,617,203

 – Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 6,499,136 6,615,140

 – Investment properties 2,426 2,063

Less: capitalised in inventories which remained unsold as at year end (33,577) (22,011)

 capitalised in construction in progress (386,696) (91,656)

Amount charged to income statement 6,081,289 6,503,536

Charged to:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Expenses

 – Cost of sales 5,518,085 5,976,757

 – Selling, general and administrative expenses 563,204 526,779

6,081,289 6,503,536

(b) Amortisation charged to income statement is analysed as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Land use rights (Note 7) 108,390 94,556

Mining rights (Note 8) 259,958 349,855

Intangible assets 88,910 73,032

Long-term deferred expenses included in other non-current assets 16,941 14,850

474,199 532,293

(c) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) charged to the income statement are analysed as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Charged to:

Cost of sales 4,053,659 4,229,628

Selling, general and administrative expenses 2,160,097 2,101,720

6,213,756 6,331,348
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30. OtHer gAIns, net

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Gains on disposal of subsidiaries 1,017,828 –

Impairment loss of available-for-sale financial assets (135,879) –

Others 98,237 283,472

980,186 283,472

31. FInAnCe InCOMe AnD COsts

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest expenses:

 – Bank borrowings 3,651,421 4,307,791

 – Long-term and short-term bonds 2,007,499 2,013,723

 – Provisions: unwinding of discount 90,648 85,583

Other incidental bank charges 17,241 10,467

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 10,289 (19,908)

Finance costs 5,777,098 6,397,656

Less: amounts capitalised on qualifying assets (1,420,073) (1,450,786)

Total finance expenses 4,357,025 4,946,870

Finance income:

 – Interest income on bank deposits 426,610 804,822

 – Interest income on loans receivable 187,731 160,838

Total finance income 614,341 965,660

Finance costs, net 3,742,684 3,981,210

(a) Capitalisation rates of finance costs capitalised on qualifying assets were as follows:

2016 2015

Capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of 

 finance costs eligible for capitalisation 4.28%-5.44% 5.00%-6.29%
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32. eMpLOyee BeneFIt eXpense

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages, salaries and allowances 3,972,472 4,045,004

Housing subsidies (note (a)) 450,533 454,030

Contributions to pension plans (note (b)) 784,827 920,116

Welfare and other expenses 1,005,924 912,198

6,213,756 6,331,348

Notes:

(a) These mainly include the Group’s contributions to government-sponsored housing funds in the PRC at rates ranging from 12% to 25% of the employees’ 

basic salaries.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group during the year are as follows:

2016 2015

Director – 1

Non-director individuals 5 4

5 5

Details of emoluments paid to the non-director individuals are as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances and benefits-in-kind 1,081 839

Contributions to pension schemes 463 256

Discretionary bonuses 1,867 2,299

3,411 3,394

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the emoluments paid to each of the highest paid non-director individuals are in the range of HK$914,556 and 

HK$1,050,711 (2015: HK$994,644 and HK$1,069,476).

(b) The Group participates in various pension plans organised by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which the Group 

is required to make monthly defined contributions to these plans at rates ranging from 5% to 20% of the employees basic salaries depending on the 

applicable local regulations. Effective from 1 January 2011, the Group also makes monthly defined contributions to a supplemental pension plan for the 

qualified employees.
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33. InCOMe tAX eXpense/(CreDIt)

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current income tax

 – PRC enterprise income tax (note (a)) 986,382 907,447

Deferred income tax (Note 23) (687,625) (1,655,625)

298,757 (748,178)

Notes:

(a) The provision for PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”) is calculated based on the statutory income tax rate of 25%. The applicable income tax rate in 

2016 and 2015 is 25% on the assessable income of each of the companies now comprising the Group, determined in accordance with the relevant PRC 

income tax rules and regulations, except for certain subsidiaries which are taxed at preferential tax rate of 15% based on the relevant PRC tax laws and 

regulations.

(b) The taxation of the Group’s profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the rates prevailing in the jurisdictions in 

which the Group operates as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit/(loss) before income tax 3,001,308 (3,575,678)

Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate of 25% in the PRC 750,327 (893,920)

Effect of preferential tax rates on the income of certain subsidiaries (213,833) (6,167)

Income not subject to taxation (147,515) (92,956)

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 158,557 102,930

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (259,919) (25,701)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses (103,500) –

Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset has been recognised 133,234 229,131

Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred income tax asset has been recognised 19,807 –

Additional expenses allowable for tax deduction (38,401) (61,495)

Income tax expense/(credit) 298,757 (748,178)

The effective tax rate was 10% for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 21%).

(c) The tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive income are as follows:

2016 2015

Before tax tax charge After tax Before tax Tax charge After tax

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,163 (541) 1,622 1,163 (291) 872

Currency translation differences (22,813) – (22,813) 8,396 – 8,396

Other comprehensive (loss)/income (20,650) (541) (21,191) 9,559 (291) 9,268

Current tax – –

Deferred tax (541) (291)

(541) (291)
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33. InCOMe tAX eXpense/(CreDIt) (COntInueD)

Notes: (continued)

(c) (continued)

The income tax credited directly to other comprehensive income during the year is as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax: (541) (291)

34. eArnIngs/(LOsses) per sHAre

Basic earnings/(losses) per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the 

Company by the number of 13,258,663,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2016 2015

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company (RMB’000) 1,715,105 (3,266,791)

Number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 13,258,663 13,258,663

Basic earnings/(losses) per share (RMB per share) 0.13 (0.25)

As the Company had no dilutive instruments for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, diluted earnings/

(losses) per share are presented equals to basic earnings/(losses) per share.

35. DIvIDenDs

The dividends paid in 2016 and 2015 were nil and RMB319,649,000 (RMB0.024 per share) respectively. A 

dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of RMB0.039 per share, amounting to a total dividend of 

RMB514,532,000, is to be proposed at the 2016 annual general meeting. These financial statements do not reflect 

this dividend payable.

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Proposed final dividend of RMB0.039 (2015: nil) per ordinary share 514,532 –
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36. BeneFIts AnD Interests OF DIreCtOrs

(a) Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments of directors and supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out below:

2016 

emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s service as a director, 
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking

name Fees salary Bonus
Housing 

allowance
social 

benefits

employer’s 
contribution 

to benefits 
scheme total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Chairman, executive director:
Mr. LI Yanjiang – – – – – – –

executive director:
Mr. GAO Jianjun – 197 398 29 29 68 721

non-executive director:
Mr. PENG Yi – – – – – – –
Mr. LIU Zhiyong – – – – – – –
Mr. XIANG Xujia – – – – – – –

– 197 398 29 29 68 721

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. ZHANG Ke – 300 – – – – 300
Mr. ZHAO Pei – 300 – – – – 300
Mr. WEI Weifeng – 300 – – – – 300

– 900 – – – – 900

supervisors:
Mr. ZHOU Litao – – – – – – –
Mr. ZHAO Rongzhe – – – – – – –
Mr. ZHANG Shaoping – 204 244 29 29 62 568

– 204 244 29 29 62 568

– 1,301 642 58 58 130 2,189
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36. BeneFIts AnD Interests OF DIreCtOrs (COntInueD)

(a) Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of directors and supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out below:

2015

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s service as a director, 
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking

Name Fees Salary Bonus
Housing 

allowance
Social 

benefits

Employer’s 
contribution 

to benefits 
scheme Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Chairman, executive director:
Mr. LI Yanjiang – – – – – – –
Mr. WANG An – – – – – – –

executive director:
Mr. GAO Jianjun – 172 583 26 27 59 867
Mr. YANG Lieke – 70 70 13 13 32 198

non-executive director:
Mr. PENG Yi – – – – – – –
Mr. LIU Zhiyong – – – – – – –
Mr. XIANG Xujia – – – – – – –
Mr. LI Yanmeng 14 – – – – – 14

14 242 653 39 40 91 1,079

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. ZHANG Ke – 150 – – – – 150
Mr. ZHAO Pei – 300 – – – – 300
Mr. WEI Weifeng – 300 – – – – 300
Mr. ZHANG Jiaren – 150 – – – – 150

– 900 – – – – 900

supervisors:
Mr. ZHOU Litao – – – – – – –
Mr. ZHAO Rongzhe – – – – – – –
Mr. ZHANG Shaoping – 115 299 26 27 58 525
Mr. WANG Xi – – – – – – –

– 115 299 26 27 58 525

14 1,257 952 65 67 149 2,504
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36. BeneFIts AnD Interests OF DIreCtOrs (COntInueD)

(a) Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

Note:

Mr. Li Yanjiang, Mr. Peng Yi, Mr. Liu Zhiyong, Mr. Zhou Litao and Mr. Zhao Rongzhe received emoluments from China Coal Group, part of which is in 

relation to their services to the Company.

No apportionment has been made as the directors consider that it is impractical to apportion this amount between their services to the Company and their 

service to the Parent Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the emoluments paid to each of the directors did not exceed HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB894,510).

(b) Directors’ and supervisors’ retirement benefits

The retirement benefits paid to all directors and supervisors during the year ended 31 December 2016 in 

respect of their services as directors and supervisors of the Company and its subsidiaries is RMB129,927 

(2015: RMB150,342).

No other retirement benefits were paid to them in respect of other services in connection with the 

management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2015: nil).

(c) Directors’ and supervisors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2016, no payment to the directors and supervisors as 

compensation for the early termination of the appointment was made by the Company.

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2016, there is no consideration that was provided to third parties for 

making available directors’ and supervisors’ services.

No payment to the former employers for making available the services as directors and supervisors of the 

Company was made (2015: nil).

(e) During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016, and as at 31 December 2015 and 2016, there were 

no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of the 

Company, in favour of directors and supervisors.

(f) No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the 

Company was a party and in which a director or a supervisor of the Company had a material interest, 

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016, no directors or supervisors of the Company waived 

any emoluments.
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37. CAsH generAteD FrOM OperAtIOns

(a) reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income tax to net cash inflows generated 
from operations

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit/(loss)before income tax 3,001,308 (3,575,678)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation charge 6,081,289 6,503,536

Net losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment, 

 land use rights and intangible assets 155,703 40,439

Amortisation charge 474,199 532,293

Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment 210,849 34,793

Provision for impairment of receivables 197,535 71,115

Provision for impairment of loans to related parties 17,200 3,000

Provision for impairment of inventories 38,350 215,004

Provision for impairment of available-for-sale financial assets 135,879 –

Share of profits of associates and joint ventures (608,008) (362,312)

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 10,289 (19,908)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (1,017,828) (46,366)

Net gain on disposal of investments – (3,811)

Loss on disposal of business of Long Dong Mine 9,549 –

Gain on business combination of an associate (9,811) –

Interest income on term deposits with initial terms of 

 over three months and loans receivable (227,000) (619,848)

Interest expense 4,329,495 4,956,311

Dividend income (13,300) (9,522)

Provision for close down, restoration, and environmental costs 80,609 68,370

Changes in working capital:

Inventories (860,601) 1,515,004

Trade and notes receivables (3,052,328) (2,283,247)

Prepayments and other receivables (512,768) (390,840)

Trade and notes payables 2,323,446 (1,158,336)

Accruals, advances and other payables 1,286,531 2,703,436

Restricted bank deposits 666,529 (51,429)

Cash generated from operations 12,717,116 8,122,004
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37. CAsH generAteD FrOM OperAtIOns (COntInueD)

(b) In the cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, 
land use rights and intangible assets comprise:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

Net book amount 1,631,375 109,664
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment, 
 land use rights and intangible assets (155,703) (40,439)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment, 
 land use rights and intangible assets 1,475,672 69,225

(c) non-cash transactions

The principal non-cash transaction for the year ended 31 December 2016 is the endorsement of bank 
acceptance notes amounted to RMB1,715,440,000 (2015: RMB2,212,694,000) to settle the payables for 
purchase of property, plant and equipment.

38. COntIngent LIABILItIes

The Group is a defendant in a number of lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business. While the outcomes 
of such lawsuits cannot be determined at present, management believes that any resulting liabilities will not have 
a material adverse effect on the financial position or operating results the Group.

39. FInAnCIAL guArAntee COntrACts

The Group has guaranteed the bank loans of a number of related parties and third parties for no compensation. 
Under the terms of the financial guarantee contracts, the Group will make payments to reimburse the lenders upon 
failure of the guaranteed entities to make payments when due.

Terms and face value of the liabilities guaranteed and maximum exposure to credit risk were as follows:

year of maturity

31 December 
2016

Face value

31 December 
2015

Face value
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans of:
 – Related parties 2008-2025 15,555,158 4,720,291
 – Third parties 2008-2027 834,783 1,124,258

16,389,941 5,844,549

The method used in determining the fair value of these guarantees has been disclosed in Note 2.32.
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40. COMMItMents

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for by the Group at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred is as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 3,721,960 2,174,303

Land use rights 1,610,165 1,160,643

5,332,125 3,334,946

(b) Operating lease commitments – where the group is the lessee

The Group has commitments to make the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable 

operating leases:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Land and buildings:

 – Within 1 year 114,650 105,397

 – From 1 year to 5 years 224,339 274,557

 – Over 5 years 560,847 616,931

899,836 996,885

(c) Investment commitments

According to the agreement entered into on 16 August 2012, Mengxi-Huazhong Railway Company Limited 

(“Mengxi-Huazhong”) was incorporated by the Company, China Railway Investment Corporation and other 

14 companies. As a 10% shareholder, by 31 December 2016 the Company has invested RMB1,413 million 

in Mengxi-Huazhong and is committed to further invest RMB5,284 million by instalments in the future.

According to the agreement entered into on 29 June 2011 among the Company, Yima Coal Industry Group 

Company Limited and Shanxi Haizi Jiaohua Company Limited (“Haizi Jiaohua”), as at 31 December 

2016, the Company has paid RMB168 million to Haizi Jiaohua as part of the consideration to acquire 51% 

interests in Jinchang and committed to pay the remaining consideration of RMB311 million in the future 

when certain condition is fulfilled.

According to the agreement entered into on 29 June 2011 between the Company and Haizi Jiaohua, by 31 

December 2016, the Company has paid RMB259 million to Haizi Jiaohua as part of the consideration to 

acquire 63% interests in Yushuo and committed to pay the remaining consideration of RMB481 million in 

the future when certain condition is fulfilled.
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40. COMMItMents (COntInueD)

(c) Investment commitments (continued)

According to the agreement entered into on 15 July 2006, Zhongtian Synergetic was incorporated by the 

Company, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation and other 3 companies. As a 38.75% shareholder, by 

31 December 2016 the Company has invested RMB6,787 million in Zhongtian Synergetic and is committed 

to further invest RMB481 million by instalments in the future.

According to the agreement entered into on 28 May 2008, Mengji Railway Company Limited (“Mengji 

Railway”) was incorporated by the Company, Hohhot Railway Bureau and other 7 companies. As a 5% 

shareholder, by 31 December 2016 the Company has invested RMB1,400 million in Mengji Railway and is 

committed to further invest RMB100 million by instalments in the future.

According to the agreement entered into on 23 December 2011, Huzhun’e Railway Company Limited 

(“Huzhun’e Railway”) was incorporated by the Company, Hohhot Railway Bureau and other 7 companies. 

As a 10% shareholder, by 31 December 2016 the Company has invested RMB266 million in Huzhun’e 

Railway and is committed to further invest RMB819 million by instalments in the future.

(d) guarantee commitments

Please refer to Note 41(b).

41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns

The Company’s directors regard China Coal Group, a company established in the PRC, as the parent company of 

the Company, and State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council as the 

ultimate shareholder of the Company.

The Group has extensive transactions with its parent company, China Coal Group. For the purpose of disclosures 

of related party transactions, to the extent possible, the Group has procedures in place to assist the identification 

of the immediate ownership structure of its customers and suppliers as to whether they are related parties. 

Management believes that all material related party transactions and balances, of which they are aware of, have 

been adequately disclosed.

Sales of goods and provision of services to related parties are at state-prescribed prices or prices which are also 

available to other customers. The Group considers that these sales are activities in the ordinary course of business.



198 CHINA COAL ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at 31 December 2016
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the following transactions were carried out 

with related parties:

(a) related party transactions

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

transactions with the parent Company and fellow subsidiaries

Coal export and sales (i)
Charges paid for agency services of coal export 2,577 5,991

Integrated Material and services Mutual provision (ii)
Purchase of production material, machinery and equipment from 
 the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 2,660,428 2,629,752
Charges for social and support services provided by 
 the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 44,556 36,707
Sales of production material, machinery and equipment to 
 the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 693,961 494,811
Revenue of coal export-related services from 
 the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 12,385 8,828

Mine Construction,Design and general Contracting service (iii)
Charges for mine construction and design services provided by 
 the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 2,309,368 2,808,399

property Leasing (iv)
Rental fees paid to the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 86,510 90,821

Land use right Leasing (v)
Rental fees paid to the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 56,085 57,994

Coal supplies (vi)
Coal purchased from the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 3,666,753 1,251,301

Financial services(vii)
Loans provided to the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 6,080,000 620,000
Loans repayment received from the Parent Company and 
 fellow subsidiaries 4,660,000 320,000
Deposits received from the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries – 3,036,531
Decrease in deposits from the Parent Company and 
 fellow subsidiaries 1,604,498 –
Interest paid to the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 38,059 33,043
Interest received from the Parent Company and fellow subsidiaries 67,599 24,972
Charges for providing entrusted loans 148 1,500

Fee paid for use of trademark to the parent Company (viii) rMB1 RMB1



199ANNUAL REPORT 2016

As at 31 December 2016
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(a) related party transactions (continued)

Note:

(i) Under relevant PRC laws and regulations, coal exports shall only be made through one of four authorised PRC enterprises including China Coal 

Group. The Company appointed China Coal Group as its coal export sales agent under a Coal Export and Sales Agency Framework Agreement 

entered into on 5 September 2006. Pursuant to the agreement, the agency fee is determined based on market price and the agency fee for the 

coal exports and sales to the China Taiwan market is extra plus USD0.5 per ton of coal products sold. The agency fees are payable on a monthly 

basis, effective from 31 December 2008. The agreement has been renewed to extend the term to 31 December 2017.

(ii) The Company and China Coal Group entered into Integrated Materials and Services Mutual Provision Framework Agreement on 5 September 

2006, under which the Company provides to China Coal Group and China Coal Group provides to the Company production material supplies 

and ancillary services, and the Company also provides to China Coal Group export-related services. The Company and China Coal Group 

entered into Supplementary Agreement to Integrated Materials and Services Mutual Provision Framework Agreement on 31 December 2012. 

Pursuant to the agreement, the service fee is 65% of the actual service fee charged by China Coal Group in respect of each ton of coal products 

exported. The above two agreements have been renewed to extend the term to 31 December 2017.

According to the Integrated Materials and Services Mutual Provision Framework Agreement, the contracting party should follow the following 

pricing principles (and in the following order) supplying raw materials to the other party, and social support services:

• The price set by the Chinese government; or

• If there is no government pricing, the guiding price determined by the Chinese government; or

• If there is no government pricing and government guiding prices, the market price (the transaction price with an independent third 

party); or

• If there are no applicable terms above, the price agreed by each parties. The price of the agreement will be calculated based on the 

reasonable costs associated with the supply of services, plus a reasonable profit.

Coal export-related services, the Company provide China Coal Group for coal export-related services to other customers, the service fee 

payable by the China Coal Group should be determined at the applicable market price. The service fee is determined to be 0.8% to 1.3% of the 

FOB price per ton. This agreement was due on 31 December 2011, and was renewed to extend the term to 31 December 2014. The Company 

and China Coal Group entered into Supplementary Agreement to Integrated Materials and Services Mutual Provision Framework Agreement on 

31 December 2012, pursuant to which the service fee is set to 65% of the actual service fee charged by China Coal Group in respect of each ton 

of coal products exported. This agreement was due on 31 December 2014, and has been renewed to extend the term to 31 December 2017.
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41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

Note: (continued)

(iii) The Company and China Coal Group entered into Mine Construction and Design Framework Agreement on 5 September 2006. Subsequently, 

the Company and China Coal Group extend this contract and change its name to Project Design, Construction and General Contracting 

Framework Agreement. The agreement has been renewed to extend the term to 31 December 2017. The deal mainly includes:

• China Coal Group provides the Company with engineering design, construction and general contracting;

• China Coal Group undertakes projects which the Company subcontracts;

• For engineering design, construction and general contracting, services providers and pricing would be determined in the form of 

public bidding.

(iv) The Company and China Coal Group entered into a Property Lease Framework Agreement on 5 September 2006, pursuant to which the 

Company leases from China Coal Group certain buildings and properties in the PRC for general business and ancillary purposes. The annual 

lease payment is subject to review and adjustment every three year based on market price. The Company and China Coal Group renewed 

the Property Leasing Framework Agreement in 2014, which is effective until December 2024, agreeing a cap of annual lease payment of 

RMB105,000,000 for 2015 to 2017.

(v) The Company and China Coal Group entered into a Land Use Rights Lease Framework Agreement on 5 September 2006, pursuant to which 

the Company leases certain land use rights in the PRC from China Coal Group for general business and ancillary purposes. The annual lease 

payment is subject to review and adjustment every three year based on market price. This agreement is effective for 20 years. The cap of annual 

lease payment for 2015 to 2017 is RMB61,000,000.
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41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(a) related party transactions (continued)

Note: (continued)

(vi) The Company and China Coal Group entered into a Coal Supplies Framework Agreement on 5 September 2006, pursuant to which China Coal 

Group will sell all coal products produced from its retained mines exclusively to the Company, and has undertaken not to sell any such coal 

products to any third party. The agreement has been renewed to extend the term to 31 December 2017.

According to the Coal Supplies Framework Agreement, the Company should purchase the coal products produced by the China Coal Group 

from its retained mines, in accordance with the following pricing principles:

• The market price, the market price should be determined by reference to the current market price of the comparable coal products 

provided by the independent coal producers in the region or the surrounding area of the China Coal Group in accordance with the 

principle of fairness, or

• If there is no market price or can not be applied in the actual market price, the implementation of the agreement price.

(vii) China Coal Finance Co., Ltd and China Coal Group entered into a Financial Services Framework Agreement on 18 March 2014, under which 

the Company provides financial services to China Coal Group within its business scope. This agreement was effective until 31 December 2014, 

and has been renewed to extend the term to 31 December 2017.

On 21 June 2016, taking into account China Coal Finance’s needs of operation, current level of funds, and the fund demand of the Company 

and China Coal Group, the BoD of the Company passed a resolution to adjust the annual cap for loan and finance lease to RMB9,300,000,000, 

effective from 2015 to 2017.

(viii) The Company and China Coal Group entered into a Trademark License Framework Agreement on 5 September 2006, under which the Company 

is authorised to use partial registered trademarks of companies without use at the cost of RMB1. This agreement was effective for 10 years, and 

has been renewed on 23 August 2016 to extend the term to 22 August 2026.
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41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(a) related party transactions (continued)

Note: (continued)

(viii) (continued)

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

transactions with joint ventures

Sales and services provided:
Sales of coal to joint ventures 152,801 140,958
Sales of machinery and equipment to a joint venture 62,640 1,616
Coal Export and Sales to a joint venture 101 –
Income from providing labor services to a joint venture 2 1,873

Purchases of goods and services
Purchases of coal from joint ventures 53,508 27,736
Purchase of machinery and equipment from joint ventures – 940
Received training services 261 –

Financial services
A loan provided to a joint venture 400,000 –
Loans repayment received 600,000 650,000
Interest income on loans to joint ventures 96,752 126,689

transactions with associates

Sales and services provided
Sales of machinery and equipment to associates 227,550 110,986
Sales of materials and spare parts to an associate 25,843 29,594
Railway rental income from an associate 133,171 135,652
Income from providing labor services to associates 110,487 74,059
Sales of coal to associates 1,135,225 853,770

Purchases of goods and services
Purchases of coal from an associate 208,334 72,229
Purchases of materials and spare parts from associates 33,043 22,991
Transportation services purchased from associates 399,499 421,223
Received training services from an associate 413 –
Rental fees from an associate 89 59

Financial services
A loan provided to an associate 1,550,000 1,550,000
A loan repayment received from an associate 3,100,000 –
Interest income on loans to an associate 23,380 9,177
Agency fee income on loans to an associate 173 348

transactions with primary a shareholder of a significant subsidiary

Sales and services provided (ix)
Sales of coal to a primary shareholder of a significant subsidiary 448,807 386,953

Purchases of goods and services (ix)
Purchases of coal from a primary shareholder of 
 a significant subsidiary 12,529 71,723

Infrastructural Project and Procurement of 
 Coal Mining Facilities Services (ix)
Charges paid to a primary shareholder of a significant subsidiary 
 for infrastructural project and procurement of 
 coal mining facilities services 4,095 145,563
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41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(a) related party transactions (continued)

Note: (continued)

(ix) The Company and Shanxi Coking Coal Group Co., Limited (“Shanxi Coking Coal Group”) entered into the Coal and Coal Related Products and 

Services Supply Agreement on 23 October 2014, under which the Company purchases the coal and coal related products and accepts services 

from Shanxi Coking Coal Group and Shanxi Coking Coal Group purchases the coal and coal related products and accepts services from the 

Company. The agreement is effective until 31 December 2017, taking effect from 23 October 2014.

Pursuant to the Coal and Coal Related Products and Services Supply Agreement, the prices will be based on the following pricing policy and 

order:

• as for the infrastructural project and procurement of coal mining facilities, the price shall be arrived by bidding process; and

• as for the supply of coal, the price shall be in accordance with the relevant market price.

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive), supervisors and other key management 

personnel.

The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salary, allowances and other benefits

 – Directors and supervisors 2,059 2,355

 – Other key management 2,686 2,735

4,745 5,090

Pension costs-defined contribution plans

 – Directors and supervisors 130 149

 – Other key management 290 330

420 479

5,165 5,569
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41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(a) related party transactions (continued)

Transactions with other government related entities in PRC

Apart from transactions with China Coal Group, fellow subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, the 

Group has extensive transactions with other government related entities.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016, majority of the following Group’s activities are 

conducted with other state-controlled entities:

• Sales of coal;

• Sales of machinery and equipment;

• Purchases of coal;

• Purchases of materials and spare parts;

• Purchases of transportation services; and

• Cash and bank balances and borrowings.

In addition to the above mentioned, transactions with other state-controlled entities also include but not 

limited to the following:

• Lease of assets;

• Retirement benefit plans.

These transactions are conducted in accordance with the contracts the Group entered into based on market 

prices.
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41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(b) Commitments to related parties

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

With the parent company and fellow subsidiaries

 – Purchases of goods 4,365 15,455

 – Purchases of services 560,246 917,844

 – Leasing payments 885,980 987,498

Total 1,450,591 1,920,797

A resolution of a guarantee for the principal of RMB17.05 billion, together with the accrued interests and 

other expenses, etc. to be provided by the Company to Zhongtian Synergetic in respect of a syndicated loan 

facility on a proportional basis has been passed in the EGM held on 27 October 2015. As at 31 December 

2016, the Company had provided guarantee of RMB11.55 billion to Zhongtian Synergetic.

A resolution of a guarantee for a joint liability guarantee amounting to no more than RMB0.9 billion to be 

provided by Shaanxi Yulin to Hecaogou Coal on a proportional basis has been passed in the EGM held on 

27 October 2015. As at 31 December 2016, Shaanxi Yulin had provided guarantee of RMB150 million to 

Hecaogou Coal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at 31 December 2016
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

41. sIgnIFICAnt reLAteD pArty trAnsACtIOns (COntInueD)

(c) Loan guarantees to related parties

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loan guarantees to related parties
 – Associates 15,405,158 4,545,291

 – A joint venture 150,000 175,000

Total 15,555,158 4,720,291

(d) Disposal of subsidiaries

On 31 May 2016, the Group disposed of its 100% equity interests in Xuzhou Sifang Aluminum Energy 

Co., Ltd. (“Sifang Aluminium”), China Coal Handan Coal Mining Equipment Co.,Ltd. (“Handan Coal 

Equipment”), Lingshi China Coal Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Lingshi Chemical”) and 91% equity interests in 

Lingshi China Coal Jiuxin Coking Co., Ltd. (“China Coal Jiuxin”) to China Coal Group.

On 31 December 2016, the Group disposed of its 100% equity interests in Shanxi China Coal Pingshuo 

Dongrisheng Co., Ltd. (“Pingshuo Dongrisheng”) to an associate of China Coal Group, details are set out 

below:

sifang 
Aluminium

Handan 
Coal 

equipment

China 
Coal 

Jiuxin
Lingshi 

Chemical
pingshuo 

Dongrisheng total

Consideration received in cash RMB1 RMB1 RMB1 194,842 RMB1 194,842

Less: Carrying value of former

 subsidiaries’ net assets 

 (RMB’000) (286,075) (164,275) (454,508) 170,370 (88,498) (822,986)

Gain on disposal (RMB’000) 286,075 164,275 454,508 24,472 88,498 1,017,828
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As at 31 December 2016
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. BusIness COMBInAtIOns

In October 2016, the Group acquired 60% equity interests in Gwarant (Zhangjiakou) Industry Technology 

Co.,Ltd. (“GIT”), which is engaged in manufacturing of industrial chains and rings was an associate of the Group 

before then, for a cash consideration of RMB117,294,000. After this acquisition, the Group owns 100% equity 

interests in GIT.

The following table summarises the consideration paid, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and 

the non-controlling interest at the acquisition date.

Consideration:

At 1 October 2016 rMB’000

– Cash 106,212

total consideration transferred 106,212

Fair value of equity interest in GIT held before the business combination 66,752

total consideration 172,964

recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Cash and cash equivalents 1,281

Land use rights 4,282

Property, plant and equipment 25,591

Technical Know-how (included in intangibles) 17,600

Inventories 45,125

Trade and other receivables 91,781

Deferred tax assets 110

Trade and other payables (10,432)

Deferred tax liabilities (8,458)

total identifiable net assets 166,880

Goodwill 6,084

172,964
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As at 31 December 2016
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43. BALAnCe sHeet AnD reserve MOveMent OF tHe COMpAny

Balance sheet of the Company

As at 
31 December 

2016

As at 

31 December 

2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets
non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 647,986 676,911

Intangible assets 78,938 79,502

Investments in subsidiaries 78,775,736 77,168,890

Investments in associates 10,233,372 9,620,347

Investments in joint ventures 213,433 213,433

Available-for-sale financial assets 4,473,072 4,473,072

Deferred income tax assets 1,340,087 865,767

Loans to subsidiaries 16,120,891 11,293,573

Other non-current assets 1,129,684 1,173,994

113,013,199 105,565,489

Current assets
Inventories 900,795 487,492

Trade and notes receivables 4,137,572 4,152,272

Prepayments and other receivables 13,645,400 17,129,028

Term deposits with initial terms of over three months 1,485,534 14,558,463

Cash and cash equivalents 4,723,092 7,367,866

24,892,393 43,695,121

tOtAL Assets 137,905,592 149,260,610

equIty
equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Share capital 13,258,663 13,258,663

Reserves (a) 42,698,412 42,666,486

Retained earnings (a) 18,271,562 18,133,206

total equity 74,228,637 74,058,355
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. BALAnCe sHeet AnD reserve MOveMent OF tHe COMpAny 
(COntInueD)

Balance sheet of the Company (continued)

As at 
31 December 

2016

As at 

31 December 

2015

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILItIes
non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 14,420,000 20,290,000

Long-term bonds 24,909,333 24,908,075

39,329,333 45,198,075

Current liabilities
Trade and notes payables 3,723,696 2,898,203

Accruals, advances and other payables 9,384,772 8,501,290

Taxes payable 49,154 131,896

Short-term borrowings 1,820,000 –

Current portion of long-term borrowings 6,370,000 3,500,000

Current portion of long-term bonds – 14,972,791

Short-term bonds 3,000,000 –

24,347,622 30,004,180

total liabilities 63,676,955 75,202,255

tOtAL equIty AnD LIABILItIes 137,905,592 149,260,610

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2017 and signed on its 

behalf.

Li yanjiang Chai qiaolin Chai qiaolin
Chairman of the Board 

Executive Director

Chief Financial Officer Manager of Finance Department
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at 31 December 2016
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43. BALAnCe sHeet AnD reserve MOveMent OF tHe COMpAny 
(COntInueD)

(a) reserve movement of the Company

Capital 
reserve

statutory 
reserve 

funds
Other 

reserves
retained 
earnings total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2015 38,718,090 3,943,257 4,129 18,969,852 61,635,328

Loss for the year – – – (516,997) (516,997)

Contributions 1,010 – – – 1,010

Dividends (Note 35) – – – (319,649) (319,649)

Balance at 31 December 2015 38,719,100 3,943,257 4,129 18,133,206 60,799,692

Profit for the year – – – 176,142 176,142

Appropriations – 37,786 – (37,786) –

Others (5,860) – – – (5,860)

Balance at 31 December 2016 38,713,240 3,981,043 4,129 18,271,562 60,969,974
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Financial Summary for Recent Five Years

Unit: RMB’000

2012 

Annual 

Report

2013 

Annual 

Report

2014 

Annual 

Report

2015 

Annual 

Report

2016 
Annual 
report

(Restated)

revenue and profit
Revenue 87,291,670 82,316,482 70,663,840 59,270,865 60,631,613
Profit/(Loss)before income tax 12,789,087 6,401,221 679,280 -3,575,678 3,001,308
Income tax expense/(gain) 3,214,363 1,781,107 191,768 -748,178 298,757
Profit/(Loss) for the year 9,574,724 4,620,114 487,512 -2,827,500 2,702,551
Attributed to:

 Equity holders of the Company 8,842,210 3,805,128 141,097 -3,266,791 1,715,105
 Non-controlling interests 732,514 814,986 346,415 439,291 987,446
Dividends 2,851,145 2,784,319 319,787 – 514,532
Basic earning/(loss) per share attributable 

 to the equity holders of the Company 

 (RMB/Share) 0.67 0.29 0.01 -0.25 0.13
Assets and Liabilities
Non-current assets 136,306,348 168,792,285 188,231,241 196,007,415 198,116,364
Current assets 49,381,353 47,727,822 55,780,939 62,018,579 44,541,339
Current liabilities 34,126,108 43,497,865 48,928,809 67,646,751 61,415,736
Net current assets/(liabilities) 15,255,245 4,229,957 6,852,130 -5,628,172 -16,874,397
Total assets less current liabilities 151,561,593 173,022,242 195,083,371 190,379,243 181,241,967
Non-current liabilities 50,141,175 69,929,102 92,154,223 90,096,820 79,128,099
Net assets 101,420,418 103,093,140 102,929,148 100,282,423 102,113,868
Equity attributable to the equity 

 holders of the Company 86,726,393 87,811,024 86,903,743 83,707,569 86,047,040
Non-controlling interests 14,694,025 15,282,116 16,025,405 16,574,854 16,066,828
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Company Profile

Statutory Chinese Name of the Company 中國中煤能源股份有限公司
Abbreviated Statutory Chinese Name of the Company 中煤能源股份
Statutory English Name of the Company China Coal Energy Company Limited

Abbreviated Statutory English Name of the Company China Coal Energy

Legal Representative of the Company LI Yanjiang

InFOrMAtIOn ABOut seCretAry tO tHe BOArD OF tHe COMpAny

Name of Secretary to the Board Zhou Dongzhou

Contact Address of Secretary to the Board Securities Affairs Department

China Coal Energy Company Limited

No. 1, Huangsidajie,

Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

Contact Telephone Number of Secretary to the Board (8610)-82236028

Fax Number of Secretary to the Board (8610)-82256479

E-mail Address of Secretary to the Board IRD@chinacoal.com

BAsIC InFOrMAtIOn ABOut tHe COMpAny

Registered Address and Office Address of the Company No. 1, Huangsidajie, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

Post Code 100120

Internet Website http://www.chinacoalenergy.com

Email Address IRD@chinacoal.com

Newspapers Designated for Information Disclosure China Securities Journal, Securities Daily

Internet Website Designated by CSRC for Publication of 

 Annual Reports

http://www.sse.com.cn

Internet Website Designated by The Stock Exchange of 

 Hong Kong Limited

http://www.hkex.com.hk

Location for Inspection of Annual Reports 

 of the Company

Securities Affairs Department

China Coal Energy Company Limited

No. 1, Huangsidajie, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

BrIeF InFOrMAtIOn ABOut sHAres OF tHe COMpAny

type of shares stock of exchange short name of stock stock Code

short name of stock 
before for listing of 
shares change

A Shares Shanghai Stock 

Exchange
中煤能源 601898

H Shares The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited

China Coal Energy 01898

Authorised Representatives of the Company Yang Lieke, Zhou Dongzhou

Company Secretary Zhou Dongzhou
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Company Profile

OtHer reLevAnt InFOrMAtIOn

Date of first registration of the Company 22 August 2006

Location of first registration of the Company No. 1, Huangsidajie, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

Date of change in registration of the Company 28 June 2010

Location of change in registration of the Company No change

Registration Number of Corporate Business Licence 100000000040475

Tax Registration Number Jing Shui Zheng Zi No. 110105710934289

Organisation Code 71093428-9

ACCOuntIng FIrMs OF tHe COMpAny

Domestic accounting firm of the Company PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP

Office address of the domestic accounting firm of

 the Company

11/F, PricewaterhouseCoopers Center,

202 Hu Bin Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai, PRC

International accounting firm of the Company PricewaterhouseCoopers

Office address of the international accounting firm of 

 the Company

22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

spOnsOr perFOrMIng COntInuOus supervIsIOn DutIes DurIng 
tHe repOrtIng perIOD

Name China International Capital 

 Corporation Limited

China Galaxy Securities Co., Ltd.

Office address 28th Floor, China World Office 2, 

 1 Jianguomenwai Avenue Beijing, PRC

2nd – 6th Floor 

 Tower C, Corporate Square, 

 35 Financial Street, Xicheng District 

 Beijing, PRC

Signing sponsor representatives Yao Xudong, Shi Fang Wangfei, Zhang Yue

The continuous supervision period is last until the proceeds raised from A Share issuance been used up.

LegAL ADvIsOrs OF tHe COMpAny

Legal advisor as to PRC law Beijing Jiayuan Law Firm

Contact address R407 Ocean Plaza, 158 Fuxingmennei Avenue, 

Xicheng District, Beijing, China

Legal advisor as to Hong Kong law DLA Piper Hong Kong

Contact address 17/F, Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark, 15 Queen’s Road 

Central, Hong Kong

sHAre regIstrArs FOr DOMestIC AnD OverseAs LIsteD sHAres

A Share Registrar China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited Shanghai Branch

Contact Address 36/F, China Insurance Building, 166 Lujiazui East Avenue, Pudong New District, 

Shanghai, China

H Share Registrar Computershare Hong Kong Investors Services Limited

Contact Address Rooms 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Definitions

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the following meanings:

Company/China Coal Energy/

 the Group/the Company

China Coal Energy Company Limited, unless otherwise indicated, also includes all of 

its subsidiaries

Board of the Company/Board the board of directors of China Coal Energy Company Limited

Director(s) the director(s) of the Company, including all the executive directors, non-executive 

directors and independent non-executive directors

Supervisor(s) the supervisor(s) of the Company

China Coal Group China National Coal Group Corporation, the controlling shareholder of the Company

Shanghai Energy Company Shanghai Datun Energy Resources Company Limited

Pingshuo Mining Area the coal mining area in Shanxi Province, mainly comprising the Antaibao Open Pit 

Mine and Underground Mine, the Anjialing Open Pit Mine and Underground Mine, 

the Jingdong Mine and Pingshuo East Open Pit Mine

Yulin Olefin Project the Yulin Acetic Acid Deep Processing & Comprehensive Utilisation Project

Tuke Fertiliser Project the fertiliser project at Tuke Industrial Park in Ordos

Mengda Methanol (Project) Mengda Coal-based Methanol Project

Mengda Engineering Plastics 

 (Project)

Mengda New Energy Engineering Plastics Project

Pingshuo Inferior Coal 

 Comprehensive Utilisation

 (Project)

Pingshuo Inferior Coal Comprehensive Utilisation Demonstration Project

Yilan No. 3 Coal Mine the coal mine affiliated to China Coal Heilongjiang Coal Chemical Engineering 

Company Limited

Pingshuo Company China Coal Pingshuo Group Company Limited

Shanxi Coking Coal Group Shanxi Coking Coal Group Co., Ltd.

China Coal Huajin Company Shanxi China Coal Huajin Energy Company Limited

Import and Export Company China Coal Resources Development Group Corporation, formerly known as China 

Coal Import and Export Company

Huayu Company China Coal Group Shanxi Huayu Energy Co. Ltd. (formerly known as China Coal 

Group Shanxi Jinhaiyang Energy Co., Limited)

Heilongjiang Coal Chemical 

 Group

China Coal Heilongjiang Coal Chemical Engineering (Group) Company Limited

Finance Company China Coal Finance Co., Ltd.
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Definitions

Zhongtian Synergetic Company Zhongtian Synergetic Energy Company Limited

Shaanxi Company China Coal Shaanxi Yulin Energy & Chemical Company Limited

Ordos Energy Chemical 

 Company

China Coal Ordos Energy Chemical Company Limited

China Coal Yuanxing Company Inner Mongolia China Coal Yuanxing Energy Chemical Company Limited

China Coal Jiuxin Company Lingshi Chinacoal Jiuxin Coking Co., Ltd.

Lingshi Chemical Company Lingshi Chinacoal Chemical Co., Ltd.

CSRC China Securities Regulatory Commission

HKSE The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

HKSE Website www.hkexnews.hk

SSE the Shanghai Stock Exchange

SSE Website www.sse.com.cn

Company Website www.chinacoalenergy.com

Articles of Association the articles of association passed at the inaugural meeting of the Company on 

18 August 2006 and approved by the relevant state authorities, as amended and 

supplemented from time to time

A Share(s) the ordinary share(s) issued to domestic investors in China with approval from CSRC, 

which are listed on the SSE and traded in RMB

H Share(s) the overseas listed foreign share(s) of RMB1.00 each in the share capital of the 

Company, which are listed on the HKSE for subscription in Hong Kong dollars

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

 Zhong Tian

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers PricewaterhouseCoopers

Share(s) the ordinary shares of the Company, including A Share(s) and H Share(s)

Shareholder(s) the shareholder(s) of the Company, including holder(s) of A Shares and holder(s) of 

H Shares

Hong Kong Listing Rules the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited

SSE Listing Rules the Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on Shanghai Stock Exchange

RMB RMB yuan
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Organisation Chart of the Company
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Technology Management Centre

Department of Coal Chemical 
Management

(Coal Chemical Safety 
Supervision Bureau, Coal Chemical 

Research Institute)
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Information Management

Department of Safety, Health 
and Environmental Protection

Department of Legal A�airs
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Department of Corporate Culture

Purchase Centre
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Coal Chemical 
Products Sales Centre

Branches

Subsidiaries

China Coal Energy Company Limited, Jinnan Sales Branch

China Coal Energy Company Limited, Jinbei Sales Branch

China Coal Energy Company Limited, Xinjiang Branch

China Coal Energy Company Limited, Ordos Branch

China Coal Pingshuo Group Company Limited 100%

Shanghai Datun Energy Resources Company Limited 62.43%

China National Coal Mining Equipment Company Limited 100%

China Coal and Coke Holdings Limited 100%

Shanxi China Coal Huajin Energy Company Limited 51%

Shanxi China Coal Dongpo Coal Industry Company Limited 100%

Shaanxi Nanliang Coal Company Limited 55%

Ordos Yihua Mining Resources Company Limited 51%

Wushenqi Mengda Mining Company Limited 66%

China Coal Hami Coal Industry Company Limited 100%

Shanxi Puxian China Coal Jinchang Mining Company Limited 51%

Shanxi Puxian China Coal Yushuo Mining Company Limited 63%

China Coal Xinjiang Coal Electricity Chemical Company Limited 60%

China Coal Yili Coal Electricity Chemical Company Limited 100%

China Coal Heilongjiang Coal Chemical Company Limited 100%

Inner Mongolia China Coal Mengda New Energy & 
Chemical Company Limited 100%

China Coal Finance Co., Ltd. 91%

Inner Mongolia China Coal Yuanxing Energy 
Chemical Company Limited 75%

China Coal Ordos Energy Chemical Company Limited 100%

Guangzhou China Coal South China Trading Company Limited 100%

China Coal Xing'an Energy Chemical Engineering Company Limited 100%

China National Coal Development Company Limited 100%

China Coal Tendering Company Limited 100%

Sun�eld Resources Pty. Limited 100%

Ordos Yinhe Hongtai Coal Power Company Limited 78.84%

Shuozhou Great Company Limited 100%

Shanxi Zhongxin Tangshangou 
Coal Industry Company Limited 80%

China Coal Sales and Transportation Company Limited 100%

Shuozhou China Coal Pingshuo Energy Company Limited 100%

Datong China Coal Export Base Development 
Company Limited 60%

Zhongtian Synergetic Energy Company Limited 38.75%

China Coal Shaanxi Yulin Energy & Chemical Company Limited100%

Taiyuan Coal Gasi�cation Longquan 
Energy Development Company Limited 40%

Shaanxi Yanchang China Coal Yulin Energy 
Chemical Company Limited 30%

Datong Zhongxin Energy Company Limited 42%

Zhejiang Zheneng China Coal Zhoushan 
Coal & Electricity Company Limited 27%

Tianjin Port China Coal Huaneng 
Coal Terminal Company Limited 24.5%

Huajin Coking Coal Company Limited 49%

Guotou China Coal Tongmei Jingtang 
Port Company Limited 21%

Mengji Railway Company Limited 5%

Ordos Southern Railway Company Limited 10%

Tangshan Caofeidian Coal Port Company Limited 5%

Gansu China Coal Tianda Energy Company Limited 50%

China Power Shentou Power Generation Company Limited 20%

Hohhot-Zhungeer-Ordos Railway Company Limited 10%

Ordos Nalin River Coal Mine Development Company Limited 5%

Mengxi-Huazhong Railway Company Limited 10%

30.97%

57.36%

11.67%
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